# MYCORRHIZAL FUNGI ASSOCIATED WITH Aspilia pluriseta AND PHOSPHORUS AVAILABILITY ON SORGHUM GROWTH

MUCHOKA JAMES PETER (M EnvS)

# A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN AGROFORESTRY IN THE SCHOOL OF AGRICULTURE, UNIVERSITY OF EMBU.

**SEPTEMBER 2021** 

# DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University
Signature Date
Muchoka James Peter
Department of Agricultural Resource Management
A800/156/2015
This thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as the University
Supervisors
Signature Date
Prof. Daniel Mugendi Njiru
Department of Agricultural Resource Management
University of Embu
Signature Date
Prof. Paul Njiruh Nthakanio
Department of Agricultural Resource Management
University of Embu
Signature Date
Prof. Paul Kamau Mbugua
Department of Plant Sciences
Kenyatta University
Signature Date
Dr. Ezekiel Mugendi Njeru
Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology and Biotechnology
Kenyatta University

# **DEDICATION**

To my wife, Hellen Njoki James and my daughters, Lillian Wanja, Betty Mukami and Maryanne Mwende for giving me an encouraging social platform that urged me on to this education pinnacle. To my granddaughter, Ellen Njoki alias "gubernatorial", you have a benchmark to follow. Your combined prayers and words of encouragement softened this arduous task.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am highly indebted to my supervisors, Prof. Daniel Mugendi, Prof. Paul Nthakanio, Prof. Paul Kamau and Dr. Ezekiel Njeru for their support and guidance throughout the entire research, presentation and reporting period. It was through their singular devotion that I was able to complete this work.

I offer special thanks and appreciation to the National Research Fund (NRF) for the financial support to undertake this research. My special thanks to the staff of the National Museums of Kenya, Dr. Mary Nyawira and Ms. Susan Njuguine working in the Mycology Department, Mr. Simon Thungu Mukono a Chemistry Laboratory Technologist in the Physical Sciences Department at the University of Embu and indeed the entire staff of the Department of Agricultural Resource Management for rendering a helping hand whenever I needed assistance.

Most importantly, I wish to thank farmers, study guides and greenhouse attendants in the study sites for being available and unreservedly giving me information on *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation. Above all, my Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ for giving me life in abundance.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONii
DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS v
LIST OF TABLES x
LIST OF FIGURES xii
LIST OF PLATES
LIST OF APPENDICES xiv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS xv
ABSTRACT xvii
CHAPTER ONE 1
INTRODUCTION 1
1.1 Background information 1
1.2 Statement of the problem
1.3 Justification of the research
1.4 Research questions
1.5 Hypotheses
1.6 Objectives of this study
1.6.1 General objective
1.6.2 Specific objectives
1.7 Outputs of this study
CHAPTER TWO
LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Importance of soil health for crop production
2.2 Soil phosphorus dynamics

2.3 Inorganic phosphorus in soil	11
2.4 Manure phosphorus in the soil	12
2.5 Phosphorus dynamics in the rhizosphere	12
2.6 Spatial availability and acquisition of soil phosphorus	13
2.6.1 Root architecture	13
2.6.2 Mycorrhizal association	15
2.6.3 Bioavailability and acquisition of soil phosphorus	17
2.7 Phosphorus uptake and utilization by plants	18
2.8 Classification, description and distribution of <i>Aspilia</i>	19
2.9 Research gaps	20
CHAPTER THREE	21
MATERIALS AND METHODS	21
3.1 Study area	21
3.2 Experiments conducted and procedures	21
3.2.1 General experimental set up	21
3.2.2 Field soil sampling for laboratory analysis and greenhouse use	23
3.2.3 Greenhouse experiments	24
3.2.4 Measurements of physico-chemical information on soil rhizosphere depths in the study sites	27
3.2.5 Root colonization by arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi on <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i>	28
3.2.6 Mycorrhiza fungi sampling and characterization	28
3.2.7 Mycorrhiza fungi inoculum application to sorghum seed	31
3.3 Data analysis	32
3.3.1 Greenhouse data	32
3.3.2 Molecular data	32
CHAPTER FOUR	33

RESULTS	33
4.1 Overview of the results	33
4.2 Effects of co-association of mycorrhiza and Aspilia pluriseta on growth and phosphorus availability to gadam sorghum crop	34
4.2.1 Seedling emergence and plant count growth parameter	34
4.2.2 Sorghum plant height growth parameter	38
4.2.3 Sorghum plant number of leaves growth parameter	41
4.2.4 Sorghum plant leaf length growth parameter	43
4.2.5 Changes in pH, phosphorus and phosphate levels before and after gadam sorghum harvest	44
4.3 Intensity of MF in the rhizosphere of <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i> across the main soil textural types	50
4.4 Genetic diversity of fungi within the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta	52
4.4.1 Physico-chemical information on soil rhizosphere depths in the study sites	52
4.4.2 Fungal communities in the rhizosphere of <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i>	56
4.4.3 Fungal richness and diversity indices	59
CHAPTER FIVE	66
DISCUSSIONS	66
5.1 Introduction	66
5.2 Co-association of mycorrhiza and <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i> on growth and phosphorus availability to gadam sorghum crop	66
5.2.1 Soil textural types on gadam sorghum seedling emergence and stand count	66
5.2.2 <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i> effect on gadam sorghum seeds germination and early seedlings growth	67
5.2.3 Effect of gadam sorghum seeds inoculation with mycorrhizal fungi on seedling emergence, stand count and plant height	69
5.2.4 Changes in pH, phosphorus and phosphate levels before and after gadam sorghum harvest	70

5.3 Int soil tex	ensity of MF in the rhizosphere of <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i> across the main stural types	73
5.3.1 rhizosj	Soil textural type on the intensity of mycorrhizal fungi along the phere of <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i>	73
5.3.2 fungi	Aspilia pluriseta rhizosphere depth on the intensity of mycorrhizal 74	
5.4 Ge	enetic diversity of fungi within the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta	76
5.4.1 study s	Physico-chemical information on soil rhizosphere depths in the sdtehr6esites	76
5.4.2	Fungal communities in the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta	78
5.4.3	Fungal richness and diversity indices	79
5.5 My gadam	ycorrhiza fungi co-association with <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i> on the yield of a sorghum crop	80
CHAP	TER 6	82
CONC	CLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	82
6.1 Ov	verview of the chapter	82
6.2 Co	nclusions	82
6.3 Re	commendations	83
6.3.1 F	Recommendations for further research from this work	83
6.3.2 F	Recommendation for further work	84
6.3.3 F	Recommendation to the national and county governments	85
6.3.4 F	Recommendation to farmers	85
REFE	RENCES	86
REFE	RENCES	86 114
REFE	RENCES NDICES Idix 1: Plates showing <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i> shrub and the root fungus	86 114 114
REFEI APPEI Appen Appen	RENCES NDICES Idix 1: Plates showing <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i> shrub and the root fungus Idix 2: Soil Sampling at the sites	86 114 114 114
REFEI APPEI Appen Appen	RENCES NDICES Idix 1: Plates showing <i>Aspilia pluriseta</i> shrub and the root fungus Idix 2: Soil Sampling at the sites Idix 3: Layout of treatment factors for experiment one	86 114 114 114 116

Appendix 5: Interaction between test fac	tors on growth parameters of
gadam sorghum	
Appendix 6: pH, Phosphates and Phosph	norus evaluation126

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1	Response of seedling emergence and plant count on the test factors for
	the first 35 days of sorghum growth in the greenhouse at the University
	of Embu
Table 4.2	Response of sorghum plant height on the test factors for the first 35
	days of sorghum growth in the greenhouse at the University of Embu38
Table 4.3	Gadam sorghum number of leaves variation per plant on the test factors
	for the first 35 days of sorghum growth in the greenhouse at the
	University of Embu
Table 4.4	Response of gadam sorghum average leaf length on the test factors for
	the first 35 days of sorghum growth in the greenhouse at the University
	of Embu
Table 4.5	Changes in soil pH, phosphates and phosphorus before and after
	harvesting gadam sorghum in the greenhouse at the University of
	Embu
Table 4.6	Physico-chemical parameters in the soil after growin sorghum in the
	pots earlier planted Aspilia pluriseta in the greenhouse at the
	University of Embu
Table 4.7	Aspilia pluriseta mycorrhiza fungi root colonization for samples taken
	from Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora
Table 4. 8	Mycorrhiza fungal species and populations in the rhizosphere of
	Aspilia pluriseta, from soils in Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora
Table 4. 9	Number of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi spores in different sampling
	sites for soil textural types at Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora. 50
Table 4.10	Number of mycorrhiza spores in different soil depths in Gakurungu,
	Tunyai and Kanyuambora51
Table 4.11	Interaction among treatments on soil samples taken at Gakurungu,
	Tunyai and Kanyuambora (n=3)
Table 4.12a	Aspilia rhizosphere soil depth <sub>1</sub> (0-20 cm) physico-chemical parameters
	in Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora53

Table 4.12b	Aspilia rhizosphere soil	depth <sub>2</sub> (21-40	cm) physico-chemic	al parameters
	in Gakurungu, Tunyai	and Kanyuamb	ora	54

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1.	A model of root/rhizosphere management for increasing crop
	productivity. Source: (Zhang et al., 2010)7
Figure 2.2	Root/rhizosphere management in cropping systems throughout the
	entire crop growth period. Source: (Zhang et al., 2010)
Figure 2.3.	Diagrammatic expression of Phosphorus dynamics: From soil to plant
	Source: (Shen <i>et al.</i> , 2011)10
Figure 2.4.	Soil Phosphorus cycle. Source: Pierzynski (2000)13
Figure 3.1.	Field sampling sites at Gakurungu & Tunyai in Tharaka Nithi county
	and Kanyuambora in Embu county
Figure 3.2.	Experimental lay out in the greenhouse at the University of Embu 26
Figure 4.1.	Percentage sorghum seedling emergence and stand count over time in
	the greenhouse at the University of Embu
Figure 4.2.	Gadam sorghum emergence and stand count for inoculated and un-
	inoculated seedlings grown at the greenhouse in the University of
	Embu
Figure 4.3.	Growth in height of gadam sorghum in the greenhouse at the
	University of Embu estimated through a polynomial function
Figure 4.4	Arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi spore counts in Gakurungu, Tunyai and
	Kanyuambora soils with Aspilia pluriseta compared to those without.
	Letters represent LSD error bars
Figure 4.5	Distribution of unique and shared OTUs from soil samples taken at
	Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora56
Figure 4.6	Heat map showing the levels of fungal genera in the three Aspilia
	pluriseta rhizosphere depths in Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora
Figure 4.7	Relationships between the sample size sequenced and operational
	taxonomic units in the tested soil samples of Gakurungu, Tunyai and
	Kanyuambora
Figure 4.8	DNA hierarchical clustering from samples collected in the rhizosphere
	depth of Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora soils 60

# LIST OF PLATES

Plate 4.1.	Height of potted	gadam	sorghum	plants	under	different	treatments	in
	the greenhouse at	the Uni	iversity of	Embu			•••••	40

# LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Plates showing Aspilia pluriseta shrub and the root fungus	114
Appendix 2: Soil Sampling at the sites	114
Appendix 3: Layout of treatment factors for experiment one	116
Appendix 4: Test factors and variables for greenhouse experiments	117
Appendix 5: Interaction between test factors on growth parameters of gadam sorghum	122
Appendix 6: pH, Phosphates and Phosphorus evaluation	126

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS

°C	Degrees Centigrade
Al	Aluminium
AMF	Arbuscular Mycorrhiza Fungi
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
BLASTn	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
Ca	Calcium
CAN	Calcium Ammonium Nitrate
CIDP	County Integrated Development Plans
DCP	Dicalcium Phosphates
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
EDTA	Ethylenediamenetetraacetic Acid
Fe	Iron
GoK	Government of Kenya
$\mathrm{H}^+$	Hydrogen Ion
$H_2PO_4^-$	Dihydrogen Phosphate Ion
HPO <sub>4</sub> <sup>2-</sup>	Hydrogen Phosphate Ion
ITS	Internal Transcribed Spacer
КоН	Potassium Hydroxide
LSD	Least Significance Difference
MAP	Monoammonium Phosphates
MCP	Monocalcium Phosphates
MF	Mycorrhizal Fungi
NPK	Nitrogen, Phosphorus, Potassium
NRF	National Research Fund
OTUs	Operational Taxonomic Units
Р	Phosphorus
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PHT	Phosphates Transporter
Pi	Inorganic Phosphorus
Ро	Organic Phosphorus
PSB	Phosphorus Solubilizing Bacteria
PSF	Phosphorus Solubilizing Fungi

Quantitative Insights into Microbial Ecology
Randomized Complete Design
Statistical Analysis System
Single Super Phosphates
Triple Super Phosphates
United States Department of Agriculture

#### ABSTRACT

Global reserves of phosphorus (P) are continually getting depleted and this poses an enormous challenge to food production. Phosphorus is one of the major limiting nutrients for plant productivity. Use of plant-mycorrhizal fungi in relation to replenishing phosphate is one of the biological techniques being considered. In this study, the association of Aspilia pluriseta Schweif. with mycorrhizal fungi and their role in promoting growth and enhancing P availability to gadam sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) was investigated. The main objective of this study was to determine effects of mycorrhiza in the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta on growth and phosphorus availability to sorghum crop. The samples were taken from Tunyai and Gakurungu in Tharaka Nithi County and Kanyuambora in Embu County, Kenya. Soil samples were taken at depths 0-20cm, 21-40cm and 41-60cm. This was followed by greenhouse experiments at the University of Embu. The experiments involved use of potted plants with four treatments; Aspilia pluriseta vegetation covered soils; soil textural types; soil depth and mycorrhiza fungi inoculated gadam sorghum seeds. The treatment combinations were carried out in a series of two experiments on a completely randomized block design on a factorial model replicated thrice. Data obtained was subjected to ANOVA using SAS Edition 9.2 and differences between treatment means examined using Least Significant Difference (LSD) at  $p \le 0.05$ . Illumina sequencing method was used on the Internal Transcribed Spacer (ITS) region on the total soil community DNA to capture the genetic fungal community within the rhizosphere. Analysis of Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) was done using QIIME 1.8.0 and taxonomic classification done using BLASTn on SILVA 119 database. Programming software, R was used for hierarchical clustering. The study shows that sorghum perfomed better where its seeds were inoculated with mycorrhiza-soils previously inhabited with Aspilia pluriseta vegetation. Spore counts varied significantly among silty clay, silt loam and sandy loam soils. The spore morphotypes was significantly higher at  $p \le 0.05$  for soils inhabited by Aspilia pluriseta compared to those not habited. Three hundred and seventy-three (373) OTUs were found at 3% genetic distance. Thirty-five fungal taxa were recorded in the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta. The soil had five main phyla; Glomeromycota (90.7%), Basidiomycota (3.7%), Ascomycota (3.4%), Chytridiomycota (1.5%), and unspecified phylum fungi (0.7%). The genera *Glomus* was the most prevalent in all soil depths. The association of Aspilia pluriseta and mycorrhiza gave sorghum yield of 15.2 g per 1000 grains compared to yield of 13.1 g per 1000 grains in soils that did not have Aspilia pluriseta mycorrhiza association. This was a yield increase of 16%. Differences between gadam sorghum yields in Aspilia pluriseta soils and gadam sorghum seeds inoculated with mycrorihza spores was significant at  $p \le 0.05$  This study therefore, recommends use of Aspilia pluriseta in improving sorghum yield.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

## **INTRODUCTION**

## **1.1 Background information**

Phosphorus (P) is a macronutrient needed by crops for growth. It makes up about 0.2% of dry weight, but it is one of the most difficult nutrients for plants to acquire (Smith & Smith, 2011). In soil, P occurs mainly as insoluble phosphates and is not readily available (Schachtman *et al.*, 1998). However, with the help of microorganisms, this insoluble phosphate is solubilized to become available to plants. The majority of terrestrial plant species are capable of interacting with mycorrhiza fungi in nature and provide an effective pathway by which phosphorus is scavenged and rapidly delivered to cortical cells within the root (Smith & Read, 2008; Mike & Larry, 2011). Mycorrhiza fungi acts as a catalyst to concentrate P in a manner that makes it available to plant (Schubert & Lubraco, 2000; Calvet *et al.*, 2004; Khade & Rodrigues, 2009; Rafiullah *et al.*, 2020).

Global reserves of phosphorus are fast running out (van Kauwenbergh, 2010; Neset & Cordell, 2012; Edixhoven *et al.*, 2014; Gutiérrez, 2017; Nedelciu *et al.*, 2020). This poses a great challenge for global food production in the foreseeable future since plants need phosphates to grow (Gilbert, 2009; van Vuuren *et al.*, 2010; Rafiullah *et al.*, 2020). Regionally, phosphorus deficiency occurs in many soils of East Africa not only due to P depletion through crop harvest and erosion but mainly due to the prevalence of high P-fixing soils in the region (Nziguheba, 2007). A natural method of solubilizing fixed phosphorus to make it available to plants would alleviate this problem. Unlike nitrogen, P replenishment, particularly in smallholder agriculture, remains a challenge as it is mainly fertilizer dependent (Sanchez, 2002; Bationo *et al.*, 2004; Nziguheba, 2007; Sanginga & Woomer, 2009; Bationo & Waswa, 2011). Reduced soil fertility status is one of the main challenges facing the central highlands region (Smaling *et al.*, 1997; Mugwe *et al.*, 2009; Mugo *et al.*, 2020). Embu and Tharaka Nithi counties are located in this region. Reducing soil fertility, over the years, is known but not addressed (Mugwe *et al.*, 2009; Mugo *et al.*, 2020). This

challenge is also, documented and prioritized in the county governments' blueprint ,the Integrated County Development plans (CIDP) of 2015/2016 financial year.

*Aspilia pluriseta* Schweif. is a flowering plant in the daisy family hypothesized to grow in coexistence with the mycorrhiza fungi. This complex association leads to the availability of phosphorus in the soils in usable forms to plants. The herbaceous plant is common and grows naturally in the open woodlands and grasslands in western, southern, central and eastern Africa. Farmers in central-eastern Kenya reported good crop yields, particularly cereals, in farms previously grown *Aspilia pluriseta*. When uprooted, *Aspilia pluriseta* presented a huge surface area of white mycelium and a robust rooting system that was visible without any magnification (Appendix 1).

There seemed to be a relationship between the good crop yields and the mycelium on the roots of *Aspilia pluriseta*. According to Lambers *et al.* (2008); Cheng *et al.* (2011); Lambers *et al.* (2011) and Muchoka *et al.* (2020), formation of "dense " cluster roots that produce organic anions are some of the strategies that some plants use to enhance P availability or uptake, a phenomenon that seemed to be exhibited by *Aspilia pluriseta*. Availability and uptake of P from natural and fertilizer sources remain the subject of active research (Bünemann *et al.*, 2011) This research investigated the role of mycorrhizal fungi in mediating P availability within the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* and its availability for utility by sorghum plants.

# **1.2 Statement of the problem**

There is a growing deficient of available Phosphate in the soils as some of it is locked and not available to plants. This compounds the deficient problem due to overuse of soils without P replenishment. Besides, the cost of phosphate fertilizer is high and beyond the reach of many local farmers. This affects the replenishing schedule of the mineral mined from the soils. Furthermore, the manufacture of chemical phosphatic fertilizer is a high energy-intensive process and has a long-term impact on the environment in terms of eutrophication, soil fertility depletion and carbon footprint. Therefore, use of natural processes to convert insoluble to soluble P would reduce the burden of P demand among the farmers. Co-association of mycorrhiza fungi and *Aspilia pluriseta* was hypothesized to liberate fixed organic and inorganic phosphorus to usable forms leading to improved sorghum yields. Scanty data on the kinetics of mycorrhizal fungi (MF) association with *Aspilia pluriseta*, leading to improved sorghum crop yields, was available. Mycorrhizal fungi flora inhabiting *Aspilia pluriseta* within Embu and Tharaka Nithi region has not been characterized to determine genotypes and their efficacy in increasing P availability in the soils for sorghum crop use. This research was meant to bridge this gap.

# 1.3 Justification of the research

Phosphorus (P) is one of the major limiting nutrients for plant productivity mainly because of its low mobility in the soil. Studies on the association of mycorrhizal fungi (MF) with *Aspilia pluriseta* and how it mediates P availability to crops is needed. Besides, there is a promising possibility of using MF to make inoculum. Increased use of MF inoculum can assist to make P more available to crops such as sorghum and thus help to offset deficiencies caused by P mining from the soil. This will reduce the amount of chemical phosphate fertilizer needed and thus reduce the cost of sorghum crop production while at the same time increasing the crop yields. In addition to more scientific knowledge and information on the mycorrhizal relationship between the two plants, the ultimate output of this research was to reduce the cost of farm P- inputs. When less of the chemical P is bought, the cost will also come down. Isolation of mycorrhiza fungi strains that are more efficient in availing P to plants will enable the commercialization of the fungal products.

Since *Aspilia pluriseta* is native, well adapted and grows in diverse ecological zones, it coud be an inexhaustible bio resource. Studies of MF in *Aspilia pluriseta* Schweif. rhizosphere including characterizing the fungi, understanding their working kinetics and dynamism of availing nutrients to plants will provide a source of P alternative to chemical commercial phosphate fertilizer. This study added to the knowledge gaps on mass generation of MF microbes, the main ingredient in making an inexpensive and sustainable biophosphate fertilizer.

# 1.4 **Research questions**

- i. Does mycorrhizal fungi (MF) co-association in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* influence P availability to gadam sorghum crop?
- ii. How does the intensity of MF in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* vary with different soil textural types in the semi-arid croplands of eastern Kenya?
- iii. Is there a genetic diversity of mycorrhiza fungi found within the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta*?
- iv. Do MF in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* influence the yield performance of gadam sorghum?

# **1.5 Hypotheses**

- i. Mycorrhiza fungi co-association in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* Schweif. influence phosphorus availability to gadam sorghum crop.
- ii. The intensity of mycorrhizal fungi (MF) in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* varies across the main soil textural types in the semi-arid croplands of eastern Kenya.
- iii. There is genetic diversity of mycorrhiza fungi inhabiting the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta*.
- iv. Mycorrhizal fungi in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* influence yield performance of gadam sorghum

# **1.6 Objectives of this study**

# **1.6.1** General objective

The general overall objective was to evaluate the growth effect of sorghum by the mycorrhiza fungi on the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* Schweif.

# **1.6.2** Specific objectives

Specifically, the study targeted;

- i. To evaluate the effects of co-association of mycorrhiza and *Aspilia pluriseta* on growth and phosphorus availability to gadam sorghum crop in Tunyai, Gakurungu and Kanyuambora regions.
- ii. To determine the intensity of MF in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* across the main soil textural types in the semi-arid croplands of eastern Kenya.

- iii. To determine genetic diversity of mycorrhiza fungi within the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta*.
- iv. To determine the effect of MF co-association with *Aspilia pluriseta* on the yield of gadam sorghum crop.

# 1.7 Outputs of this study

The goal of this study was to look at mycorrhizal fungi diversity in the rhizosphere of wild and native *Aspilia pluriseta* shrubs in order to take advantage of root microbial symbiosis in sorghum crop development. The study enabled mycorrhizal interaction in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* to enhance sorghum yield from 2.2 g/1000 grains to 2.4 g/1000 grains of sorghum. Evidence of increased phosphate (available P) levels in soils inhabited by *Aspilia pluriseta* was a key out put to this study.

This study found out that there was a mycorrhizal-fungi relationship between *Aspilia pluriseta* and thirty-five fungal morphotypes in the rhizosphere of the plant that led to enhanced sorghum yields. Soil textural type was a key factor in mycorrhizal fungi proliferation with sandy loam soils exhibiting an ideal environment for commercial mycorrhiza fungal spores production.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Importance of soil health for crop production

Soil biology has emerged over the last decade as a critical part of the knowledge base for successful and sustainable agricultural production (Shen *et al.*, 2011; Pradesh *et al.*, 2019). A key component of biology is the profound plant-mycorrhizal fungi relationship, which has enormous potential for improved management of contemporary farming systems (Khade & Rodrigues, 2009; Shen *et al.*, 2011; Chen *et al.*, 2020). The vast majority of crops form an association with these specialized mycorrhizal soil fungi in order to maximize performance (Mike & Larry, 2011). Among the few but notable exceptions are members of the Brassicaceae plant family (cabbage, broccoli, cauliflower, radish, turnips, and canola), the Amaranthaceae plant family (beets, spinach, chard) and the Polygonaceae plant family (rhubarb, buckwheat). Virtually all other crop plants worldwide are host to some form of mycorrhizal association (Mike & Larry, 2011).

A healthy soil has the right nutrient balance (Hinsinger, 2001; Hinsinger *et al.*, 2009). Plant roots through the rhizosphere take up soil nutrients, which is the key zone of interaction between plants and soils. Hence, root growth and rhizosphere processes have a great influence on soil nutrient transformation, mobilization, and efficient use by plants (Zhang *et al.*, 2010).

Figure 2.1 shows a model of root/rhizosphere management for increasing crop productivity and nutrient use efficiency as developed by Zhang *et al.* (2010).



Figure 2.1. A model of root/rhizosphere management for increasing crop productivity. Source: (Zhang *et al.*, 2010)

Plant roots not only regulate morphological traits to adapt to soil environmental conditions, but also significantly modify rhizosphere processes through their physiological activities, particularly the exudation of organic acids, phosphatases, and some signaling substances, proton release, and redox changes (Zhang et al., 2010; Marschner et al., 2012). The root-induced rhizosphere determine mobilization, acquisition of soil nutrients, microbial dynamics and also control nutrient use efficiency by crops, thus profoundly influence crop production and sustainability (Zhang et al., 2010). Manipulating root growth and rhizosphere processes provides an effective approach to improve nutrient use efficiency and crop productivity simultaneously (Li et al., 2008; Mi et al., 2010). Root/rhizosphere management strategies lay emphasis on maximizing the efficiency of root and rhizosphere processes in nutrient mobilization, acquisition, and use by crops rather than depending solely on excessive application of inorganic fertilizers in intensive farming systems. The efficiency of root and rhizosphere processes is highly dependent on inherent soil fertility and the status of soil nutrient supply, which is controlled by the input of external nutrients. It is well known that root growth and expansion can be greatly constrained when the available soil nutrient supply is extremely low. The efficiency of root and rhizosphere processes can be enhanced

with increasing intensity of soil nutrient supply. However, overuse of fertilizers may lead to high concentrations of nutrients in the rhizosphere, resulting in inhibition of root growth and rhizosphere processes (Li *et al.*, 2008; Mi *et al.*, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2010). Synchronizing root-zone nutrient supply with crop demands spatially and temporally at an optimal level of nutrient supply in the rhizosphere is important for maximizing the efficiency of the root/rhizosphere in nutrient mobilization and acquisition (Figure 2.2).

Figure 2.2 shows a model developed by Zhang *et al.* (2010) on root/rhizosphere management in cropping systems.



Figure 2.2 Root/rhizosphere management in cropping systems throughout the entire crop growth period. Source: (Zhang *et al.*, 2010).

It is well known that the pH of the soil near the roots can differ by up to two units from that of the bulk soil. The magnitude of this differential, i.e. rhizosphere alkalinisation or acidification, is determined by plant and soil variables. Cation-anion exchange between root and soil, as well as root excretion of organic anions, have all been proposed as explanations for root-mediated pH shifts in the rhizosphere. Cation-anion exchange between the root and the soil, root excretion of organic anions, root respiration (CO2 generation), and root-induced redox reactions (O2 emission) have all been proposed as explanations. Nutritional restrictions, such as Fe and P deficiency or Al toxicity, might alter these processes, with the effect on rhizosphere pH varying depending on the soil buffering capacity (Hinsinger et al., 2003; Neumann, 2003).

Phosphorus (P) is contained in every living plant cell and is essential for plant growth. It plays a role in energy transfer, photosynthesis, sugar and starch transformation, nutrient flow throughout the plant, and the transmission of genetic features from one generation to the next.

## 2.2 Soil phosphorus dynamics

Phosphorus (P) is receiving more attention as a nonrenewable resource due to increased agricultural production in this decade (Gilbert, 2009; Cordell *et al.*, 2009; Ryan *et al.*, 2012; Tirado & Allsopp, 2012; Alewell *et al.*, 2020). One unique characteristic of P is its low availability due to slow diffusion and high fixation in soils. What this means is that P can be a major limiting factor for plant growth. The Ministry of Agriculture in Kenya fertilizer report (Oseko & Dienya, 2015) indicates that there is need to apply manure or compost regularly to maintain and sustain the organic matter content. This in turn would alleviate aluminium toxicity thereby increasing availability of phosphorus.

Applications of chemical P fertilizers and animal manure to agricultural land have improved soil P fertility and crop production, but caused environmental damage in the past decades (Shen *et al.*, 2011). Maintaining a proper P-supplying level at the root zone can maximize the efficiency of plant roots to mobilize and acquire P from the rhizosphere by an integration of root morphological and physiological adaptive strategies (Mike & Larry, 2011). A holistic understanding of P dynamics from soil to plant is thus necessary for optimizing P management and improving P-use efficiency. The aim would be to reduce consumption of chemical P fertilizer, maximize exploitation of the biological potential of root/rhizosphere processes for efficient mobilization, and acquisition of soil P by plants as well as recycling P from manure and waste. Overall P dynamics in the soil plant system is a function of the integrative effects of P transformation, availability, and utilization caused by soil, rhizosphere, and plant processes (Shen *et al.*, 2011).

Soil P exists in various chemical forms including inorganic P (Pi) and organic P (Po) (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3. Diagrammatic expression of Phosphorus dynamics: From soil to plant Source: (Shen *et al.*, 2011)

These P forms differ in their behavior and fate in soils (Hansen *et al.*, 2004; *Turner et al.*, 2007; Ikhajiagbe *et al.*, 2020). Pi usually accounts for 35% to 70% of the total P in soil (Huang *et al.*, 2017). Primary P minerals including apatite, strengite, and variscite are very stable. The release of available P from these minerals by weathering is generally too slow to meet the crop demand. Direct application of phosphate rocks (apatite) has proved relatively efficient for crop growth in acidic soils (Shen *et al.*, 2011; Hellal *et al.*, 2019). In contrast, secondary P minerals including calcium (Ca), iron (Fe), and aluminum (Al) phosphates vary in their dissolution rates, depending on size of mineral particles and soil pH (Pierzynski *et al.*, 2005; Oelkers & Valsami-Jones, 2008; Penn & Camberato, 2019). With increasing soil pH, solubility of Fe and Al phosphates increases but solubility of Ca phosphate decreases, except for pH values above 8 (Hinsinger, 2001; Penn & Camberato, 2019). The P adsorbed on various clays and Al/Fe oxides can be released by desorption reactions. All these P forms exist in complex equilibria with each

other, representing from very stable, sparingly available, to plant-available P pools such as labile P and solution P (Hansen *et al.*, 2004; Turner *et al.*, 2007; Shen *et al.*, 2011; Weeks & Hettiarachchi, 2019)

## 2.3 Inorganic phosphorus in soil

Applications of chemical P fertilizers are needed to improve crop growth and yield because of the low concentration and poor mobility of plant-available P in soils (Nziguheba, 2007; Bindraban *et al.*, 2020). The major forms of phosphate fertilizers in Kenya include mono ammonium phosphate (MAP), single super phosphate (SSP) and triple super phosphate (Oseko & Dienya, 2015). Application of inorganic fertilizers can significantly affect soil physicochemical properties. After application to soil, inorganic fertilizers undergo a wetting process, generate large amounts of protons, phosphate, and dicalcium phosphates (DCP), and eventually forms a P-saturated patch (Benbi & Gilkes, 1987; Yao *et al.*, 2020). This Pi-saturated patch forms three different reaction zones including direct reaction, precipitation reaction, and adsorption reaction zones. The direct reaction zone is very acidic (pH = 1.0-1.6), resulting in enhanced mobilization of soil metal ions (Shen *et al.*, 2011). These metal ions can also react with high concentrations of Pi in the zone thus causing further precipitation of Pi. The amorphous Fe-P and Al-P that thereby form can be partly available to plants.

In calcareous soil, new complexes of monocalcium phosphates (MCP) and dicalcium phosphates (DCP) can be formed and with time DCP is gradually transformed into more stable forms of Ca phosphates (octocalcium phosphate or apatite). Because the Pi concentration is relatively low, P adsorption by soil minerals is dominant in the outer zone (Abou *et al.*, 2020). In contrast, the application of monopotassium phosphate has little influence on soil physical and chemical properties (Lindsay *et al.*, 1962; Liu *et al.*, 2020; Wali *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, matching P fertilizer types with soil physical and chemical properties may be an efficient strategy for rational use of inorganic fertilizer P. The current advise given to farmers in the study area by the Ministry of Agriculture in Kenya is use of single super phosphate (SSP), triple superphosphate (TSP), calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN), Mavuno, compound

fertilizers (N:P:K) 23:23:0 and 20:20:0 (Oseko & Dienya, 2015). Use of soil P solubilizing microbes had not been adopted in these areas.

#### 2.4 Manure phosphorus in the soil

Manure is applied to the soil to increase P fertility. The total P content in manure is very variable and nearly 70% of total P in manure is labile (Dou *et al.*, 2000; Lu *et al.*, 2020). In manure, Pi accounts for 50% to 90% (Dou *et al.*, 2000; Saleem *et al.*, 2017). Manure also contains large amounts of Po, such as phospholipids and nucleic acids (Turner & Leytem, 2004), which can be released to increase soil Pi concentrations by mineralization. Phosphorus adsorption to soil particles can be greatly reduced through applying organic substances. The humic acids contain large numbers of negative charges, carboxyl and hydroxyl groups, which strongly compete for the adsorption sites with Pi (Shen *et al.*, 2011). Manure can also change soil pH and thus alter soil P availability. Organically produced manures and technologies are not only cheaper but also provide a more balanced supply of nutrients and other multiple agro ecological benefits (Donovan & Casey, 1998; Selim, 2020).

#### 2.5 Phosphorus dynamics in the rhizosphere

The rhizosphere is the critical zone of interactions among plants, soils, and microorganisms (Richardson *et al.*, 2009; Silva & Lambers, 2020). Plant roots can greatly modify the rhizosphere environment through their various physiological activities, particularly the exudation of organic compounds such as mucilage, organic acids, phosphatases, and some specific signaling substances, which are key drivers of various rhizosphere processes (Shen *et al.*, 2011; Canarini *et al.*, 2019). The chemical and biological processes in the rhizosphere not only determine mobilization and acquisition of soil nutrients as well as microbial dynamics, but also control nutrient use efficiency of crops, and thus profoundly influence crop productivity (Hinsinger *et al.*, 2009; Richardson *et al.*, 2009; Wissuwa *et al.*, 2009; Shen *et al.*, 2013a)

Due to its low solubility and mobility in soil, P can be rapidly depleted in the rhizosphere by root uptake, resulting in a gradient of P concentration in a radial direction away from the root surface (Shen *et al.*, 2011; Cabeza *et al.*, 2017). In spite

of total soil P content usually exceeding the plant requirements (Figure 2.4), the low mobility of soil P can restrict its availability to plants.



Figure 2.4. Soil Phosphorus cycle. Source: Pierzynski (2000)

Soluble P in the rhizosphere soil solution should be replaced 20 to 50 times per day by P delivery from bulk soil to the rhizosphere to meet plant demand (Marschner, 1995; Xomphoutheb *et al.*, 2020; Havlin & Heiniger, 2020). Therefore, P dynamics in the rhizosphere are mainly controlled by plant root growth and function, and also highly related to physical and chemical properties of soil (Bertin *et al.*, 2003). Due to the unique properties of P in soil such as low solubility, low mobility, and high fixation by the soil matrix, the availability of P to plants is dominantly controlled by two key processes: spatial availability and acquisition of P in terms of plant root architecture as well as mycorrhizal association, and bioavailability and acquisition of P based on the rhizosphere chemical and biological processes (Shen *et al.*, 2011). The latter process was the domain of this study.

## 2.6 Spatial availability and acquisition of soil phosphorus

## 2.6.1 Root architecture

Plants are able to respond to P starvation by changing their root architecture, including root morphology, topology, and distribution patterns (Hammond & White, 2008a; Kochian, 2016; Carvalho & Foulkes, 2019; Dixon *et al.*, 2020). Increases in

root/shoot ratio, root branching, root elongation, root topsoil foraging, and root hairs are commonly observed in P-deficient plants, while the formation of specialized roots such as cluster roots occurs in a limited number of species (Lynch & Brown, 2008; Niu *et al.*, 2013; Péret *et al.*, 2014). P deficiency has been shown to reduce growth of primary roots and enhance length and density of root hairs and lateral roots in many plant species (Desnos, 2008; Niu *et al.*, 2013; Péret *et al.*, 2014).

P efficient genotypes of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) have more shallow roots in the topsoil where there are relatively high contents of P resources (Lynch & Brown, 2008). Some plant species, for example white lupin (*Lupinus albus*), can develop cluster roots with dense and determinative lateral roots, which are covered by large numbers of root hairs (Lambers *et al.*, 2008; Schnepf *et al.*, 2008; Péret *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, root architecture plays an important role in maximizing P acquisition because root systems with higher surface area are able to explore a given volume of soil more effectively (Lynch, 1995; Shen *et al.*, 2013b; Péret *et al.*, 2014; Lugli *et al.*, 2020).

Some adaptive modifications in root architecture in response to P deficiency are well documented in Arabidopsis (*Arabidopsis thaliana*) and in those species forming cluster roots (Lambers *et al.*, 2006; Osmont *et al.*, 2007; Desnos, 2008; Hammond & White, 2008a; Rouached *et al.*, 2010). Adaptive changes of root growth and architecture under P starvation are related to altered carbohydrate distribution between roots and shoots, and these changes may be caused by plant hormones (Bertin *et al.*, 2003; Nacry *et al.*, 2005), sugar signaling (Hammond & White, 2008b; Vance, 2010; Camisón *et al.*, 2020;) and nitric oxide in the case of cluster-root formation in white lupin (Wang *et al.*, 2010). Root proliferation is stimulated when plant roots encounter nutrient-rich patches, particularly when the patches are rich in P and/or nitrogen (Drew, 1975; Hodge, 2004; Liu *et al.*, 2018).

Root proliferation in P-rich topsoil layers is related to a decreased root gravitropic response under P limitation (Bonser *et al.*, 1996; Brown *et al.*, 2013; Rao *et al.*, 2016) and ethylene may be involved in the regulation of these responses (Lynch & Brown, 2008). Root proliferation can be greatly stimulated in the P-enriched soil

patches (Hodge, 2004; McLachlan *et al.*, 2020). However, the mechanisms of Pdependent changes in sorghum root proliferation in response to local P supply are not fully understood. Localized application of phosphates plus ammonium significantly enhances P uptake and crop growth through stimulating root proliferation and rhizosphere acidification in a calcareous soil (Shen *et al.*, 2013b).

### 2.6.2 Mycorrhizal association

Mycorrhizal fungi are soil-dwelling, root-inhabiting fungi that colonize the fine absorbing roots of more than 95% of land plants (Siddiqui *et al.*, 2008). Its filaments can penetrate into the smallest of soil pores and fissures to access microscopic sources of water that are unavailable to the thicker roots (Mike & Larry, 2011). Mycorrhizae are an integral part of most plants in nature (Gianinazzi *et al.*, 2010; Mike & Larry, 2011; Field *et al.*, 2020; Song *et al.*, 2020).

Mycorrhizal fungi increase plant nutrient uptake, especially phosphorus and several microelements (Schubert & Lubraco, 2000; Calvet *et al.*, 2004; Varma *et al.*, 2017). One of the many advantages of mycorrhizal fungi is that they induce plant tolerance to biotic stresses (Dehne, 1982; Barea *et al.*, 1996; Diagne *et al.*, 2020) and abiotic stresses (Parke *et al.*, 1983; Augé *et al.*, 2001; Schreiner *et al.*, 2001; Borkowska, 2002; Shi *et al.*, 2002; Swaty *et al.*, 2004; Fellbaum *et al.*, 2012; Diagne *et al.*, 2020). Numerous research work has been carried out in regard to use of fertilizer plants to replenish soil nutrients and enhance productivity (Mugendi *et al.*, 1999; Jama *et al.*, 2000; Kimetu *et al.*, 2004; Mureithi *et al.*, 2007; Mucheru-Muna *et al.*, 2014). On the other hand, some authors reported negative influence or lack of influence on plant productivity after mycorrhization (Dosskey *et al.*, 1990; Corrêa *et al.*, 2008; Conjeaud *et al.*, 1996; Marschner, 1996; Eltrop & Marschner, 1996; Mahmoudi *et al.*, 2020; Samba-Mbaye *et al.*, 2020). This listing is not exhaustive and does not indicate the relationship mycorrhizal fungi (MF) in *Aspilia pluriseta* would have to the growth of *Sorghum bicolor* L.

Inoculation of MF to increase yield in crops is not a new idea. Researchers have made efforts to increase the quality of legume plants through the inoculation of mycorrhizal strain alone or in combination with nitrogen fixing bacteria (Stancheva *et al.*, 2006; Arumugam *et al.*, 2010; Guo *et al.*, 2010). Most research in this area of promising technologies has however, concentrated on herbaceous green manure legumes (HGML) leaving out other herbaceous plants that could enhance availability of other crop macro nutrients (Cherr *et al.*, 2006; Norgrove & Hauser, 2015).

Non-leguminous plants are not usually known to have dual association of *Rhizobium* and mycorrhizal fungi (Den Camp *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, Khade & Rodrigues (2009) reported that *Rhizobium leguminosarum* bv. *viciae* was found in the non leguminous *Carica papaya* L. Further this study demonstrated a synergistic growth effect between *Rhizobium* and MF found in the rhizosphere of this plant. Similarly, this current study established a relationship between yield and productivity of sorghum and MF found on the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta*.

Considerable progress towards understanding the molecular basis of phosphorus uptake by plants has been made (Schachtman *et al.*, 1998; Raghothama, 2000; Rausch & Bucher, 2002; Franco-Zorrilla *et al.*, 2004; Karandashov & Bucher, 2005; Yasmeen *et al.*, 2012; Bindraban *et al.*, 2020). Advances in plant genomics research has provided useful tools to help unravel the complexity of the regulatory pathways associated with the responses of the plant to variation in P availability mediated by mycorrhizal symbiosis (Pierre *et al.*, 2014).

Mycorrhizal symbioses can increase the spatial availability of P, extending the nutrient absorptive surface by formation of mycorrhizal hyphae. In the symbioses, nutrients are transferred by mycorrhizal fungi (MF) via their extensive mycorrhizal mycelium to plants while in return the fungi receive carbon from the plant (Khade & Rodrigues, 2009; Prescott *et al.*, 2020). Mycorrhizal fungi not only influence plant growth through increased uptake of nutrients (e.g. P, Zinc, and Copper), but may also have non nutritional effects in terms of stabilization of soil aggregates and alleviation of plant stresses caused by biotic and abiotic factors (Smith & Read, 2008). The beneficial effects of MF and other microorganisms on plant performance and soil health can be very important for the sustainable management of agricultural ecosystems (Gianinazzi *et al.*, 2010; Dellag *et al.*, 2020). A primary benefit of MF is the improved P uptake conferred on symbiotic crop plants as a consequence

of enhanced direct P uptake of plant roots via the MF pathway. However, plant growth can be suppressed even though the MF pathway contributes greatly to plant P uptake (Smith & Read, 2008). The growth inhibitions might be caused by the down-regulation of the direct root P-uptake pathway (Kobae, 2019). Recent gene expression study (Feddermann *et al.*, 2010) shows that plants induce a common set of mycorrhiza-induced genes. However, variability indicates that there exists functional diversity in MF symbioses. The differential expression of symbiosis-associated genes among different MF associations is related to the fungal species, plant genotypes, and the environmental factors (Feddermann *et al.*, 2010; Savary *et al.*, 2020).

#### 2.6.3 Bioavailability and acquisition of soil phosphorus

Root-induced chemical and biological changes in the rhizosphere play a vital role in enhancing the bioavailability of soil P (Hinsinger, 2001; Fageria & Stone, 2006; Jacoby *et al.*, 2017). These root-induced changes mainly involve proton release to acidify the rhizosphere, carboxylate exudation to mobilize sparingly available P by chelation and ligand exchange, and secretion of phosphatases or phytases to mobilize Po by enzyme-catalyzed hydrolysis (Bertin *et al.*, 2003; Shen *et al.*, 2013a). Root-induced acidification can decrease rhizosphere pH by 2 to 3 units relative to the bulk soil, resulting in substantial dissolution of sparingly available soil P (Marschner, 1996; Hinsinger *et al.*, 2003; Erel *et al.*, 2017). The pH change in the rhizosphere is mainly affected by cation/anion uptake ratios and nitrogen assimilation. Ammonium supply to plant roots causes rhizosphere acidification, whereas nitrate supply causes alkalization. Legumes take up excess cations over anions, resulting in proton release.

Phosphorus deficiency in white lupin stimulates proton release and citrate exudation by cluster roots in association with an inhibition of nitrate uptake (Neumann *et al.*, 1999) The changes of rhizosphere pH are also related to soil-buffering capacity, microbial activities, and plant genotypes. Besides proton release, carboxylate exudation such as that of citrate, malate, and oxalate greatly enhances Pi acquisition through chelation as well as by ligand exchange. Organic acid excretion and function in increasing P mobilization is well documented (Vance *et al.*, 2003; Hinsinger *et al.*, 2003; Raghothama & Karthikeyan, 2005; Touhami *et al.*, 2020). Some molecular physiological response mechanisms that underlay the survival and resistance to both P deficiency and Al toxicity have been reported in some plants such as white lupin (Wang *et al.*, 2007). This may require further investigation to determine the mechanism. Plants can secrete phosphatase to mobilize Po through enzyme-catalyzed hydrolysis (Bertin *et al.*, 2003; Shen *et al.*, 2013a; Dell'Aquila *et al.*, 2020). The activities of phosphatases are up-regulated under P deficiency (Vance *et al.*, 2003; Hammond & White, 2008a; Dixon *et al.*, 2020). However, the efficacy of these phosphohydrolases can be greatly altered by the availability of substrate, interactions with soil microorganisms, and soil pH, depending on soil physical and chemical environments (George *et al.*, 2005; Jacoby *et al.*, 2017). Root-induced bioavailability and acquisition of P in association with root exudation need to be systemically evaluated in the soil/rhizosphere-plant continuum.

Some soil and rhizosphere microorganisms except mycorrhizal fungi (for example, plant growth promoting rhizobacteria) particularly P-solubilizing bacteria (PSB) and fungi (PSF) can also enhance plant P acquisition by directly increasing solubilization of P to plants, or by indirect hormone-induced stimulation of plant growth (Richardson *et al.*, 2009). P-solubilizing microorganisms (PSM; PSB plus PSF) account for approximately 1% to 50% in P solubilization potential (Chen *et al.*, 2006). The PSB or PSF may mobilize soil P by the acidification of soil, the release of enzymes (such as phosphatases and phytases), or the production of carboxylates such as gluconate, citrate, and oxalate (Shen *et al.*, 2011; Nannipieri *et al.*, 2011). What is not very clear, however, is whether after removal of the host plant, the enzymatic activity of P solubilizing microorganisms continues and benefits another plant in the succession.

# 2.7 Phosphorus uptake and utilization by plants

Plant roots absorb P as either of  $H_2PO_4^-$  or  $HPO_4^{-2-}$ . Because the concentrations of these ions in soils are in the micromolar range, high affinity active transport systems are required for Pi uptake against a steep chemical potential gradient across the plasma membrane of root epidermal and cortical cells (Shen *et al.*, 2011). This process is mediated by high-affinity Pi/H+ symporters that belong to the PHT1

(phosphate transporter) gene family (Shin *et al.*, 2004; Ai *et al.*, 2009; Nussaume *et al.*, 2011; Młodzińska & Zboińska, 2016; Cao *et al.*, 2020). Disruption of PHT1 gene expression results in a significant decrease of P acquisition by roots (Shin *et al.*, 2004; Ai *et al.*, 2009; Młodzińska & Zboińska, 2016; Cao *et al.*, 2020). In addition, some members of this family are expressed specifically and/or up-regulated in roots colonized by mycorrhizal fungi, indicating their function in transport of Pi via a mycorrhizal-dependent pathway (Bucher, 2007; Campo & San Segundo, 2020; Wang *et al.*, 2020). This research aimed at utilizing the relationship in sorghum farming using *Aspilia pluriseta* as the source of mycorrhizal inoculum.

## 2.8 Classification, description and distribution of Aspilia

*Aspilia* is a genus of flowering plants in the daisy family. Historically, plants in this genus were used in Mbaise and most Igbo speaking parts of Nigeria to prevent conception, suggesting potential contraceptive and anti-fertility properties (Kayode *et al.*, 2007).

*Aspilia pluriseta* Schweif. is a prostrate perennial herb, with branches that are 30-60 cm long. It has sessile leaves with serrated margins, obovate in shape and abruptly ending in a long and very narrow, scaberulous tip. Flower rays are yellow with achenes that are obovoid, flattened and pubescent (Plate 1.1, page 2). *Aspilia pluriseta* is a common herbaceous plant whose natural habitat is in the open woodlands and grasslands. It is native in Democratic Republic of Congo, Burundi, Rwanda, Uganda, Kenya, Tanzania, Malawi, Mozambique, Zambia, Zimbabwe and South Africa (Kayode *et al.*, 2007). The common names of *Aspilia pluriseta* are; *Dwarf aspilia*-English, *Mukushamvura*-Shona, South Africa, *Mahuti*- Kikuyu, Kenya, *Mauti*- Meru, Kenya (Kayode *et al.*, 2007).

Farmers in central eastern Kenya report good crop yields, particularly cereals, in farms previously growing *Aspilia pluriseta* Schweif. When uprooted, *Aspilia pluriseta* Schweif. presents huge surface area of white mycelium that is visible without any magnification (Plate 1.2). This study brought out facts on the effect *Aspilia pluriseta* Schweif. has to the growth of gadam sorghum crop.
## 2.9 Research gaps

In an era of rising ecological degradation, climate change, soil erosion, and biodiversity loss, global population expansion poses a danger to food security. A lot of research work has been done on application levels of inorganic fertilizers seeking paradigm shifts to crop production revolutions. However, the perspective of utilizing naturally occurring biotrophs such as mycorrhiza fungi has not been fully known and practised. Furthermore, mycorrhiza morphotypes are not well understood neither are their ecological niches in the rhizosphere of plants determined. This research seeks to address some of these gaps.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 3.1 Study area

The study area was in Embu and Tharaka-Nithi counties of eastern Kenya with a semi-arid climatic set up. The study sites were three situated at co-ordinates 00°21'00" S, 37°28'30" E, 00°10'00" S, 37°50'00" E and 00°12'00" S, 37°51'00" E (Appendix 2, sampling sites). Elevation for all the studied sites was below 1000 m above sea level. Rainfall in the selected areas was below 700 mm/year with two distinct but unreliable wet seasons in the months of March to May and October to December. Dry spells are more prolonged with temperature mean of 27°C. Scanty natural tree and shrub vegetation found was mainly *Aspilia pluriseta, Cassia sp, Euphorbia sp, Accasia sp, Balanites aegyptiaca, Cenchrus ciliaris* and *Hyperhenia rufa* grasses that were interspersed in trees and shrubs. The selected sites had silty clay, silt loam and sandy loam soil textural types and all of them had *Aspilia pluriseta* growing in the natural environment. Farmers practise dryland agroforestry mostly rearing animals that utilize products from *Accassia* products and *Balanites* species.

In the study area, soil pH ranges from moderate acidity 5.4 to neutral 7.16 (Oseko & Dienya, 2015). In spite of farmers practicing agro-pastoralism and therefore owning animals, most of the manure is sold out to the more affluent farmers in the upper parts of the counties in this study. Soils are mainly sandy with pockets of clay and loam.

# 3.2 Experiments conducted and procedures

### 3.2.1 General experimental set up

Controlled (greenhouse) experiments were carried out at the University of Embu. Reconnaissance survey as well as soil sampling was carried out in Tunyai and Gakurungu (Tharaka Nithi county) and Kanyuambora in Embu county (Figure 3.1). The first controlled greenhouse experiment involved use of potted plants with four treatment factors; *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation covered soils; soil textural types; soil depth and mycorrhizal fungi (MF) inoculated gadam sorghum. The second green house experiment had similar treatment factors but *Aspilia* soil was that which grew the *Aspilia* plants for six months and cut back and the pots used to grow sorghum. The soils used to grow *Aspilia* in the greenhouse were got from patches that were not growing *Aspilia pluriseta* in the field sites but the aspect of soil depth and soil texture maintained. Sorghum was then planted in the pots with either seeds that were inoculated or un-inoculated. All other as aspects, including layout in the greenhouse was maintained like that of experiment one.



Figure 3.1. Field sampling sites at Gakurungu & Tunyai in Tharaka Nithi county and Kanyuambora in Embu county

## 3.2.2 Field soil sampling for laboratory analysis and greenhouse use

Soils were sampled from Gakũrũngũ, Tunyai and Kanyuambora field sites. A reconnaissance survey was initially carried out in which natural seed-bearing *Aspilia pluriseta* plots were mapped out for each of the three sites. Each of the site measured 4km<sup>2</sup> and was within an administrative sub unit. In each site, three sub-sites measuring 100m by 50 m were identified which formed the plots. Soil was sampled in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation and from patches without. Soils from these sub-sites were combined to form one composite mixture for each depth sampled (depth<sub>1</sub>, 0-20 cm; depth<sub>2</sub>, 21-40 cm, depth<sub>3</sub>, 41-60 cm).

Soil sampling was purposive for each of the selected sites based on the soil textural types in the area: sandy loam, silty clay and silt loam soils. based on soil categorization through use of soil sieves with known particle diameter (Rawls, 1983; Gee & Or, 2002), the sites had dorminant soil characteristics as follows;

Site	Soil characteristics
	Silty clay: 45% silt, 45% clay,5%Sand
Gakurungu	Silt loam: 70% silt, 20% sand, 10% clay
	Sandy loam: 60% sand, 20% clay,20% silt
Tunyai	Silty clay: 40% silt, 50% clay,10% sand
	Silt loam:40% silt, 50% sand,10% clay
	Sandy loam: 50% sand, 40% silt,10% clay
Kanyuambora	Silty clay: 50% silt, 45% clay,5% Sand
	Silt loam: 80% silt, 10% sand, 10% clay
	Sandy loam: 60% sand, 20% clay,20% silt

About  $1m^2$  was cleared in the selected natural site where mature test plants were located. A standard soil auger (SOD-GP Dormer sampling equipment) was used to collect soil samples taken from the test plant rhizosphere at depths 0-60 cm. The patches without the test plant were either bare or covered with *Hypharhenia rufa* grass. Vertical measurements (in centimetres) along the profile were taken. Three samples for each parameter of interest was taken, each with a volume of  $40cm^3$  (the volume the soil auger could scoop) for the various depths (0 - 20 cm, 21- 40 cm and 41- 60 cm) in different sub-sites and were mixed together to form a single sample. Three soil samples from each sub-site (plots) and for every soil depth under

consideration were taken, giving the number of soil samples taken as 27 in every soil textural group for the plots that the *Aspilia pluriseta* grew. Similar procedure was followed for the sampling plots without this vegetation type. Overall the number of soil samples taken was 486. Samples were carefully labeled and put into separate sterilized hessian bags before taking them to the laboratory for analysis and greenhouse use. This soil was then thoroughly mixed but maintaining the site, sub site and soil depth of the collected samples. The samples were homogenously mixed and physico-chemical analysis done as outlined in procedure 3.2.4. Soils in patches without *Aspilia pluriseta* were similarly analysed. For use in the greenhouse, bigger volumes of about 20kg from each subsites was obtained in the same specific areas that sampling for laboratory analysis was undertaken.

## **3.2.3** Greenhouse experiments

A greenhouse experiment was set out to investigate the influence of test factors: Aspilia pluriseta vegetation covered soils (extracted from the field); soil textural types; soil depth and mycorrhizal fungi (MF) inoculated gadam sorghum on growth parameters of sorghum plants. The growth parameters of interest were; seedling emergence and plant count, sorghum height, the number of leaves per plant, the leaf length and sorghum yield. In the first experiment, mature plots of Aspilia pluriseta vegetation were identified in pre-selected sites as described in soil sampling section above. At the greenhouse, the soil was thoroughly mixed for each respective soil type, depth and presence or absence of Aspilia vegetation. Sterilized pots (30 cm  $\times$ 40 cm) were filled with this homogenous soil to about one third full. Two seeds of mycorrhiza fungi-inoculated gadam sorghum (inoculation protocol according to Habte and Osorio (2001) were planted into pots and a similar number planted with uninoculated sorghum seeds. Two kilograms of A. pluriseta rhizosphere soil earlier tested and found to contain mycorrhiza fungi of the order Glomerales was mixed with 1kg gadam sorghum seeds. Each of the four treatment factors (Figure 3.2) as mentioned was replicated four times, giving the total number of pots as 144. Each pot was watered after every two days using a two-litre watering can for the first one week. Thereafter, the watering regime was reduced to once a week but ensuring the pots remained moist. Watering was done uniformly to all the pots. This was maintained for thirty-five days when watering regime was reduced to once every two weeks. Data on plant growth attributes was taken every week and corroborated with treatment factor given in the pots. The experimental set up has 36 treatments replicated four times giving n=144 (Figure 3.2). Appendix 4 gives a comprehensive list of test factors and variables for the entire growing period of gadam sorghum crop.

Cs D2Oa	Cs D1wpa	Sl D2Oa	Sl D2Oi	Sl D3Oa	Ls D2wpa	Sl D1wpa	Ls D3Oa	Cs D2wpi	Sl D2wpi	Sl D3wpa	Cs D3wpi
Cs D1Oa	Ls D3wpa	Cs D3Oa	Cs D2Oi	Sl D1Oa	Cs D3Oi	Cs D2wpa	Cs D1wpi	Sl D1wpi	Sl D3wpi	Cs D3wpa	Sl D2wpa
Ls D1Oa	Ls D1Oi	Ls D2Oa	Ls D2Oi	Sl D1Oi	Ls D3Oi	Ls D1wpa	Ls D1wpi	Sl D3Oi	Ls D2wpi	Cs D1Oi	Ls D3wpi
Cs D2Oa	Cs D1wpa	SI D2Oa	SI D2Oi	SI D3Oa	Ls D2wpa	SI D1wpa	Ls D3Oa	Cs D2wpi	Sl D2wpi	SI D3wpa	Cs D3wpi
Cs D1Oa	Ls D3wpa	Cs D3Oa	Cs D2Oi	Sl D1Oa	Cs D3Oi	Cs D2wpa	Cs D1wpi	Sl D1wpi	Sl D3wpi	Cs D3wpa	Sl D2wpa
Ls D1Oa	Ls D10i	Ls D2Oa	Ls D2Oi	Sl D1Oi	Ls D3Oi	Ls D1wpa	Ls D1wpi	Sl D3Oi	Ls D2wpi	Cs D1Oi	Ls D3wpi
Cs D2Oa	Cs D1wpa	SI D2Oa	SI D2Oi	SI D3Oa	Ls D2wpa	SI D1wpa	Ls D3Oa	Cs D2wpi	SI D2wpi	SI D3wpa	Cs D3wpi
Cs D1Oa	Ls D3wpa	Cs D3Oa	Cs D2Oi	Sl D1Oa	Cs D3Oi	Cs D2wpa	Cs D1wpi	Sl D1wpi	Sl D3wpi	Cs D3wpa	Sl D2wpa
Ls D1Oa	Ls D1Oi	Ls D2Oa	Ls D2Oi	Sl D10i	Ls D3Oi	Ls D1wpa	Ls D1wpi	Sl D3Oi	Ls D2wpi	Cs D1Oi	Ls D3wpi
		•	•								
Cs D2Oa	Cs D1wpa	SI D2Oa	SI D2Oi	SI D3Oa	Ls D2wpa	SI D1wpa	Ls D3Oa	Cs D2wpi	Sl D2wpi	SI D3wpa	Cs D3wpi
Cs D1Oa	Ls D3wpa	Cs D3Oa	Cs D2Oi	Sl D1Oa	Cs D3Oi	Cs D2wpa	Cs D1wpi	Sl D1wpi	Sl D3wpi	Cs D3wpa	Sl D2wpa
Ls D1Oa	Ls D10i	Ls D2Oa	Ls D2Oi	Sl D10i	Ls D3Oi	Ls D1wpa	Ls D1wpi	Sl D3Oi	Ls D2wpi	Cs D1Oi	Ls D3wpi

Figure 3.2. Experimental lay out in the greenhouse at the University of Embu

**Key:** Soil textural class (SI-sandy loam; Cs-silty clay; Ls-silt loam); Vegetation (O-soils without *Aspilia pluriseta*; wp-soils with *Aspilia pluriseta*); Inoculation (a-gadam seeds not inoculated; i-gadam seeds inoculated); Soil depth (D1-soil depth level 1, 0-20 cm; D2-soil depth level 2, 21-40cm; D3-soil depth level 3, 41-60 cm)

Experiment two involved growing of *Aspilia pluriseta* in the greenhouse for a period of six months after which the vegetation was cut back and gadam sorghum planted in the pots. After six months, soil in the pots was analyzed for pH, MF concentration, soil moisture content, soil phosphate levels and major elements' content, nitrogen and phosphorus (N & P). This was compared to the original soil used in the pots before growing *Aspilia pluriseta*. In this second experiment, soil from the field without *Aspilia pluriseta* was used to grow the plants but maintaining the other study factors as used in experiment one. The design of the experiment was similar to experiment one.

Pots, measuring 30cm by 40cm of strong polythene material was used for each experiment. Each of the treatment factors was replicated four times. Crop growth parameters measured were seedling emergence; plant stand count; leaf elongation (mm); growth in height (mm); number of leaves and total grain yield (g/1000 grains).

# **3.2.4** Measurements of physico-chemical information on soil rhizosphere depths in the study sites

Physico-chemical analysis of the rhizosphere soil was done for factors that would influence fungal populations and distribution. Soil pH for each rhizosphere depth was taken with a portable pH meter (Oakton pH 110, Eutech Instruments Pty. Ltd) and confirmed with indicator strips (Merck, range 5-10). *In situ* soil temperature was taken using an electrical chemical analyzer (Jenway – 3405). 10 g of the composite soil from every rhizosphere depth studied was analyzed in the laboratory for mycorrhiza fungi determination using Varma, (1998) protocol. The same soil sample was analysed for soil phosphorus in ppm using (Olsen *et al.*, 1954b) protocol. Soil moisture and soil nitrogen content were determined using Johnson, (1962) and Bremner, (1960) protocols respectively. samples were also analysed for soil phosphates using Mildred, (1942) protocol and organic matter content using the method by (Schulte & Hoskins, 2009). See Appendix 3 giving the arrangement/layout of the test factors and variables for physico-chemical soil attributes tested.

### 3.2.5 Root colonization by arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi on Aspilia pluriseta

Roots of Aspilia pluriseta were cleared in 10% potassium hydroxide (KOH) and autoclaved for 15 minutes (Trouvelot et al., 1986). After cooling, the roots were washed in tap water and then bleached in ammonia, hydrogen peroxide and water solution for 2 hours. After bleaching the roots, they were rinsed in water before adding 1% hydrochloric acid. The acidified roots were then stained using 0.05% acidified glycerol stained with trypan blue and autoclaved for 3 minutes. The roots were then rinsed in water and stored temporarily in acidified glycerol without the stain. A minimum of 30x1cm roots were chosen randomly and 30 fragments placed parallel to each other on the slide. Polyvinlylactoglycerol (PVLG) was used as a mounting reagent and the slide was covered using a 24x50 mm coverslip. The roots were squashed gently to reveal the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) infection. The roots were assessed under the compound microscope using a linear eyepiece moving along each root fragment. The roots were rated according to the ranges of classes by (Trouvelot et al., 1986). The classes gave a rapid estimation of the abundance of arbuscules, vesicles and the level of mycorrhizal colonization of each root fragment (Trouvelot et al., 1986). The information obtained was exported to the Mycocalc software program for analysis.

## 3.2.6 Mycorrhiza fungi sampling and characterization

# 3.2.6.1 Sample collection

Soils were sampled from Gakũrũngũ, Tunyai and Kanyuambora field sites using a standard soil auger (SOD-GP Dormer sampling equipment). A reconnaissance survey was initially carried out in which natural seed-bearing *Aspilia pluriseta* plots were mapped out. Besides the seed bearing vegetation of interest, the selected areas of the survey for each of the three sites had to have three soil textural types (sandy loam, silt loam and silty clay). In each site, a quadrant measuring one metre by one metre was thrown at random in each sub-site (a sub-site consisted of an area within the site with one soil textural type). In case the quadrant contained more than one *Aspilia pluriseta* plant, the one closest to the centre of the quadrant was chosen for collection of rhizosphere soil fungal spores. The quadrant was thrown five times in each sub-site and soil was sampled at depth<sub>1</sub>, 0-20 cm; depth<sub>2</sub>, 21-40 cm, depth<sub>3</sub>, 41-60 cm using a soil auger with a scooping capacity of 40cm<sup>3</sup> of soil. The sampled soil

was put together for each rhizosphere depth from each sub-site and homogenously mixed. One hundred grams (100 g) of the mixture was put into khaki paper bags for soil and root DNA analysis in the laboratory.

### 3.2.6.2 Soil and rootlets total DNA extraction

Ten grams (10 g) of composite soil from the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* comprising of the plant's rootlets was weighed using an electronic balance. The weighed soil was put into 100 ml beaker and about 50 ml tap water was added. The mixture was placed and mixed on an electronic stirrer overnight. After 12 hours the mixture was washed several times by passing it through a 710  $\mu$  sieve placed on top of a 45  $\mu$  sieve (Varma, 1998). The 710  $\mu$  sieve collected the roots and course debris while the 45  $\mu$  prevented the spores from passing through. The roots and course debris from the 710  $\mu$  sieve were put into a mortar and air-dried in a hood while the process of sieving continued by collecting sieved water and soil mixture in a 1-litre cylinder (Varma, 1998).

The washing and decanting process was done several times until near-clear water was obtained. This was followed by filling the centrifuge tubes with the sieved content. Centrifugation was done for 5 minutes at 1500 revolutions per minute (rpm) and the filtrate was poured off while the supernatant remained at the bottom of the tube. 48 % sucrose solution was added to the supernatant at equal volumes (50ml) and centrifuged for 1 minute at 1500 rates per minute (Varma, 1998). The filtrate was collected on the 45  $\mu$  sieve while the supernatant was disposed off. The filtrate was then washed with slowly flowing tap water to wash off the sucrose. The washed content was then collected in a 50ml plastic cylinder and the contents poured into a filter paper. Using a fine pair of forceps, the contents were picked and transferred to eppendorf tubes.

The dried plant roots in the mortar were crushed into a fine powder using a pestle and the contents added to fungal spore cells in the eppendorf (Lee *et al.*, 1988). The content in the eppendorf was re-suspended in 100  $\mu$ l of solution A {100mM Tris-HCL (pH 8.0), 100Mm EDTA (pH 8.0); added to 5  $\mu$ l of lysozyme (from a 20mg/ml solution) and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes in a water bath}. 400  $\mu$ l of lysis buffer (solution B) comprising 400 mM Tris-HCL (pH 8.0), 60 mM EDTA (pH 8.0), 150

mM NaCl, 1% sodium dodycyl sulfate and the tube was left at room temperature for 10 minutes. 10  $\mu$ l of Proteinase K (20mg/ml) was mixed gently and incubated at 65°C for 1 hour in a water bath. An equal volume of chloroform/ isoamyl alcohol was added and centrifuged at 13200 rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to new tubes. In the new tubes, 150  $\mu$ l of sodium acetate (pH 5.2) and an equal volume of isopropanol alcohol was added accordingly. The tubes were briefly mixed through inversion. The mixture was then incubated at  $-20^{\circ}$ C overnight. The tubes were then spun at 13200 rpm for 30 minutes and the supernatant was discarded.

The resultant DNA pellets were washed in 300  $\mu$ l of 70% ethanol. The pellets were then spun at 10000 rpm for 1 minute and the supernatant discarded. The resultant DNA pellet was air dried in the hood and dissolved in 50 ml of 13 Tris-EDTA. Genomic DNA (5–15 ng) in 10  $\mu$ l of ddH2O was used for RAPD amplification using 1.5% agarose gels and images obtained confirming presence of DNA (Lee *et al.*, 1988). Nine samples (3 samples each from depth<sub>1</sub>, 0-20 cm; depth<sub>2</sub>, 21-40 cm and depth<sub>3</sub>, 41-60 cm) were dried using LABCONCO machine. About 30  $\mu$ l of the confirmed DNA was shipped to mrdnalabs (USA) for next generation sequencing with the primers as diversity assay bTEFAP® average inhouse ITSwanda. Illumina was used as the sequencing technology method.

## 3.2.6.3 Amplicon library preparation and sequencing

The primers used for amplification of the Internal Transcribed Spacer (ITS) on Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) was ITS<sub>1</sub> (TCCGTAGGTGAACCTGCGG) and ITS<sub>4</sub> (TCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGC). The primers barcode was according to (White *et al.*, 1990). Using HotStarTaq Kit (Qiagen, USA) Plus Master with an initial heating of 94°C for 3 min, followed by 28 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, amplification proceeded in a 30 cycle PCR Mix. Annealing was done at 53°C for 40 seconds and extended at 72°C for 1 min. Final elongation step was done at 72°C for 5 min.

visualization of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) products was done on 2% agarose gel and its success determined by the relative intensity of the bands. DNA concentrations determined the pooling together of multiple samples in equal proportions. Calibrated Ampure XP beads (Agencourt Bioscience Corporation, MA, USA) purified pooled samples. DNA library was prepared using the pooled and purified PCR product in accordance to (Yu & Zhang, 2012) illumina sequencing protocol. Next generation sequencing was done at MRDNA laboratory in the United States of America (USA) using a MiSeq platform and following the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 3.2.6.4 Sequencing, taxonomic classification and submission of the data

Barcodes and primers were depleted from the sequences obtained in the Illumina sequencing platform using a proprietary pipeline (www.mrdnalab.com, MR DNA, Shallowater, TX) developed by the manufacturer. Using protocol developed by (Reeder & Knight, 2010), low quality sequences were identified by denoising and were filtered out of the dataset. Sequences less than 200 base pairs after quality check through phred20- based quality trimming, ambiguous base calls and those with homopolymer runs exceeding 6bp were removed.

Analysis of sequences was done by a script optimizer for high-throughput data to weed out potential and definite as described by Gontcharova *et al.* (2010). De novo operational taxonomic units (OUT) clustering was done using standard UCLUST method with the default settings as implemented in QIIME pipeline Version 1.8.0 at 97% similarity level (Caporaso *et al.*, 2010). Taxonomy was assigned to each OTU using BLASTn against SILVA SSU Reference 119 database at default e-value threshold of 0.001 in QIIME (Quast *et al.*, 2013). Resulting raw sequences were submitted to the National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) sequence read archive with study accession number SRP320693.

## 3.2.7 Mycorrhiza fungi inoculum application to sorghum seed

Soil confirmed to contain arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi (procedure 3.2.2, above) was obtained from the study sites. This soil, from mature *Aspilia pluriseta* plots was homogenized on a polythene sheet, ensuring big soil clods were broken down using a hand trowel. On a separate polythene sheet, one kilogram of gadam sorghum seed (enough seed to plant in the pots) was placed. The seed and the mycorrhiza containing soil were mixed in the ration 1:0.5 (one kilogram of gadam sorghum seed to half kilogram of the soil). Using a pipette, five drops of water were added to the soil-seed mixture before thoroughly mixing the ingredients. The resultant mixture was ready to plant in the pots.

## 3.3 Data analysis

### 3.3.1 Greenhouse data

Data from the greenhouse was analysed using the general linear model  $yijk = \mu + \tau i + \beta j + (\tau\beta)ij + \gamma k + (\tau\gamma)ik + (\beta\gamma)jk + (\tau\beta\gamma)ijk + \varepsilon ijk$ . Where,  $\mu$  is a constant;  $\tau i$ ,  $\beta j$  and  $\gamma k$  and  $\varepsilon i j k$  were the factors considered in the model (The block effects, soil textural type, soil depth, *Aspilia* vegetation cover and inoculation respectively).  $(\tau\gamma)ik$ ,  $(\beta\gamma)jk$  and  $(\tau\beta\gamma)ijk$  are interaction effect among the factors. SAS edition 9.2 was used to compute the variables. Differences in the treatment means was separated using least significant difference (LSD) at p≤0.05. Physico-chemical data was similarly analysed.

#### 3.3.2 Molecular data

Illumina sequencing platform was used on total *Aspilia pluriseta* rhizosphere genome soil. A script optimizer analysed sequences for high-throughput data. De novo operational taxonomic units (OTUs) clustering was done using standard UCLUST method with the default settings as implemented in QIIME pipeline Version 1.8.0 at 97% similarity level. Taxonomy was assigned to each OTU using BLASTn against SILVA SSU Reference 119 database at default e-value threshold of 0.001 in QIIME. Data was analysed using R programming software.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### RESULTS

#### 4.1 Overview of the results

The study investigated mycorrhiza fungi in the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta and their influence on growth and availability of phosphorus to gadam sorghum plants. The results showed that spore counts varied significantly among soil textural types, sample locations and soil depth with sandy loam soil textural type having the highest spore counts. The results also showed that spore count decreased significantly with the depth of soil along the rhizosphere with the intensity of mycorrhiza spore morphotypes significantly higher for soils whose vegetation was covered with Aspilia pluriseta than those without. Results from taxonomic analysis revealed that there was fungal richness along the plant's rhizosphere with the genera Glomus being the most prevalent in all tested soil depths. Further, the results showed that all growth parameters were enhanced in both mycorrhiza fungi inoculated gadam sorghum seeds and in pots whose soils were taken from the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta plants and that growth attributes had a positive correlation to yield at 95% confidence level. The results also showed that soil phosphate level was enhanced where seed inoculation with mycorrhiza was done and in soils previously grown Aspilia pluriseta vegetation.

# 4.2 Effects of co-association of mycorrhiza and *Aspilia pluriseta* on growth and phosphorus availability to gadam sorghum crop

## 4.2.1 Seedling emergence and plant count growth parameter

The response of gadam sorghum plant to test factors for the first 35 days on the crop's emergence and stand count was as presented in Table 4.1.

	University of Em	ibu		C	
Factor	SC 7	SC 14	SC 21	SC 28	SC 35
Silty Clay	83.3b	83.3b	83.3b	84.4b	82.3b
Silt Loam	96.9a	96.9a	94.8a	94.8a	94.8a
Sandy Loam	90.2ab	90.2ab	90.2ab	90.2ab	90.2a
LSD	7.2	7.2	7.6	7.6	7.8
Block 1	83.3b	83.3b	83.3b	84.7b	81.9b
Block 2	91.7ab	91.7ab	91.7ab	91.7ab	91.7a
Block 3	98.6a	98.6a	95.8a	95.8a	95.8a
Block 4	86.9b	86.9b	86.9b	86.9b	86.9ab
LSD	8.3	8.3	8.7	8.8	9
NoAp	83.8b	83.8b	83.8b	84.4b	83.1b
Ар	96.5a	96.5a	95.1a	95.1a	95.1a
LSD	5.9	5.9	6.2	6.2	6.3
0-20 cm	95.8a	95.8a	95.8a	95.8a	95.8a
21-40 cm	90.6ab	90.6ab	90.6a	90.6a	90.6a
41-60 cm	84.0b	84.0b	81.9b	82.9b	80.8b
LSD	7.2	7.2	7.6	7.6	7.8
SOi	83.8b	83.8b	83.8b	84.4b	83.1b
SNi	96.5a	96.5a	95.1a	95.1a	95.1a
LSD	5.9	5.9	6.2	6.2	6.3
Mean	90.1	90.1	89.4	89.8	89.1
p-value	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.0002	<.0001
<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2
Co. Variatio	<b>n</b> 19.6	19.9	20.9	21.0	21.6
<b>Root MSE</b>	17.9	17.9	18.7	18.9	19.2

Table 4.1Response of seedling emergence and plant count on the test factors<br/>for the first 35 days of sorghum growth in the greenhouse at the<br/>University of Embu

Values followed by the same letter within the column are not significantly different from each other at  $p \le 0.05$  (LSD test).

KEY: SC7-Plant count day (7, 14, 21, 28 & 35 are days after planting); LSD-Least significance difference; NoAp-Soils without *Aspilia pluriseta;* Ap-Aspilia

*pluriseta* soils; SOi-gadam sorghum seeds not inoculated; SNi-Sorghum seeds inoculated.

Results indicated that within the first 35 days of gadam sorghum plants' growth in the controlled greenhouse environment, sorghum plants in the silt loam textural soil type exhibited the highest seed emergence and stand count. It can be observed that soil textural type influenced gadam sorghum seeds emergence. Greater seedling emergence was experienced in silt loams at 97% germination within the first seven days. Results show that seeds planted in silty clay soils had the lowest seedling emergence in the first week and subsequently lower plant population over time. The crop stand (plant population) from pots in silty clay soil differed significantly at  $p \le 0.05$  with those from silt loam (Table 4.1). Further analysis on the interaction between test factors that could affect emergence and stand count parameter revealed that there was interaction between soil textural type, presence or absence of Aspilia and soil depth but this interaction was not significant at  $p \le 0.05$  (Apendix 5). All other factors had no interaction. There was more seedling emergence and plant count in the top soil, 0-20 cm compared to others (Table 4.1). From the results, seed emergence was highest in soils that had Aspilia pluriseta compared to those without and this difference was significant at  $p \le 0.05$ . The percentage sorghum seed that emerged and the subsequent plant count for the inoculated seed was significantly higher than the seed that came from un-inoculated pots.



Figure 4.1. Percentage sorghum seedling emergence and stand count over time in the greenhouse at the University of Embu

Results of sorghum seedling emergence and stand count in the greenhouse indicate that gadam seedling emergence and early growth were highest in soils that had *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation (Figure 4.1) with 96.5% seedling emergence and early growth in the first week differing significantly at p $\leq$ 0.05 with seeds planted in soils that were not previously growing *Aspilia pluriseta*. Figure 4.1 also demonstrates that the crop's establishment was almost maintained in soils with *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation compared to those without this type of vegetation.

Results presented in Figure 4.2 show that gadam sorghum seeds that were inoculated with soils inhabited by *Aspilia pluriseta* had better seedling emergence and improved seedling survival over time.



Figure 4.2. Gadam sorghum emergence and stand count for inoculated and uninoculated seedlings grown at the greenhouse in the University of Embu

Figure 4.2 shows that the inoculated gadam sorghum seeds had higher percent seedling emergence and stand count (establishment) compared to the un-inoculated. Aggregate gadam crop establishment was higher in inoculated sorghum seeds than in seeds that were not inoculated.

# 4.2.2 Sorghum plant height growth parameter

Results on table 4.2 show the response of plant height on the test factors of the experimental set up at the greenhouse.

	days of sorghun	n growth in th	ne greenhouse	e at the Unive	ersity of Embu
Factor	H7	H14	H21	H28	H35
Silty Clay	6.2a	19.3a	48.3a	94.7a	113.6a
Silt Loam	6.3a	19.1a	46.9a	93.4a	119.1a
Sandy Loam	5.2b	16.0b	39.1b	72.3b	100.5b
LSD	0.6	1.8	3.6	6.5	5.5
Block 1	6.2ab	19.6a	48.8a	96.9a	114.6a
Block 2	6.7a	19.5a	48.4ab	90.8ab	115.0a
Block 3	5.7b	17.7a	44.3b	86.0b	115.5a
Block 4	5.0c	15.7b	37.6c	73.4c	99.1b
LSD	0.7	2	4.2	7.5	6.3
NoAp	5.3b	17.1b	43.6a	84.2a	112.5a
Ар	6.5a	19.1a	45.9a	89.3a	109.6a
LSD	0.5	1.4	3	5.3	4.5
0-20 cm	7.1a	20.8a	50.5a	93.7a	115.9a
21-40 cm	5.8b	18.2b	44.0b	84.2b	109.0b
41-60 cm	4.8c	15.4c	39.7c	82.4b	108.3b
LSD	0.6	1.8	3.6	6.5	5.5
SOi	5.3b	17.1b	43.6a	84.2a	112.5a
SNi	6.5a	19.1a	45.9a	89.3a	109.6a
LSD	0.5	1.4	3	5.3	4.5
Mean	5.9	18.1	44.8	86.8	111.1
p-value	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001
$\mathbf{R}^2$	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.3
Co. Variation	<b>n</b> 24.4	24.2	20.0	18.6	12.2
<b>Root MSE</b>	1.4	4.4	9.0	16.1	13.4

Table 4.2Response of sorghum plant height on the test factors for the first 35<br/>days of sorghum growth in the greenhouse at the University of Embu

Values followed by the same letter within the column are not significantly different from each other at  $p \le 0.05$  (LSD test).

KEY: H7-Plant height in centimetres (7, 14, 21, 28 & 35 are days after planting); LSD-Least significance difference; NoAp-Soils without Aspilia pluriseta; Ap-Aspilia pluriseta soils; SOi-gadam sorghum seeds not inoculated; SNi-Sorghum seeds inoculated. From the results, it was noted that the plant height in silty clay and silt loam was higher compared to that of sandy loam in the first 35 days of crop's growth. This difference was significant at  $p \le 0.05$ .

Sorghum plants grown in soils formerly grown *Aspilia pluriseta* attained higher growth heights per unit time compared to plants that were grown in soils devoid of this vegetation cover (Table 4.2). Differences in plant height means between the two treatments was significant at p $\leq$ 0.05 through out the period of growth (Table 4.2 and Appendix 4).

Sorghum plants attained higher plant height in pots with top soil (0-20 cm) compared to the crop planted with either the sub soil or the bottom soils and this difference was significant at p $\leq$ 0.05. Means of plant height (cm) for sorghum plants in soils that had inoculated seed were higher and significantly different at p $\leq$ 0.05 from those that were not inoculated (Table 4.2). The model used showed interaction between soil textural type, presence or absence of *Aspilia* and soil depth but this interaction was not significant at p $\leq$ 0.05. All other factors had no interaction effects (Apendix 5).

Figure 4.3 is a simulated polynomial model showing that gadam sorghum plants attained higher heights at maturity in pots whose soil was from *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetated areas.



Figure 4.3. Growth in height of gadam sorghum in the greenhouse at the University of Embu estimated through a polynomial function

From the results presented it can be observed that the average height of sorghum plant was 124 cm at physiological maturity (Figure 4.3). Although both growth curves were normal, the curve with soils where *Aspilia pluriseta* previously grew peaked higher.

There was observable difference in the height of sorghum seedlings between those that were established from inoculated seeds compared to those that were not. Sorghum seedlins that were grown from seeds that were inoculated were taller and had given an inflorescent. This applied also to pots from *Aspilia* sites.



Plate 4.1. Height of potted gadam sorghum plants under different treatments in the greenhouse at the University of Embu

## 4.2.3 Sorghum plant number of leaves growth parameter

Results given in Table 4.3 indicate the number of leaves per plant of sorghum in response to the test factors of the experimental set up at the greenhouse.

Table 4.3Gadam sorghum number of leaves variation per plant on the test<br/>factors for the first 35 days of sorghum growth in the greenhouse at<br/>the University of Embu

Factor	NL7	NL14	NL21	NL28	NL35
Silty Clay	1.9b	2.7a	2.9a	3.1a	3.6a
Silt Loam	1.9ab	2.8a	3.0a	3.0a	3.7a
Sandy Loam	2.0a	2.8a	2.8b	3.1a	3.5a
LSD	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2
Block 1	1.8b	2.8ab	3.0a	3.1a	3.6bc
Block 2	2.0a	2.7b	2.9a	3.0b	3.7ab
Block 3	2.0a	2.9a	3.0a	3.1a	3.8a
Block 4	1.9ab	2.7b	2.8b	3.0b	3.4c
LSD	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2
NoAp	1.9b	2.7a	2.9a	3.0a	3.6a
Ар	2.0a	2.8a	2.9a	3.1a	3.6a
LSD	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
0-20 cm	2.1a	2.9a	3.0a	3.2a	3.8a
21-40 cm	1.8b	2.9a	3.0a	3.0b	3.5b
41-60 cm	1.8b	2.4b	2.8b	3.0b	3.4b
LSD	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2
SOi	1.9b	2.7a	2.9a	3.0b	3.6a
SNi	2.0a	2.8a	2.9a	3.1a	3.6a
LSD	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Mean	1.9	2.7	2.9	3	3.6
p-value	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2
Co. Variation	19.6	13.6	8.5	7.2	12.2
Root MSE	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.4

Values followed by the same letter within the column are not significantly different from each other at  $p \le 0.05$  (LSD test).

KEY: NL7-Number of leaves (7, 14, 21, 28 & 35 are days after planting); LSD-Least significance difference; NoAp-Soils without *Aspilia pluriseta;* Ap-*Aspilia pluriseta* soils; SOi-gadam sorghum seeds not inoculated; SNi-Sorghum seeds inoculated.

Table 4.3 potrays that there was no significant difference in the means of the number of leaves attained after 35 days of planting except in the first week of crop's growth for the soil textural types. The table also shows that the number of leaves did not differ significantly at p $\leq$ 0.05 for soils with *Aspilia pluriseta* and those without except for the first week of growth. However, the number of leaves in pots that were inoculated differed from those not inoculated in the first and fourth week of crop's growth at p $\leq$ 0.05.

# 4.2.4 Sorghum plant leaf length growth parameter

The average leaf length of gadam sorghum crop in response to test factors is given in Table 4.4. The difference in leaf length growth of sorghum in silt clay pots compared to other soil textural types was significant at  $p \le 0.05$  in the first three weeks (Table 4.4).

Univer	sity of Embu	1	0	0	
Factor	LL7	LL14	LL21	LL28	LL35
Silty Clay	5.4a	15.8a	37.1a	74.4a	93.7a
Silt Loam	4.5b	12.8b	30.7b	69.2a	93.7a
Sandy Loam	3.8c	10.9c	25.5c	48.2b	74.0b
LSD	0.5	1.6	3.7	7.6	5.5
Block 1	5.3a	15.6a	37.5a	76.0a	91.2ab
Block 2	4.9ab	14.9a	33.1b	69.3a	96.9a
Block 3	4.3b	11.7b	28.6b	59.9b	87.0b
Block 4	3.6c	10.5b	25.2c	50.6c	73.5c
LSD	0.6	1.9	4.3	8.8	6.3
NoAp	4.3b	12.8a	31.0a	61.8a	88.9a
Ар	4.8a	13.6a	31.2a	66.1a	85.4a
LSD	0.4	1.3	3	6.2	4.5
0-20 cm	5.4a	15.6a	35.8a	70.9a	89.3a
21-40 cm	4.1b	12.0b	27.8b	57.8b	84.0a
41-60 cm	4.1b	11.9b	29.7b	63.2b	88.1a
LSD	0.5	1.6	3.7	7.6	5.5
SOi	4.3b	12.8a	31.0a	61.8a	88.9a
SNi	4.8a	13.6a	31.2a	66.1a	88.4a
LSD	0.4	1.3	3	6.2	4.5
Mean	4.5	13.2	31.1	64	87.1
p-value	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001
<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4
Co. Variation	29.1	30.8	29.7	29.5	15.5
<b>Root MSE</b>	1.3	4.1	9.2	18.9	13.5

Table 4.4Response of gadam sorghum average leaf length on the test factors for<br/>the first 35 days of sorghum growth in the greenhouse at the<br/>University of Embu

Values followed by the same letter within the column are not significantly different from each other at  $p \le 0.05$  (LSD test).

KEY: LL7-Leaf length, in centimetres (7, 14, 21, 28 & 35 are days after planting); LSD-Least significance difference; NoAp-Soils without Aspilia pluriseta; Ap-Aspilia pluriseta soils; SOi-gadam sorghum seeds not inoculated; SNi-Sorghum seeds inoculated. Sorghum leaf length growth was significantly different at  $p \le 0.05$  for top soils (0-20 cm) compared to either the sub soil (21-40 cm) or the bottom soil (41-60 cm). In pots with *Aspilia* soils the mean was significantly different with pots that did not have *Aspilia* in the first one week of growth. A similar scenario was witnessed in pots whose seed ws inoculated compare to pots whose seed was not.

# 4.2.5 Changes in pH, phosphorus and phosphate levels before and after gadam sorghum harvest

Change in the level of soil pH, soil phosphorus and phosphates as a result of soil textural treatment factor is presented in Table 4.5.

Table 4.5Changes in soil pH, phosphates and phosphorus before and after<br/>harvesting gadam sorghum in the greenhouse at the University of<br/>Embu

Factor	pH1	pH2	Phos1	Phos2	Phr1	Phr2
Silty Clay	6.3a	6.2a	96.2a	96.8a	25.7a	24.2a
Silt Loam	6b	5.9b	76.9a	78.9a	33.5a	32.8a
Sandy Loam	6.3a	6.1a	80.8a	80.3a	35.3a	34.5a
LSD	0.2	0.2	39.2	39.6	15.8	15.9
NoAp	6.3a	6.2a	65.6b	63.3b	31.8a	31a
Ар	6b	5.9b	103.6a	107.7a	31.2a	30a
LSD	0.2	0.2	32	32.3	12.9	13
0-20 cm	6.4a	6.3a	108.6a	108.4a	40.3a	39a
21-40 cm	6.1b	5.9b	65.3b	67.3b	28.5a	27.8a
41-60 cm	6.1b	6b	80ab	80.8ba	25.7a	24.7a
LSD	0.2	0.2	39.2	39.6	15.8	15.9
Mean	6.2	6.1	84.6	85.5	31.5	30.5
p-value	0.0007	0.0029	0.0675	0.0511	0.327	0.3252
<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	0.8	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.4	0.4
Co. Variation	2.6	2.6	36.8	36.8	40	41.5
<b>Root MSE</b>	0.2	0.2	31.2	31.5	12.6	12.7

Values followed by the same letter within the column and along the rows are not significantly different from each other at  $p \le 0.05$  (LSD test).

**Key:** pH1- Initial soil pH; pH2-pH one week after harvesting; Phos1-Initial soil phosphates in ppm; Phos2-Soil phosphates in ppm one week after harvesting; Phr1-Initial soil phosphorus in ppm; Phr2-Soil phosphorus in ppm one week after harvesting; Ap-*Aspilia pluriseta*; NoAP-Without *Aspilia pluriseta* 

Results obtained and presented in Table 4.5 indicate that silty clay and sandy loam soils did not show any significant difference in pH, but were significantly different compared to the silt loam at p $\leq$ 0.05. After growing sorghum, the pH and phosphorus reduced in all the soils while phosphate levels increased (Table 4.5).

Results presented in Table 4.5 show that phosphate levels in soils grown with *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation were higher compared to soils without this vegetation. Soil pH was correspondingly lower in those areas where soil was sampled in *Aspilia pluriseta* plots. The calculated phosphate linear regression eaquation was  $P_2O_4 = 78.555 + 18.42B + 20.914S - 27.967L - 15.07D$  where,

B= the block effects,

S= Effects of soil textural type

L=Effects of location, whether soils were from *Aspilia* vegetation cover or not D=Effects of soil depth (0-20 cm; 21-40 cm & 41-60 cm)

The observed results in Table 4.5 also depict that the pH, phosphates and phosphorus were generally higher in soil depth 1 (0-20 cm) compared to the lower soil depths both before and after planting sorghum. However, there were significant differences in pH and phosphates at p $\leq$ 0.05 for soils in depth 1 compared to depth two and depth three. The pH level was higher in soils of depth one even in the second experiment where *Aspilia pluriseta* was grown in the pots and later cut back (Table 4.6).

Ellibu.						
Factor	pН	<b>P2O4</b>	SM	Ν	Р	SOM
Gakurungu	5.7ba	70ba	17.3a	0.04b	22.2a	8.0a
Tunyai	6.3a	91ba	17b	0.05b	30.8a	17b
Kanyuambora	5.8b	109a	17.5a	0.11a	33.9a	17.5a
LSD	0.6	27	0.3	0.02	18.9	1
Silt clay	6.2a	87.1a	18.9a	0.06a	22.9a	10.9a
Silt loam	5.8ba	99.3a	18.1b	0.08a	33.9a	10.0a
Sandy loam	5.7b	54.9a	14.9c	0.07a	30.0a	7.3b
LSD	0.4	45.1	0.3	0.03	14.9	2.2
With Aspilia	5.8a	99.0a	17.6a	0.07a	31.4a	11.0a
Without Aspilia	5.9a	64.8b	17.0b	0.07a	26.5a	7.7b
LSD	0.5	28.1	0.2	0.02	12.2	1.8
Depth 1 (0-20 cm)	6.1a	77.4a	17.3a	0.09a	37.3a	9.7a
Depth 2 (21-40 cm)	5.7a	73.9a	17.4a	0.07ba	26.2a	8.2a
Depth 3 (41-60 cm)	5.8a	94.5a	17.2a	0.05b	23.4a	10.1a
LSD	0.4	28.3	0.3	0.03	14.9	2.2

Table 4.6:Physico-chemical parameters in the soil after growin sorghum in the pots earlier planted *Aspilia pluriseta* in the greenhouse at the University of

Values followed by the same letter within the column are not significantly different from each other at  $p \le 0.05$  (LSD test).

Key: pH-Level of acidity; MF-Mycorrhiza fungi; P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>-Phosphates; SM-Soil moisture; N-Nitrogen; P-Phosphorus; SOM-Soil organic matter

Table 4.6 potrays that even though the values are not significant, the pH values in *Aspilia pluriseta* soils was lower than in soils without. Soils originally sourced from Kanyuambora had more phosphates, soil moisture, Nitrogen content and soil organic. Silty clays had higher pH, soil moisture and soil organic matter content compared to the other soils.

Mycorrhizal infectivity potential of *Aspilia pluriseta* is shown in Table 4.7. The table shows readings observed through a compound microscope for 30 pieces of *Aspilia pluriseta* roots, each 1 cm showing the level of arbuscules, vesicles and total colonization as guided by Trouvelot *et al.* (1986). Results show that only one slide had zero total mycorrhiza colonization while three slides had five out of a possible mycorrhiza colonization scale of five. Twenty slides had more than three scores on a total scoring matrix of five. From these results the calculated mycorrhizal root colonization percentage (F %) in *Aspilia pluriseta* shrub using Mycocalc application software was 96.7% while the intensity of the mycorrhizal colonization in the root

system (M) was 42.2%. The intensity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) colonization in the root fragments (m) was 43.6%, the arbuscule abundance in mycorrhizal parts of root fragments (a) was 56.1% and arbuscules abundance in the root system (A) was 23.7%.

Slide number	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30
M (Total colonization)	3	2	4	3	2	3	4	2	4	5	2	5	4	2	3	3	4	4	4	4	4	5	4	3	3	2	2	0	2	2
A (Arbuscules)	1	1	3	2	2	2	3	2	3	2	0	3	1	1	3	3	2	3	2	2	1	0	2	2	1	2	1	0	1	1
V (Vesicles)	0	0	0	3	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 4.7Aspilia pluriseta mycorrhiza fungi root colonization for samples taken from Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora

Recorded values of total colonization (M), arbuscules (A) and Vesicles (V) were exported to Mycocalc application software

Mycorrhizal species from molecular analysis indicating their relative populations in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* in the selected locations of study are as shown in Table 4.8.

	Spec	ies count	in Ap	Spee	cies coun	t in
Species identified	rhiz	zosphere	soils	adjace	nt non A	p soils
	$d_1$	$d_2$	d <sub>3</sub>	d <sub>1</sub>	$d_2$	d <sub>3</sub>
Septoglomus funneliformis constrictum	1312	479	119	423	147	56
Aspergillus oryzae	4	0	0	16	8	3
Limacella glischra	0	6	0	0	0	0
Malassezia restricta	0	0	9	0	0	0
Archaeospora trappei	0	0	8	0	0	0
Glomus sp.	61282	34879	20750	343	259	160
Glomus indicum	430	374	11	12	9	1
Rhizophagus glomus proliferum	876	20	13	5	0	0
Penicillium herquei	0	0	25	4	6	33
Paraglomus laccatum	3411	65	49	121	20	9
Diversispora celata	1101	33	25	19	5	2
Septoglomus glomus viscosum	14408	3477	870	146	37	12
Geranomyces variabilis	0	0	36	0	0	0
Diversispora glomus eburneum	19	2	1	0	0	0
Aspergillus cervinus	20	1	0	2	1	0
Rhizoctonia solani	15	1	0	0	0	0
Crepidotus applanatus	57	2	1	7	7	0
Ambispora sp.	11	0	0	0	0	0
Pachyella clypeata	39	1	0	0	0	0
Conocybe apala	5	5	0	0	0	0
Hortaea werneckii	29	1	0	0	0	0
Ambispora gerdemannii	376	9	2	3	1	0
Cladosporium cladosporioides	0	0	4	0	0	0
Minutisphaera fimbriatispora	25	15	0	1	0	0
Rhizophlyctis rosea	442	7	4	10	0	0
Hydropus marginellus	3	1	0	3	1	0
Funneliformis mosseae	394	340	248	5	1	1
Rhizophagus intraradices	6139	2090	141	33	12	4
Ramularia mycosphaerella punctiformis	0	0	3	0	0	0
Paraglomus occultum	119	3	3	9	1	0
Diversispora aurantia	4	1	0	0	0	0
Archaeorhizomyces sp.	2	1	0	0	0	0
Rhizophagus glomus iranicum	50	48	0	3	0	0
Mortierella hyaline	4	3	0	0	0	0
Sclerocystis glomus sinuosum	1207	1027	167	7	3	2

Table 4. 8Mycorrhiza fungal species and populations in the rhizosphere of<br/>*Aspilia pluriseta*, from soils in Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora

Next-generation sequencing results from soil and rootlets samples, species count; d<sub>1</sub> (0-20 cm); d<sub>2</sub> (21-40 cm); d<sub>3</sub> (41-60 cm); *Ap-Aspilia pluriseta* 

From the results of molecular work, 35 arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal species were recorded from the rhizosphere where *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation grew. Species

composition and diversity varied along the rhizosphere with more abundance in depth 1 (0-20 cm). *Archaeospora trappei* mycorrhizal fungi dominated the lower rhizosphere zone (depth 3, 41-60 cm). *Glomus sp* was the most abundant in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* shrub.

# 4.3 Intensity of MF in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* across the main soil textural types

Table 4.9 shows the number of mycorrhizal spores in the sampling sites for different soil textural types. The results of the three tested soil textural types (silty clay, silt loam and sandy loam) showed that proliferation of mycorrhizal fungal spores was different among the soil types (Table 4.9). Sandy loam had the highest spore counts in 10g of soil. However, the spore counts in sandy loam soil did not vary significantly with those of silt loam soil at p≤0.05 but differed significantly with spore counts in silty clay soil.

Table 4. 9Number of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi spores in different sampling<br/>sites for soil textural types at Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora

Sites	Sandy loam	Silt loam	Silty clay	LSD
Gakũrũngũ	394.0 <sup>a</sup>	299.0 <sup>a</sup>	224.5 <sup>b</sup>	153.2
Tunyai	377.3 <sup>a</sup>	343.3 <sup>a</sup>	265.0 <sup>b</sup>	75.3
Kanyuambora	441.3 <sup>a</sup>	348.3 <sup>a</sup>	292.7 <sup>b</sup>	103.9

Values followed by the same superscript letter within the row are not significantly different from each other at  $p \le 0.05$  (LSD test).

Figure 4.4 shows the number of mycorrhizal fungal spores in the tested sites in locations with *Aspilia* compared to those sites where *Aspilia* vegetation was not previously growing. The results show that mycorrhizal spores were more in soils with *Aspilia* compared to those without *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation previously growing and that the difference was significant at  $p \le 0.05$  (Figure 4.4).



Sample sites with Aspilia pluriseta Sample sites without Aspilia pluriseta

Figure 4.4 Arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi spore counts in Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora soils with *Aspilia pluriseta* compared to those without. Letters represent LSD error bars

The number of mycorrhizal fungal spores in different rhizosphere depths of *Aspilia pluriseta* at Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora is shown in Table 4.10.

Tunyai and Kanyuambora										
Site	Depth 1	Depth 2	Depth 3	LCD						
	(0-20 cm)	(21-40 cm)	(41-60 cm)	LSD						
Gakũrũngũ	509.50 <sup>a</sup>	253.33 <sup>b</sup>	154.67 <sup>b</sup>	153.2						
Tunyai	508.00 <sup>a</sup>	296.67 <sup>b</sup>	181.00 <sup>c</sup>	75.3						
Kanyuombora	524.00 <sup>a</sup>	338.67 <sup>b</sup>	219.67 <sup>c</sup>	103.9						

Table 4.10	Number of mycorrhiza s	spores in	different	soil de	epths in	Gakurungu,
	Tunyai and Kanyuambor	ra				

Values followed by the same superscript letter within the row are not significantly different from each other at  $p \le 0.05$  (LSD test).

From the results, it was observed that the number of spores varied along the plant's rhizosphere with soil depth 1 (0-20 cm) having more spores per 10g of soil compared to depth 2 and 3 (21-40 cm and 41-60 cm respectively). Spore counts in soil depths at Tunyai and Kanyuombora varied significantly at  $p \le 0.05$  but spore count variation at Gakurungu site did not for soil depth 2 and 3 (Table 4.10).

Table 4.11 show the interaction between the various treatments for soil samples that were experimented. Results indicated that the treatment combination that gave the highest number of spore counts was sandy loam soil at depth 1 (0-20 cm) with *Aspilia* vegetation previously growing on the soil at  $784\pm6.1$  spore counts (Table 4.11)

Table 4.11Interaction among treatments on soil samples taken at Gakurungu,<br/>Tunyai and Kanyuambora (n=3)

Soil textural type	Soil depth	Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi spore					
	(cm)	counts					
		With Aspilia	Without Aspilia				
		pluriseta	pluriseta				
Sandy loam	0-20 cm	784±6.1	592±3.6				
Sandy loam	21-40 cm	$448 \pm 4.4$	336±4.4				
Sandy loam	41-60 cm	304±2	$184 \pm 3.6$				
Silt loam	0-20 cm	480±3.5	416±7.2				
Silt loam	21-40 cm	$368 \pm 4.4$	384±3.6				
Silt loam	41-60 cm	256±5.6	186±3.6				
Silty clay	0-20 cm	592±4.4	280±3.6				
Silty clay	21-40 cm	320±3.6	$176 \pm 2.6$				
Silty clay	41-60 cm	$208 \pm 2.6$	$180 \pm 4.4$				

#### 4.4 Genetic diversity of fungi within the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta

# 4.4.1 Physico-chemical information on soil rhizosphere depths in the study sites

The physico-chemical characteristics of rhizosphere soils for the three soil depths are as shown in Tables 4.12a, b and c.

Site	Soil textural type	Physico-chemical attributes							
		рН	MF Counts /10 g soil sample	$P_2O_4$ (ppm)	SM %	N%	P (ppm)	OM%	Soil Temp (°C)
Gakurungu	Sandy loam	6.4	960	48.1	6.0	0.2	21	2	25.8
	Silt loam	5.9	720	57.3	6.9	0.0	25	3.7	25.5
	Silty clay	6	413	120.2	10.8	0.2	52.5	2.3	25.4
	Sandy loam	6.2	688	41.2	8.6	0.2	18	3.0	25.7
Tunyai	Silt loam	6.3	640	177.5	12.4	0.2	77.5	3.9	25.4
	Silty clay	6.7	448	65.1	13.2	0.1	20.5	5	25.3
Kanyuambora	Sandy loam	6.1	784	89.3	6.1	0.2	39	1.3	25.5
	Silt loam	5.7	480	81.3	8.1	0.2	35.5	2.2	25.3
	Silty clay	5.9	592	76.7	7.2	0.2	33.5	1.3	25.4
Average		6.1	636	84.1	8.8	0.2	35.8	2.7	25.5

 Table 4.12a
 Aspilia rhizosphere soil depth1 (0-20 cm) physico-chemical parameters in Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora

Key: MF-Mycorrhizal fungi; P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-Soil phosphates; SM-Soil moisture; N-Nitrogen; P-Phosphorus; OM-Soil organic matter

Site	Soil textural	Physico-chemical attributes							
	type	pН	MF Counts /10 g soil sample	$P_2O_4$ (ppm)	SM %	N%	P (ppm)	OM%	Soil Temp (°C)
	Sandy loam	6.7	376	25.2	6.2	0.2	11	1.8	25.6
Gakurungu	Silt loam	5.7	440	65.3	3.3	0.1	28.5	3.5	25.4
	Silty clay	5	224	25.2	9.9	0.1	11	2.1	25.3
Tunyai	Sandy loam	5.7	336	80.2	10.4	0.1	35	3.2	25.5
	Silt loam	5.8	368	64.1	12.9	0.1	28	3.7	25.3
	Silty clay	7.4	296	80.2	12.5	0.1	35	5.4	25.1
Kanyuambora	Sandy loam	6.1	448	61.8	9.4	0.2	27	2.1	25.4
	Silt loam	4.7	368	208.4	7.7	0.0	91	2.8	25.3
	Silty clay	5.8	320	47.0	9.8	0.1	20.5	1.4	25.3
Average		5.9	353	73	9.1	0.1	31.9	2.8	25.4

Table 4.12b Aspilia rhizosphere soil depth<sub>2</sub> (21-40 cm) physico-chemical parameters in Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora

Key: MF-Mycorrhizal fungi; P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-Soil phosphates; SM-Soil moisture; N-Nitrogen; P-Phosphorus; OM-Soil organic matter

Site	Soil textural type	Physico-chemical attributes							
		pН	MF Counts /10 g soil sample	$P_2O_4$ (ppm)	SM %	N%	P (ppm)	OM%	Soil Temp (°C)
Gakurungu	Sandy loam	6.6	208	53.8	6.5	0.2	23.5	1.9	25.5
	Silt loam	6	284	50.4	5.2	0.1	22	2.6	25.3
	Silty clay	5	160	246.8	7.2	0.1	10.2	1.7	25.1
Tunyai	Sandy loam	5.6	296	73.3	7.0	0.1	32	2.9	25.4
	Silt loam	5.9	200	95.04	15.8	0.0	41.5	4.8	25.2
	Silty clay	8	160	44.7	12.6	0.1	19.5	5.3	25.0
Kanyuambora	Sandy loam	6.6	304	90.5	7.2	0.0	39.5	1.3	25.3
	Silt loam	5.4	256	19.5	7.5	0.1	8.5	3.1	25.2
	Silty clay	4.8	208	81.3	8.1	0.1	35.5	1.9	25.1
Average		6	231	83.9	8.6	0.1	25.8	2.8	25.2

Table 4.12c Aspilia rhizosphere soil depth<sub>3</sub> (41-60 cm) physico-chemical parameters in Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora

Key: MF-Mycorrhizal fungi; P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>-Soil phosphates; SM-Soil moisture; N-Nitrogen; P-Phosphorus; OM-Soil organic matter
From the results, it was observed that soil pH for the three studied depths was slightly acidic with a range from 5.9-6.1 (Table 4.12a, 4.12b & 4.12c). The middle depth (21-40 cm, Table 4.12b) appeared more acidic with a pH of 5.9 compared to 6.1 and 6.0 in the first and third soil depth respectively. There was more organic matter content in depth two at 9.1% compared to 8.8% and 8.6% for depth one and depth three respectively. Soil temperatures declined with increasing rhizosphere depth from 25.5°C in depth one to 25.4°C and 25.2°C in depth two and three respectively. Mycorrhizal fungi (MF) spore counts along the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* plant had an inverse relationship to soil depth with the top soil, depth one having an average 636 spores (Table 4.12a) per 10g of the sample soil tested compared to 353 (Table 4.12b) in depth two and 231 spores (Table 4.12c) in depth three.

#### 4.4.2 Fungal communities in the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta

Figure 4.5 show the distribution of unique and shared operational taxonomic units (OTUs) of the samples taken at Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora.



Figure 4.5 Distribution of unique and shared OTUs from soil samples taken at Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora.

From the results of BLASTn using SILVA SSU Reference 119 database, 373 fungal operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were obtained, and all matched with accessions in SILVA database. Out of the 373 OTUs, 323 were of fungal origin and spread in 5

phyla; Glomeromycota, Basidiomycota, Chytridiomycota, Ascomycota and an unknown fungal phylum.

The observed results indicated that  $MC2_a$  consisting of rhizosphere soil depth 21-40 cm had a higher overall number of OTUs (283) compared to MC1a (0-20 cm) and  $MC3_a$  (41-60 cm) with 262 and 265 overall OTUs respectively. One hundred and sixty OTUs were shared among all sample types (Figure 4.6).

Figure 4.6 show the relative abundance of the predominant fungal genera in soil samples collected from the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* in the study sites.



Figure 4.6 Heat map showing the levels of fungal genera in the three *Aspilia pluriseta* rhizosphere depths in Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora

From the results, it was observed that fungal phylum Glomeromycota was more abundant in rhizosphere depth one (0-20 cm) with 232 OTUs compared to depth two (21-40 cm) and depth three (41-60 cm) which had 229 and 213 OTUs respectively. This phylum was represented by most genera as shown in Figure 4.6. The results also

depict the dominant species in the rhizosphere as *Glomus sp* and *Paraglomus laccatum*.

Figure 4.7 shows the relationship existing between the sample size sequenced and the operational taxonomic units in the tested soil samples.



Figure 4.7 Relationships between the sample size sequenced and operational taxonomic units in the tested soil samples of Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora

Results obtained from hierarchical clustering between samples collected from the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* indicated that samples from the second and third studied soil levels (21-60 cm) to be closer than from the sample in the first soil level, 0-20 cm (Figure 4.7). From the results obtained, it was observable that it was easier to obtain OTUs from smaller sample sizes in soil depth 2 (MC2a) than in MC1a (soil depth 1) as the latter required larger soil samples to obtain equivalent number of OTUs (Figure 4.7).

#### 4.4.3 Fungal richness and diversity indices

Table 4.13 gives a computation of diversity indices from OTU-based taxonomic units.

	11112001		-spine pi		o un un on on ou,	
	Kanyu	ambora				
			Richness			Inverse
	Filtered	Number.	<b>(S)</b>	Evenness	Shannon	Simpson
Sample	sequences	of OTUs		(J)	(H)	(I/D)
MC1a	72,093	283	42	0.0457	2.5	4.8
MC2a	50,539	262	58	0.0978	3.3	12.8
MC3a	43,596	265	62	0.0711	2.9	7.3
Totals	166,228	323	162			

Table 4.13Indices of diversity for OTU-based fungal taxonomic units from the<br/>rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta at Gakurungu, Tunyai and<br/>Kanyuambara

Results obtained showed that the index by Richness (S) estimated the rhizosphere depth MC3a (41-60 cm) to be the richest site, constituting 62 taxa while MC2a (21-40 cm) and MC1a (0-20 cm) had 58 and 42 taxa respectively. Evenness (J') values ranged soil samples from the three soil depths from 0.0457 - 0.0978 (close to 0.1). Soil depth 21-40 cm had the best evenness of species (Table 4.13) and still maintained a higher Simpson (1/D) value at 12.8 compared to soil depth 41-60 cm and 0-20 cm that had 7.3 and 4.8 Simpson values respectively. The Shannon's index (H) value was higher in MC2a (21-40 cm) than in other soil depths, though the degree of variation between the sampled depths was low (H = 2.5–3.3).

Figure 4.8 show hierarchical clustering of DNA samples collected from the rhizosphere depth of *Aspilia pluriseta*. The results show connectivity of distance matrix with threshold dissimilarity of 1 indicating that data of the three samples were connected, hence there were no significant differences in the soil community structure in the samples at 95% level of confidence (p value $\leq 0.05$ ).



Figure 4.8 DNA hierarchical clustering from samples collected in the rhizosphere depth of Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora soils

Table 4.14 shows the response of growth indices for gadam sorghum after six months of growing *Aspilia pluriseta* in pots of different soil textural types. No significant difference among the treatements was observed. The table also indicate that sandy loam textural soil type gave the highest sorghum yields at 15.8 g/1000 grains compared to those in other soil textural types (Table 4.14).

	Soil textural types					
Duration (days)	Silty Clay	Silt Loam	Sandy Loam	LSD		
	Stand count (average No. of plants per pot)					
7	2a	2a	2a	0		
14	1.8b	1.8ba	1.9a	0.1		
21	1.6b	1.8ba	1.9a	0.2		
28	1.6b	1.8ba	1.9a	0.2		
35	1.5b	1.8a	1.9a	0.2		
	Plant eight (a	cm)				
7	3.5b	4.1ba	4.4a	0.7		
14	11.7b	13.7ba	14.8a	2.3		
21	22.2b	26.1ba	28.7a	4.5		
28	42.2b	49.7ba	54.6a	8.6		
35	43.7b	51.5ba	56.6a	9		
	No. of leave	S				
7	1.8b	2a	1.9a	0.1		
14	2.4b	2.6ba	2.7a	0.2		
21	2.5a	2.6a	2.7a	0.3		
28	3.4b	3.7ba	4.1a	0.4		
35	3.6b	4.0ba	4.4a	0.5		
Leaf length (cm)						
7	2.6b	3.1ba	3.3a	0.6		
14	7.0b	8.4ba	8.9a	1.6		
21	16.9b	20.2ba	21.9a	4		
28	32.1b	38.3ba	41.6a	7.5		
35	33.0b	39.4ba	42.8a	7.8		
Total yield (g/1000 grains)	12.2b	14.4ba	15.8a	1.5		

Table 4.14Evaluation of growth indices of gadam sorghum planted six months<br/>after growing Aspilia pluriseta in pots of different soil textural types<br/>from Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora

Values followed by similar letters along the row are not significantly different at  $p \le 0.05$  (LSD test)

Observed results (Table 4.14) show that the initial stand count (plant population) of gadam sorghum in the first one week was not significant at p $\leq$ 0.05 in all the textural soil types. However, in subsequent growth period, indices of all growth parameters showed differences at p $\leq$ 0.05 between silty clay textural soil type on one hand and silt loam and sandy loam soils on the other. Sandy loam soils exhibited the highest growth values for all the tested growth parameters after the first week of growth. The results also indicate that sandy loam textural soil type gave the highest sorghum

yields at 15.8 g/1000 grains compared to those in other soil textural types (Table 4.14).

The response of growth indices for gadam sorghum after six months of growing *Aspilia pluriseta* compared to pots that had not been growing any vegetation is shown in Table 4.15. There was a signifincance difference with *Aspilia* and without *Aspilia* treatment.

	Lo	-	
Duration (days)	With Without		
-	Aspilia	Aspilia	t-test
	Stand count		
7	2.0a	2.0a	0
14	1.9a	1.8a	0.1
21	1.8a	1.8a	0.1
28	1.8a	1.8a	0.1
35	1.8a	1.9a	0.2
	Plant height (cm)		
7	4.3a	3.7b	0.6
14	14.4a	12.5b	1.9
21	27.2a	23.8b	3.7
28	52.4a	45.2b	7
35	54.3a	46.8b	7.3
	No. of leaves		
7	2.0a	1.9b	0.1
14	2.6a	2.5a	0.1
21	2.7a	2.6a	0.2
28	3.8a	3.6a	0.3
35	4.2a	3.8b	0.4
	Leaf length (cm)		
7	3.3a	2.7b	0.5
14	8.8a	7.4b	1.3
21	21.3a	18.0b	3.2
28	1.8a	1.7a	0.2
35	41.5a	35.3a	6.3
Total yield (g/1000 grains)	15.2a	13.1b	2

Table 4.15Comparison of growth indices of gadam sorghum planted 6 months in<br/>pots with Aspilia pluriseta and those without in the greenhouse at the<br/>University of Embu

Values followed by similar letters along the row are not significantly different at p $\leq$ 0.05 (LSD test)

From the results, it was observed that gadam sorghum stand count means were not significantly different at  $p \le 0.05$  between sorghum crop grown in *Aspilia* pots and those that were not for the initial five weeks of growth. However, from the results, plant height differed significantly at the same confidence level in pots with *Aspilia pluriseta* soils compared to those that did not have this vegetation. The difference in the length of the leaf was significant between the two treatments in the first three weeks of crop' growth (Table 4.15).

Table 4.16 shows the response of growth indices for gadam sorghum after six months of growing *Aspilia pluriseta* in pots with soil from different rhizosphere depths.

Duration (days)	Rhizosphere soil depth				
	0-20 cm	21-40 cm	41-60 cm	LSD	
	Stand count				
7	2.0a	2.0a	2.0a	0.0	
14	2.0a	1.9a	1.7b	0.1	
21	2.0a	1.9a	1.5b	0.2	
28	2.0a	1.9a	1.5b	0.2	
35	2.0a	1.8b	1.4c	0.2	
	Plant height (cm)				
7	6.4a	3.5b	2.1c	0.7	
14	21.4a	11.8b	7.0c	2.3	
21	41.3a	23.1b	12.7c	4.5	
28	78.5a	43.8b	24.1c	0.6	
35	81.3a	45.4b	25.0c	9.0	
	No	o. of leaves			
7	2.1a	1.8b	1.8b	0.1	
14	3.0a	2.6ba	2.1c	0.2	
21	3.5a	2.6b	1.8c	0.3	
28	4.8a	3.6b	2.7c	0.4	
35	5.4a	3.9b	2.8c	0.5	
	Leaf length (cm)				
7	4.9a	2.7b	1.4c	0.6	
14	13.1a	7.3b	3.9c	1.6	
21	32.3a	17.9b	8.8c	4.0	
28	61.4a	33.7b	16.7c	7.5	
35	63.3a	34.8b	17.2c	7.8	
Total yield (g/1000	22.89	12 7h	7.0c	25	
grains)	22.0u	12.70	7.00	2.5	

Table 4.16Comparison of growth indices of gadam sorghum on the effects of<br/>rhizosphere soil depths of Aspilia pluriseta after being planted 6<br/>months in pots at the greenhouse. University of Embu

Values followed by similar letters along the row are not significantly different at  $p \le 0.05$  (LSD test)

From the results, it was observed that gadam sorghum yield (g/1000 grains) was inversely proportional to soil depth with the yield of soil depth 0-20 cm being significantly higher at p $\leq$ 0.05 than the yield from depth 20-40 cm and 41-60 cm (Table 4.16). The results also indicate that all the growth indices differed

significantly at p $\leq 0.05$  in most of the weeks with the 0-20 cm depth displaying the highest values followed by 20-40 cm and lastly by 41-60 cm depth.

Correlation of various test factors to the yield of gadam sorghum crop is shown in Table 4.17.

		Correlation
Test factor	p-value	value
Site <sup>1</sup>	0.0064	0.23
Inoculation <sup>2</sup>	0.0064	0.23
Block	0.1614	0.12
Soil	0.0173	0.12
Depth	<.0001	-0.35
Stand count	<.0001	0.39
Plant height	<.0001	0.46
No. of Leaves	<.0001	0.42
Length of Leaves	<.0001	0.33

Table 4.17Correlation coefficient values on test factors to the yield of gadam<br/>sorghum at the greenhouse, University of Embu

<sup>1</sup>Whether or not *Aspilia pluriseta* had grown in the soils <sup>2</sup>whether or not gadam sorghum seeds were inoculated with Arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi (AMF). N=144, Prob >  $|\mathbf{r}|$  under H0: Rho=0

Observed results show that except for the soil depth that had an inverse relationship to yield, all the other growth parameters measured had a positive correlation to yield (Table 4.17). From the results, blocking was not significant to the yield of gadam sorghum at p $\leq$ 0.05. The plant height and the number of leaves gadam crop plant acquired during growth contributed strongly to the yield of the plant at indices +0.46 and +0.42 respectively (Table 4.17). Results also show that the correlation between the number of leaves per plant and the length of leaves to total yield was highly significant at p $\leq$ 0.05.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### DISCUSSIONS

#### **5.1 Introduction**

This chapter discusses the results given in chapter four.

### 5.2 Co-association of mycorrhiza and *Aspilia pluriseta* on growth and phosphorus availability to gadam sorghum crop

## 5.2.1 Soil textural types on gadam sorghum seedling emergence and stand count

Seed germination and eventual crop stand is a process that influence crop yield and quality (Sohindji *et al.*, 2020). Gadam sorghum germination and subsequent plant survival was significantly affected by the soil textural type in which the plant was grown. Past research noted the importance of soil textural type to seed germination and good seedling establishment (Valdés-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2013) for bigger seeds like the *Jatropha curcas*. However, little is documented on germination and seedling establishment for small grains in relation to soil textural types. Results obtained in this study differ from the principal findings by Danso *et al.* (2011) and Díaz-Chuquizuta *et al.* (2017) that germination and survival of plant seeds was best done using sandy soil. In this study, silt loam soils had the best seed emergence percentage at 96.9% compared to 90.2% and 83.3% for sandy loam and silty clay respectively (Table 4.1). This difference was significant at  $p \le 0.05$ .

Whereas past research on germination reported on bigger seed types, this research gives credence to silt loam soil as being more superior for smaller grain germination. The aim of this current study was to determine the effect of three soil textural types on seed germination rates and seedling survival in *Aspilia pluriseta* growing areas. The lowest sorghum seedling emergence percentage was obtained in silty clay soil (Table 4.1). On the overall, the more coarse soil particles provided better aeration to the seeds, which may have favored higher germination rates in the silt loam and sandy loam as was reported by Valdés-Rodríguez *et al.* (2013).

In this research, results indicated that water retention capacity of the different soil textural types affected stand count with time. The smaller the particles were, the more the water holding capacity and with time, seeds that germinated dried up due to low oxygen levels. Sladonja *et al.* (2014) obtained similar results on pyrethrum seedling emergence tested for different soil types while Idu *et al.* (2003) observed that germination and emergence of *Helianthus annuus* L. were low in clay treatments compared to other soil treatments with bigger particle size. Anderson *et al.* (2004) varied rainfall, sowing time, soil type, and cultivar influence on plant population for wheat in Western Australia and obtained similar results.

## 5.2.2 *Aspilia pluriseta* effect on gadam sorghum seeds germination and early seedlings growth

Early growth of gadam sorghum plant was influenced by the use of soils that had *Aspilia pluriseta* initially growing in them. A number of mechanisms are at play and explain how species coexist in a given community structure and hence exhibit negative intraspecific species interactions giving rise to competition (Chesson, 2000; Hubbell, 2006 and Bever *et al.*, 2010). To coexist, species trade-off or enhance antagonist trade-offs and avoidance. Varga, (2015) noted that mycorrhiza fungi negatively influenced seed germination but at the same time improved plant growth. This partly explained the behavior of sorghum seedlings stand count stability in pots that had soil from *Aspilia pluriseta* growing sites compared to seedlings in soils that had not been growing *Aspilia pluriseta*. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), in the recent past, has received widespread attention in restructuring plant communities (Hart *et al.*, 2003; Urcelay & Díaz, 2003; Klironomos *et al.*, 2011).

Previous studies show AMF to influence interspecific plant competition (Danieli-Silva *et al.*, 2010; Wagg *et al.*, 2011a; Mariotte *et al.*, 2013) and one way that has been mentioned by many scholars is the ability of AMF to control interspecific competition due to net benefit that AMF provide to many different plant species (O'Connor *et al.*, 2002; Urcelay & Díaz, 2003). The variation in mycorrhizal response lead to the common concept of 'mutualism–parasitism continuum', occurring in obligate and facultative mycorrhizal plants (Johnson *et al.*, 1997). Hoeksema *et al.* (2010) corroborated this continuum through a meta-analysis in which he found that AMF inoculation of plant species differed for each plant functional group. Hetrick *et al.* (1990) explained this phenomenom by arguing that there exists differences in plant traits among different plant functional groups therefore exhibiting different mycorrhizal responses.

Plant characteristics can affect the manner in which plant species rely on AMF for nutrient acquisition from the soil (Brundrett, 2002). When C4 grasses are compared to C3 plants, the latter often have more fibrous (i.e. thinner), highly branched root systems with a lower dependency on AMF for nutrient uptake (Hetrick *et al.*, 1990; Wilson & Hartnett, 1998) and hence make C3 plant species poorer in response to AMF inoculation. However, the thicker roots found in C4 grasses enable the plants develop stronger interdependence on AMF thereby exploring soil and acquiring more nutrients. In the event of AMF colonization suppression, C4 grasses compete less effectively with C3 grasses (Hartnett *et al.*, 1993; Hetrick *et al.*, 1994). In addition, with the high phosphorus (P) requirements for nitrogen (N) fixation in N-fixing plants, these plants naturally have a high AMF dependency for absorbing P and hence arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi may be expected to increase the competitive ability of N-fixing plants (Wagg *et al.*, 2011a).

Interspecific competition between plant species may be affected by the plants' mycorrhizal responses and this has been suggested as a reason that may influence plant diversity and community structure (Vogelsang *et al.*, 2006). In his conceptual model, Urcelay & Díaz (2003) suggested that the AMF effects on plant diversity could be given by the relative mycorrhizal response of dominant vs. subordinate plants. When the mycorrhizal response of dominants is high, he argued that AMF at this point could enhance competitive ability of dominants, thereby causing a decrease in plant diversity (Hartnett & Wilson, 1999). Vogelsang *et al.* (2006) explained changes in plant diversity by manipulating AMF inoculation and P conditions. In addition, van Der Heijden *et al.* (1998) argued that if the subordinates are highly mycotrophic, AMF inoculation may increase plant diversity by enhancing competitive ability of subordinates. Many other factors studied could influence AMF effects on plant interspecific competition and Community structure, among them being abiotic soil conditions (P availability) and AMF species identity and diversity

(Collins *et al.*, 2009; Wagg *et al.*, 2011b). AMF has been found to promote plant biodiversity and productivity but this effect declined with increasing soil P availability (Birhane *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, according to Maherali & Klironomos (2007), differences between species of AMF lead to distinct colonization strategies and functional roles in nutrient uptake and pathogen protection. Indeed, past studies have shown that AMF species diversity and identity can influence AMF effects on plant community structure and interspecific competition (Vogelsang *et al.*, 2006; Wagg *et al.*, 2011b). However, to fully understand the magnitude and direction of AMF effects on plant community structure and interspecific competition, systematic tests examining every factor is required and this was outside the scope of this current study.

### 5.2.3 Effect of gadam sorghum seeds inoculation with mycorrhizal fungi on seedling emergence, stand count and plant height

Inoculation with mycorrhizal fungi improved seedling emergence, stand count and plant height in this experiment. Results obtained closely mirrored the observation made by Caravaca *et al.* (2002) that rhizosphere aggregate stability of afforested semiarid plant species was significantly improved upon mycorrhiza fungi inoculation. Not only does mycorrhizal association with plants improve drought tolerance (Fitter, 1988) but also seedling survival (Janos, 1980).

Gadam sorghum is a short stature crop (Chimoita *et al.*, 2019) and this is confirmed in this experiment showing the plant as having an average height of 124 centimetres at physiological maturity. Having a small height is one of the drought escaping mechanism of plants in dry land areas as assimilate partitioning is done early during the plant's life (Basu *et al.*, 2016). It is in scholarly domain that nutrient acquisition of crops is mainly propelled by soil and root microorganisms (Reid & Greene, 2013) that initiate a key role in nutrient circulation and absorption and in fighting against soil pathogens (Ismail & Hijri, 2012; Ismail *et al.*, 2013). Agricultural ecosystems depend on beneficial soil micro-organisms (Janzen *et al.*, 2011; Reid & Greene, 2013; Rodriguez & Sanders, 2015) and have been used in agriculture more frequently over the past few decades. Nevertheless, the cultivation of the target microorganism is not a simple task, given the large number of microbes, their functional diversity, and the complexity of microbial assemblages. This experiment confirms that AMF in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* establish close symbiosis with sorghum plants just like past research by Redecker *et al.* (2000) established. Adaptability of host plants is improved tremendously when arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) colonizes plant roots and in addition offers supplemental phosphorus (Juniper & Abbott, 1993; Watson *et al.*, 2001), nitrogen (N), and zinc (Smith & Read, 2008) to plants. According to Smith & Read (2008), nutrient uptake was increased by more than 100-fold after root systems were extended, increasing the root surface as a result of symbiosis with AMF. This way, the plants under the influence of AMF were able to attain more biomass and consequently, enhanced yield.

A large category of agricultural crops such as cotton, soybean, onion, pulses, rice, tomato, potato, corn and wheat can form symbiotic relationships with AMF (Gao *et al.*, 2020). This current study confirms that *sorghum bicolor*, L. forms similar symbiotic relationship with mycorrhiza fungi. The influence level of AMF on crop yield and economics of farming is still uncertain, in some crops (Rodriguez & Sanders, 2015). However, AMF have been determined to increase total crop yield in potatoes by 9.5% (Hijri, 2016). In addition, AMF may function throughout the entire growth period (McGee *et al.*, 1999) and affect whole-plant physiological responses (Berta *et al.*, 2014; Bona *et al.*, 2015; Bona *et al.*, 2017). This study, therefore, affirmed the efficacy of mycorrhiza fungi in forming a symbiotic relationship to sorghum leading to improved plant biomass and yield.

## 5.2.4 Changes in pH, phosphorus and phosphate levels before and after gadam sorghum harvest

There is a significant reduction of soil pH at p $\leq$ 0.05 for soils with *Aspilia pluriseta* compared to those without that is clearly discernable (Table 4.5). In this case, the strategy that rhizosphere arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi in *Aspilia pluriseta* is exploiting in solubilizing P in the soil is by lowering the soil pH through microbial production of organic acids (Khan *et al.*, 2006; Kumar *et al.*, 2018; Kalayu, 2019). phosphate can precipitate to form calcium phosphates, including rock phosphate (fluorapatite and francolite) in alkaline soils and these precipitations are insoluble soil solutions (Kalayu, 2019). Solubility of these precipitations increase with

decrease in soil pH. Mycorrhiza and other soil microorganisms are instrumental in increasing P availability after lowering the soil pH through production of organic acids (Satyaprakash *et al.*, 2017).

Past studies have posted strong positive correlation between solubilization index and organic acids produced (Alam et al., 2002). Phosphorus solubilizing microorganisms create acidity through evolution of CO<sub>2</sub> (Yousefi et al., 2011) as observed in solubilization of calcium phosphates (Buddhi & Yoon, 2012). P solubilization was brought about by production of organic acid as well as decrease of the pH through the action of microorganisms (Selvi et al., 2017). The divalent and trivalent forms of inorganic P,  $HPO4^{-2}$  and  $HPO4^{-3}$  increases in the soil as the soil pH increases. Different organisms contribute differently to the type and amount of organic acid produced. Solubilization efficiency is dependent on the strength and nature of acids. Tri- and dicarboxylic acids as compared to monobasic and aromatic acids more effectively do phosphate solubilization. Aliphatic acids are also more effective compared to phenolic, citric, and fumaric acids (Buddhi & Yoon, 2012; Kalayu, 2019). Phosphates solubilization is effectively done by organic acids such as gluconic, glutaric tartaric, propionic succinic, oxalic, malonic, butyric citric, glyoxalic lactic, 2-ketogluconic, adipic, glyconic, fumaric, acetic and malic acid (Yousefi et al., 2011; Ahmed & Shahab, 2012; Satyaprakash et al., 2017; Selvi et al., 2017; Kumar et al., 2018). Gluconic acid and 2-ketogluconic acids appear to be the most frequent agent of mineral phosphate solubilization (Rodríguez & Fraga, 1999; Buddhi & Yoon, 2012; Satyaprakash et al., 2017).

Inorganic and Organic acids produced by phosphate solubilizing micro-organisms, of which mycorrhiza is part, chelate cations by dissolving the insoluble soil phosphates thus compete with phosphate for adsorption sites in the soil (Pradhan & Sukla, 2006; Khan *et al.*, 2009). Chelation of the cations bound to phosphate by the carboxyl and hydroxyl groups of the acids converts it into soluble forms. However, this study model could not prove that this second method of phosphate solubilization happened. Sorghum plants used as the follower crop utilized mycorrhiza spores to their advantage and this explains why phosphate levels tended to increase after harvest as phosphorus levels reduced. The study by Kavanová *et al.* (2006) revealed

that phosphorus was critical for cell division and elongation on the grass plants at the early stages of growth. This phenomenon could have contributed towards greater plant height for seeds that were inoculated with mycorrhizal fungi therefore enhancing rapid utilization of phosphorus at the root zone. This current experiment further corroborates research by Bhuiyani *et al.* (2008) that Phosphorus inoculation was found to be positive and significant on mungbean plant height. Besides, Bam *et al.* (2006) showed that germination and vigor in rice improved significantly when seeds were soaked in potassium and phosphorus salts.

Soil that had *Aspilia pluriseta* previously growing, had mycorrhiza that acted as a source of inoculation and therefore continued with phosphates synthesis with gadam sorghum as the host plant. These results therefore agree with Tiamtanong *et al.* (2015) that mycorrhiza fungi inoculation enhances the development of soil phosphates by increasing phosphates enzyme activity. The phosphorus in the soil was converted to phosphates through the action of mycorrhiza. According to Courty *et al.* (2010) and Burke *et al.* (2014), mycorrhizal fungi can increase P availability by secreting phosphatases into soil to degrade organic P and also excrete organic acids that mobilize P from mineral complexes. The connection between mycorrhizal phosphatase production and availability of P has not been cultured yet (Olsson *et al.*, 2002; Nygren & Rosling, 2009), but non-mycorrhizal fungi are known to increase phosphatase activity under P starvation (Kaffman *et al.*, 1994; Aarle *et al.*, 2001). Since availability of P is linked to soil pH, change in soil P may be inherently linked to changes in soil acidity in response to mycorrhizal fungi.

Past research show soil pH as a primary factor affecting diversity, biomass and fungal and bacterial community structure in the soil in a variety of ecosystems (Bååth & Anderson, 2003; Fierer & Jackson, 2006; Lauber *et al.*, 2009; DeForest & Scott, 2010; Rousk *et al.*, 2010). Change in soil pH has been shown to influence mycorrhizal fungal species richness (Lauber *et al.*, 2009), colonization of the root (Cairney & Meharg, 1999; Coughlan *et al.*, 2000; Aarle *et al.*, 2002), biomass (Aarle *et al.*, 2002) and community structure (Lehto, 1994; Wallander *et al.*, 1997; Erland & Taylor, 2002; Kjøller & Clemmensen, 2009; Rineau & Garbaye, 2009; Dumbrell *et al.*, 2010). It can be argued that soil acidification alters mycorrhizal fungal

community composition both directly and indirectly, particularly through its effect on P availability. According to Lauber *et al.* (2009), soils with low pH may harbor different mycorrhizal fungal species as compared to high-pH soils mainly because those species capable of maintaining growth and cellular function in acidic environments would survive over those adapted to more basic conditions.

## 5.3 Intensity of MF in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* across the main soil textural types

# 5.3.1 Soil textural type on the intensity of mycorrhizal fungi along the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta*

In all the soil textural types, mycorrhiza spores were recorded, albeit in differing numbers, confirming ubiquitousness of mycorrhiza fungi microflora (Smith & Read, 2008). Soil textural types played a significant role in determining the number of mycorrhiza spores in the rhizosphere. Other scholars like Davison et al. (2012), Hazard et al. (2013), Jansa et al. (2014) and Oehl et al. (2017), corroborate this finding on the influence of soil textural type on mycorrhizal populations. The difference in spore counts in sandy loam and silt loam soils were not statistically significant but intensity levels in silty clay soils were significantly lower at  $p \le 0.05$ compared with the other type of soils (Table 4.9). Past research asserts that this variance between soil textural types influencing arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi (AMF) communities is still a subject of study. Results of this study show sandy loam as ideal for mycorrhizal fungi proliferation owing to its bigger particle size (compared to other textural soils tested) thus better aeration. The physico-chemical factors as tested in this study are conducive and give the right micro climate for fungal proliferation. However, further studies need to be conducted to ascertain whether pure sandy soils would give better fungal population results or it was the loamy part in the sand that enhanced the observed enhanced population.

Soils inhabited by *Aspilia pluriseta* in all the three sites showed a higher number of morphotypes compared to those without this plant species (Figure 4.4). Plant, soil and climatic factors determine the development of mycorrhiza fungi and influence

establishment of the mycorrhizal symbiosis and its efficiency (Carrenho *et al.*, 2007; Hindumathi & Reddy, 2011; Calvet *et al.*, 2013). The ability to produce mycorrhizal propagules (spores, hyphae and colonized roots) is enhanced through the inoculation of plants with AMF. This is an important part of the process of soil microbiota recuperation (Calvet *et al.*, 2004; Gartner *et al.*, 2012). Although different factors were considered in determining AMF spore production, different plant species were tested in different locations, giving different results from this current experiment.

#### 5.3.2 Aspilia pluriseta rhizosphere depth on the intensity of mycorrhizal fungi

This research demonstrated that mycorrhiza spore count in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* decreased with increase in soil depth (Table 4.10). The intensity of mycorrhiza spores varied significantly with soil depth from a high of 524 spores at Kanyuombora to 154.7 at Gakurungu at depths 0-20 cm and 41-60 cm respectively (Table 4.10). This inverse relationship on mycorrhiza fungi population and soil depth was exhibited in all the sites tested (Table 4.10). On comparison of the three sites, AMF population was highest in Kanyuambora and the lowest in Gakurungu (Figure 4.4). It is not rather obvious for mycorrhiza population to decrease with an increase in soil depth as suggested by Mejstrik (1972), Rillig & Field (2003) and Asghari *et al.* (2005) because studies by Gucwa-Przepióra *et al.* (2007) obtained different results. Gucwa-Przepióra *et al.* (2007) found out that there was an increase in arbuscular mycorrhiza colonization with increasing soil depth because of chemophytostabilization amendments.

An increase in arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM) colonization with increasing soil depth was observed in soils with spontaneously growing *Deschampsia cespitosa*. Similar work by Mejstrik (1972) but using different plant species indicated that the frequency and intensity of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza in *Molinietum coeruleae* was soil depth dependent and that the higher the depth, the less the intensity of AMF. Rillig & Field (2003) in their research report indicated that arbuscular mycorrhiza responds to plants exposed to elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide and that this gas is a function of soil depth. In addition, Asghari *et al.* (2005) while on the study of growth response of *Atriplex nummularia* to inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal

fungi at different salinity levels showed higher infectivity rate with decreased salinity levels which in itself, was negatively correlated to soil depth. Curiosity of results from these scholars engineered this study on depth aspects for Aspilia plant. Indeed this study agrees with similar studies by Shukla et al. (2013), on soil depth as an overriding factor for AMF. In other studies, although not related to Aspilia pluriseta, mycorrhiza fungi populations have been shown to decrease with an increase in soil depth (Jakobsen & Erik, 1983; Oehl et al., 2005; Cuenca & Lovera, 2010). Some researchers suggested that it might be due to the less organic content (Oehl et al., 2005) and low availability of oxygen in deeper soil zones (Varma et al., 2012), because fungi are sensitive to low oxygen pressure which prevails at lower depths (Ray & Brady, 1996). Studies by Rodríguez-Caballero et al. (2017) concluded that soil pH and levels of two micronutrients (Mn and Zn) both variants being factors of soil depth in the same continuum, play significant roles in triggering arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) populations. According to Anderson et al. (2008) and Bever et al. (2010), AMF are generally scarce where the plant roots are sparse. Besides this phenomena, Brundrett, (2017) concludes that strong mycorrhizal plants will always have more rhizosphere spore counts compared to non-mycorrhizing plants. Based on these earlier findings, Aspilia pluriseta shrub satisfies the criteria of a strong mycorrhizal plant.

Molecular work identified 35 different mycorrhizal fungal species in the rhizosphere where *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation grew compared to adjacent soils without this plant species (Table 4.7). Species composition and diversity varied along the rhizosphere with more abundance in depth 1 (0-20 cm). Mycorrhizal fungi species in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* shrub was important to this experiment as both their abundance and diversity would enhance the shrub's potent in soil phosphate uptake by follower crops. Studies by Radhika & Rodrigues (2010) and Torrecillas et al. (2012) concluded that relative diversity of rhizosphere mycorrhiza fungi depended on host plant species. Although these case studies mentioned did not evaluate *Aspilia pluriseta* shrub, it is evidently clear that this shrub is host to various mycorrhizal fungi of importance to ecological reconstruction.

#### 5.4 Genetic diversity of fungi within the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta

## 5.4.1 Physico-chemical information on soil rhizosphere depths in the study sdtehr6esites

Plant productivity is mainly limited by shortage of minerals in the soil whose continuous regeneration and transformation is a factor of soil microbial community (Rousk *et al.*, 2009). Soil pH strongly influences fungal biomass composition (Fierer & Jackson, 2006). In this experiment, moderately acidic and sandy loam textured soils tended to favour proliferation of rhizosphere fungal growth (Table 4.12a, b & c). The level of soil organic matter was higher in the second rhizosphere layer (21-40 cm) as well as the soil moisture and this correspondingly increased the number of operational taxonomic units (OTUs).

As exhibited in the physico-chemical tables, (Tables 4.12a, b & c) an intricate balance between the physico-chemical factors contributed to fungal microbe population agreeing with the principal findings of Bhattarai (2015) that soil has diverse elements that contribute to its productivity and the proper balance between those elements is what actually matters. Despite the role played by organic matter in soil ecosystems (Lejon *et al.*, 2007), scanty information is available on the effect of soil organic matter, particularly on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. But it is an established fact that growth of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi can be increased (John *et al.*, 1983; Joner & Jakobsen, 1995; Gryndler *et al.*, 2002; Albertsen *et al.*, 2006; Gryndler *et al.*, 2009) by soil organic amendments.

wfPlant materials release a lot of cellulose in the form of organic matter that enters soil from decaying. Pure cellulose can increase root colonization and external mycelial growth of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi but only after it has been sufficiently decomposed (Gryndler *et al.*, 2002). The argument by Avio & Giovannetti, (1988), Ravnskov *et al.* (1999) and Gryndler *et al.* (2002) indicate that when cellulose is used fresh or composted for shorter periods, it can inhibit mycorrhizal symbiosis. However, in general, studies on the influence of organic matter on fungi have provided inconsistent results indicating variable effects of different organic substrates on mycorrhizal symbiosis. Like in all mentioned studies, the current study treated decomposition of the organic amendments as being unique with specific intention of finding out the genetic variability of fungal spores along the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* and whether or not differences in organic levels of the soil colloids in the rhizosphere caused significant differences in fungal species. As the results show, organic matter was highest in MC2a (depth zone 21-40 cm, Table 4.12a, b & c ) and the same rhizosphere zone had more operational taxonomic units (Figure 4.5) confirming findings by Gryndler *et al.* (2002).

Soil microbial community is strongly influenced by soil pH as it affects abiotic factors, such as carbon availability (Kemmitt *et al.*, 2006), availability of nutrients (Kemmitt *et al.*, 2005; Kemmitt *et al.*, 2006; Aciego & Brookes, 2008), and the solubility of metals (Firestone *et al.*, 1983; Wood, 1995). Additionally, biotic factors may affect soil pH thus influencing biomass composition of fungi and bacteria (Firere & Jackson, 2006), in both agricultural (Kohler *et al.*, 2005) and forest soils (Bååth & Anderson, 2003). A salient issue in the study of soil pH is its multiple effect on many factors. Manipulating the pH of a soil through experiments can result to changes in several other factors that are hard to separate (Bhattarai, 2015). Conversely, comparing pHs of different natural soils introduces confounding factors, frequently unidentifiable, derived from differences in soil textural type and management regimen that also vary between soils. The aim of this experiment was to assess the influence the soil pH had on fungal populations along the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta*. Moderate acidity gave better fungal population growth and diversity compared to low and high soil acidity levels.

Temperature and moisture regimes in this study also affected populations and diversity of fungal growth along the rhizosphere. While fungal growth and symbiotic functioning is affected by these factors (Grey, 1991; Augé, 2004; Heinemeyer & Fitter, 2004; Mayra *et al.*, 2005), fungal survival is also influenced by similar factors. Carbon supply to the fungus can be interrupted on occasions when plants suffer setbacks on growth due to low temperature and (or) drought. This indirectly affects fungus survival as well. However, temperature and moisture may also directly affect fungus survival. For instance, low and freezing temperatures may increase fungal

mortality (Addy et al., 1997; Klironomos et al., 2001) and it is estimated that onethird of all metabolically active hyphae may die during the wet cold weather (Kabir et al., 1997). Studies have demonstrated that viability of hyphae may remain high for long periods under dry conditions (Tommerup & Abbott, 1981; Brundrett et al., 1996; Pattinson & McGee, 1997), but decline drastically when the soil is wetted periodically (Braunberger et al., 1996; Pattinson & McGee, 1997). From these studies, it is obvious that temperature and moisture influence fungal population and diversity and therefore has a direct effect on fungal natural selection that could lead to adaptations to local climatic conditions and fungal survival. Differences in tolerance between fungal species may generate seasonal patterns of fungal community compositions (Klironomos et al., 2001), but nothing is virtually known about potential differences within fungal species from disparate environments (Fitter et al., 2004). Thus, by carrying out this study in the driest month of September, was a way of abridging it to previous studies, on soil temperature and moisture when fungal populations were expected to be at their best. However, data from the localized rhizosphere soil differences gave compelling evidence that indeed changes in soil moisture and temperature affected fungal populations and diversity.

#### 5.4.2 Fungal communities in the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta

Illumina's sequencing high sensitivity enabled detection of species that were rare, thus providing detailed fungal diversity information on the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* plant (Knief, 2014). The phylum, *Glomeromycota* was most frequently identified in the plant's rhizosphere compared to *Ascomycota* and *Basidiomycota*. *Chytridiomycota* were least in the scale among fungi communities in the plant's rhizosphere and were represented on a smaller proportion of the rhizosphere fungal communities. The presence of unidentified fungal phylum indicate that new and potentially useful fungal communities do exist.

Results from most rhizosphere mycological research findings indicate heavy presence of *Ascomycota* and *Basidiomycota* phyla (Zimudzi *et al.*, 2018; Jie *et al.*, 2019; Floc *et al.*, 2020) from cultivated crops. However, from this research study, there is a clear departure on the hierarchical fungal composition of the wild semi-arid shrub (*Aspilia pluriseta*) that could prove beneficial to follower-cultivated crops. Past studies indicate that rhizosphere microorganisms mainly comprise of actinomycetes,

bacteria and fungi (Jie *et al.*, 2019). This composition of microbial community in the rhizosphere is influenced by plant species and soil types (Berg & Smalla, 2009). In soybean for example, studies by Sugiyama *et al.* (2014) indicated that microbial communities composition in the rhizosphere differs from other plants, due to its strong ability to relate symbiotically with many other microorganisms. This past research is however limited to soybean and few other crops or shrubs. The search to understand similar relationship to other crops and shrubs continues. Furthermore, soil ecological environment is reflected by the structure of the soil microbial community (Costa *et al.*, 2006). Many studies link maintenance of soil quality to abundance, structure and diversity of rhizosphere microbial communities (Garbeva *et al.*, 2004; Kong *et al.*, 2011) buttressing the results in this study that diverse fungal community in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* sets a good ecological environment for subsequent gadam sorghum growth.

#### 5.4.3 Fungal richness and diversity indices

High spore density and diversity of mycorrhiza fungi are suggested to be advantageous for improving fungal diversity root colonization and subsequent crop growth (Hu *et al.*, 2015). This experiment consistently showed high rhizosphere spore counts and root colonization (Table 4.7). Soil arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi are sensitive to changes in land-use patterns and management regimes (Mang'erere *et al.*, 2018; Martinez & Johnson, 2010; Oehl *et al.*, 2010) but this was not clearly demonstrated in this experiment as soil samples were collected *in situ* along the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta*.

Thirty-five taxa of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) were extracted and identified directly from the soil samples representing five genera in the three studied rhizosphere habitats. Considerably, this number is a large, given that only about 190 AMF species have so far been described worldwide (Knief, 2014), and that the samples were taken from three soil depths along a transverse section of *Aspilia pluriseta* plant rhizosphere. The number of species detected from MC1a (depth 1; 0-20 cm), MC2a (depth 2; 21-40 cm) and MC3a (depth 3; 41-60 cm) was relatively high when compared to that usually reported from corresponding habitats (Neville *et al.*, 2002; Cuenca & Lovera, 2010; Armansyah *et al.*, 2018; Song *et al.*, 2019). The

high species numbers could be attributed to the following reasons: (1) the high mycotrophic dependency of the sampled Aspilia pluriseta plant species. Previous studies by Muchoka et al. (2020), found out that colonization of AMF in the roots of these sampled plant species in the three soil depths surveyed had all rhizosphere depths intensively colonized by arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi. (2) Environmental conditions that were both hot and arid. It is an established fact that high temperatures and high light intensities increases the probability of AMF sporulation (Cardoso et al., 2003; Koide & Mosse, 2004). Besides, susceptibility to spore predation and parasitism is less in the arid environmental conditions compared to locations with higher rainfall amounts (Lovelock et al., 2003). (3) Sampling was done in the hottest month of September when the sun is overhead the equator in the tropics. Past scientific reports show that spore populations are usually greatest in autumn where there are marked warm and cold seasons (David & Patricia, 1999) and that, substantially, more spores are expected in the dry season (Álvarez-sánchez, 1999). It has been asserted that spores collected during this period not only have greater spore density and population (Álvarez-sánchez, 1999; Lovelock et al., 2003) but are also in better condition for identification (David & Patricia, 1999). Considering the seasonal nature of AMF, the spores' diversity in these sampled depths would no doubt increase with longer-term sampling.

More species richness was found in MC3a (41-60 cm) followed by MC2a (21-40 cm) as these were the zones of less agricultural disturbance over time. The same zones, however, had less spore density (Table 4.10) giving a sharp contrast to the findings of Boddington & Dodd, (2000) and Oehl *et al.* (2003). In the current study, however, the sampled sites were fallow lands that had a break to cultivation for a period of three years and this explains the difference in the results.

## 5.5 Mycorrhiza fungi co-association with *Aspilia pluriseta* on the yield of gadam sorghum crop

Crop plants are more efficiently able to obtain phosphate from the soil by the help of arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi (AMF). All globally important food crops naturally form this symbiosis with the fungi and this is good news in the fight against food insecurity (Smith & Read, 2008). In this experiment, soil that had *Aspilia pluriseta* previously growing had mycorrhiza that acted as a source of inoculation and

therefore continued with phosphates synthesis with gadam sorghum as the host plant leading to improved sorghum yield (Muchoka *et al.*, 2020). The success of AMF coassociation from plant to plant in agricultural soils can be determined by many factors such as competition with native fungi species, habitat niche availability and compatibility (Verbruggen *et al.*, 2013). Compatibility is particularly important for AMF inoculation, where some isolates could be host "specialists," and others are said to be "generalists" (Öpik & Moora, 2012). In this study, co-association of mycorrhiza fungi from the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* and gadam sorghum tested showed a generalist nature, since it enhanced plant growth as evidenced by the changes in growth parameters measured (Plate 4.1 & Table 4.2). Accordingly, AMF that are considered plant host generalists have a high establishment rate in several crops (Öpik & Moora, 2012).

Results presented in this report show that both sorghum and *Aspilia pluriseta* were effectively colonized, indicating a low specificity by the host *Aspilia* plants. Although the potential of AMF to contribute to improved crop yields has been known for decades and in spite of an extremely strong research focus on this symbiosis, there are remarkably few published studies demonstrating that large-scale inoculation of globally important crops, in an agricultural situation, resulting to significant increases in food production (Ceballos *et al.*, 2013). This experiment reasonably showed success to improved yields from a host surrogate plant (*Aspilia pluriseta*) to a benefitting plant (gadam sorghum).

#### **CHAPTER 6**

#### CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### 6.1 Overview of the chapter

This chapter concludes the results and discussions in chapters four and five respectively and and gives recommendations arising from this research study.

#### **6.2** Conclusions

This study examined mycorrhizal fungal diversity in the rhizosphere of wild and native *Aspilia pluriseta* shrub with an aim to exploit root microbe symbiosis for sorghum crop production. The study found out that sorghum growth was enhanced through mycorrhizal association in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta*. Evidence was adduced from this study on increased phosphate (available P) levels in soils inhabited by *Aspilia pluriseta* and/ or where sorghum seed was inoculated with mycorrhiza from *Aspilia* soils.

More specifically,

- i. Seedling emergence and stand count were enhanced at p≤0.05 in both mycorrhiza fungi inoculated gadam sorghum seeds and in pots whose soils were taken from the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* plants. Soil phosphate level was enhanced where seed inoculation with mycorrhiza was done and in soils previously grown *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation. *Aspilia pluriseta* bush fallows can be used for phosphate bio-remediation and cover crop in arid and semi-arid Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora environments.
- ii. The intensity of spore morphotypes was significantly higher at p≤0.05 for soils whose vegetation was covered with *Aspilia pluriseta* than those without. *Aspilia pluriseta* vegetation used together with sandy loam soil could culture commercial mycorrhiza fungi production for use in agrisystems.
- iii. Three hundred and seventy three operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were realized at 3% genetic distance while 35 fungal taxa were realized in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* with five main phyla; Glomeromycota (90.7%), Basidiomycota (3.7%), Ascomycota (3.4%), Chytridiomycota

(1.5%), and unspecified phylum fungi (0.7%). The genera *Glomus* was the most prevalent in all soil depths with 85.6 % of the OTUs in depth 0-20 cm, 69.0 % in depth 21-40 cm and 48.5 % in depth 41-60 cm. Obligate arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi was found in the soil sample and if commercially cultured could enhance phosphates uptake in crops.

iv. Mycorrhiza fungi effectively colonized both sorghum and Aspilia pluriseta. Aspilia pluriseta served as a host surrogate plant and gadam sorghum as a benefitting plant. The co-association led to improved sorghum crop yield from 13.1 g/1000 sorghum grains in soils that had not grown Aspilia pluriseta (and/or) not inoculated to 15.2 g/1000 grains in soils previously grown Aspilia pluriseta (and/or inoculated). This is a yield increase of about 16% in one. Growth attributes had a positive correlation to total yield at 95% confidence. Mycorrhiza fungi in the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta has the potential to contribute to improved sorghum crop yields reducing hunger and vulnerability in the arid and semi-arid Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora locations in eastern Kenya.

#### **6.3 Recommendations**

#### 6.3.1 Recommendations for further research from this work

- i. Organisms assess and respond to habitat heterogeneity by allocating time or effort in response to variability in hazards, opportunities and competitors. There is need to conduct research experiment on possible competition of *Aspilia pluriseta* and field crops (inter competition between species and intra competition between *Aspilia pluriseta* pluriseta species alone) and gather adequate data to qualify *Aspilia pluriseta* plant species as a cover crop in the arid and semi-arid environments
- ii. In recent years, plant cell and tissue culture techniques have developed into very powerful tools for the large-scale propagation of plants of interest. Although *Aspilia* can be vegetatively propagated from soft woody, stem cuttings other quicker methods should be explored for rapid multiplication of *Aspilia pluriseta* for commercial exploitation.

- There is need to conduct field replication of this research study on major cereals and legume crops in the arid and semi-arid areas of Gakurungu, Tunyai and Kanyuambora
- iv. There is need to evaluate mycorrhizal propagules in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* plant for commercial use in the agricultural sector. This study found out that the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* has 35 distinct mycorrhiza species. Empirical data is required on the most versatile and infective mycorrhiza species for use in agricultural systems. Gaps exist on the minimum amount of mycorrhiza that need to be applied per specific crop enterprise to be effective as well as developing the most effective consortia of mycorrhiza to cause production revolution.
- v. Plants' root exudate composition vary between different plant species. Exudate composition changes in the same plant at different ages or when grown under different environmental conditions. Exudation levels of particular constituents are not always the same along the plant root axis. Plant root exudates alter the physical and chemical conditions of the rhizosphere by changing pH levels and mineral availability via desorption and chelation, and also influence the growth and interactions of numerous microorganisms that populate the rhizosphere. *Aspilia pluriseta* produces root exudate that require to be defined in terms of their role in mycorrhizal network and follower crop productivity.

#### 6.3.2 Recommendation for further work

- i. There is need for comparative studies on common agroforestry shrubs like *Lantana camara, Leucania leucocephala* and other shrubs in the arid and semi-arid climates that could be harbouring some of the essential mycorrhizal fungi microbiome that can be exploited to enhance agricultural productivity.
- ii. Arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi are obligate biotrophs which, after root colonization, exert widely accepted benefits to a wide range of host-plant species. Mass production of contaminant-free AM fungi has remained a bottleneck for application in agriculture for decades. However, using the monoxenic cultivation system, allowing the realization of large-scale

production under strictly controlled conditions, the use of some of the most common mycorrhizal species identified in the rhizosphere of *Aspilia pluriseta* could be a breakthrough for commercial mycorrhiza inoculum production.

### **6.3.3 Recommendation to the national and county governments**

A review of policy to include the use of *Aspilia pluriseta* in land rehabilitation, conservation and re-seeding programmes in dryland ares.

### 6.3.4 Recommendation to farmers

- Farmers are encouraged to use mychorrizal inoculated gadam sorghum to improve on their sorghum crop yields. Using soils from *Aspilia pluriseta* or inoculating gadam sorghum seed with *Aspilia* soils improves yield by about 16%.
- ii. Instead of leaving the land bare and vulnerable between shifts of cultivation, farmers are advised to leave *Aspilia pluriseta* plants growing. This rejuvenates the land ready for the subsequent season.

#### REFERENCES

- Aarle, I. M. van, Olsson, P. A., & Söderström, B. (2001). Microscopic Detection of Phosphatase Activity of Saprophytic and Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi using a Fluorogenic Substrate. *Mycologia*, 93(1), 17–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00275514.2001.12061275
- Aarle, I. M.V, Olsson, P. A., & Söderström, B. (2002). Arbuscular Mcorrhizal Fungi Respond to the Substrate pH of their Extraradical Mycelium by Altered Growth and Root Colonization. *New Phytologist*, 155(1), 173–182. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1469-8137.2002.00439.X
- Abou Seeda M.A, Yassen A.A, Abou El-Nour E.A. A, & Zaghloul, S. M. (2020). Improving of Phosphorus Use Efficiency in Plant-Soil-System. A Review. *Middle East Journal of Agriculture Research*, August. https://doi.org/10.36632/mejar/2020.9.3.39
- Aciego, P. J. C., & Brookes, P. C. (2008). Nitrogen Mineralisation along a pH Gradient of a Silt Loam UK soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 40(3), 797– 802. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.10.014
- Addy, H. D., Miller, M. H., & Peterson, R. L. (1997). Infectivity of the Propagules Associated with Extraradical Mycelia of two AM Fungi Following Winter Freezing. *New Phytologist*, 135(4), 745–753. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00707.x
- Ahmed, N., & Shahab, S. (2012). Phosphate Solubilization: Their Mechanism Genetics and Application. *The Internet Journal of Microbiology*, 9(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.5580/2327
- Ai, P., Sun, S., Zhao, J., Fan, X., Xin, W., Guo, Q., Yu, L., Shen, Q., Wu, P., Miller, A. J., & Xu, G. (2009). Two Rice Phosphate Transporters, OsPht1;2 and OsPht1;6, have Different Functions and Kinetic Properties in Uptake and Translocation. *Plant Journal*, 57(5), 798–809. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2008.03726.x
- Alam, S., Khalil, S., Ayub, N., & Rashid, M. (2002). In Vitro Solubilization of Inorganic Phosphate by Phosphate Solubilizing Microorganisms (PSM) from Maize Rhizosphere. *International Journal of Agriculture & Biology*, 4(4), 454–458.
- Albertsen, A., Ravnskov, S., Green, H., Jensen, D. F., & Larsen, J. (2006). Interactions Between the External Mycelium of the Mycorrhizal Fungus *Glomus* Intraradices and other Soil Microorganisms as affected by Organic Matter. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 38(5), 1008–1014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.08.015
- Alewell, C., Ringeval, B., Ballabio, C., Robinson, D. A., Panagos, P., & Borrelli, P. (2020). Global Phosphorus Shortage will be Aggravated by Soil Erosion. *Nature Communications*, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18326-7
- Álvarez-sánchez, P. G. F. J. (1999). Abundance of HMA Fungi Spores in Different Environments. *Mycorrhiza*, 8(267–270)
- Anderson, Millner, P. D., & Kunishi, H. M. (2008). Maize Root Length Density and Mycorrhizal Infection as Influenced by Tillage and Soil Phosphorus. *Journal* of Plant Nutrition, 10(9–16), 1349–1356. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01904168709363667
- Anderson, W. K., Sharma, D. L., Shackley, B. J., & D'Antuono, M. F. (2004). Rainfall, Sowing Time, Soil Type, and Cultivar Influence Optimum Plant

Population for Wheat in Western Australia. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 55(9), 921–930. https://doi.org/10.1071/AR03248

- Armansyah, O, Anwar, A., Syarif, A., dan, Y., & Febriamansyah., R. (2018). Diversity of the Indigenous Arbuscular Mycorrhizae Fungi (AMF) in the Rhizosphere of *Citronella (Andropogon Nardus* L.) In the Dry Land Regions in West Sumatra Province, Indonesia. *International Journal of Advanced Research*, 6(9), 153–158. https://doi.org/10.21474/ijar01/7655
- Arumugam, R., Rajasekaran, S., & Nagarajan, S. (2010). Response of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Rhizobium Inoculation on Growth and Chlorophyll Content of Vigna unguiculata (L) Walp Var. Pusa 151. Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management, 14(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/</u> jasem.v14i4.63282
- Asghari, H. R., Marschner, P., Smith, S. E., & Smith, F. A. (2005). Growth Response of *Atriplex nummularia* to Inoculation with Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi at Different Salinity Levels. *Plant and Soil*, 273(1–2), 245–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-004-7942-6
- Augé, R. M. (2004). Arbuscular Mycorrhizae and Soil/plant Water Relations. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 84(4), 373–381. https://doi.org/10.4141/S04-002
- Augé, R. M., Stodola, A. J. W., Tims, J. E., & Saxton, A. M. (2001). Moisture Retention Properties of a Mycorrhizal Soil. *Plant and Soil*, 230(1), 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1004891210871
- Avio, L., & Giovannetti, M. (1988). Vesicular-arbuscular Mycorrhizal Infection of Lucerne Roots in a Cellulose-amended Soil. *Plant and Soil*, 112(1), 99–104. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02181758
- Bååth, E., & Anderson, T. H. (2003). Comparison of Soil Fungal/bacterial Ratios in a pH Gradient using Physiological and PLFA-based Techniques. *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry, 35(7), 955–963. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(03)00154-8
- Bam, R. ., Kumaga, F. ., Ofori, K., & Asiedu, E. . (2006). Germination, Vigour and Dehydrogenase Activity of Naturally Aged Rice (Oryza sativa L.) Seeds Soaked in Potassium and Phosphorus Salts. Asian Journal of Plant Sciences, 6(5), 948–955.
- Barea, J. M., Calvet, C., Estaún, V., & Camprubi, A. (1996). Biological Control as a Key Component in Sustainable Agriculture. *Plant and Soil*, 185(2), 171–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02257521
- Basu, S., Ramegowda, V., Kumar, A., & Pereira, A. (2016). Plant Adaptation to Drought Stress [version 1; referees: 3 approved]. *F1000Research*, 5(0), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.12688/F1000RESEARCH.7678.1
- Bationo, A., Kimetu, J., Ikerra, S., Kimani, S., Mugendi, D., Odendo, M., Silver, M., Swift, M., & Sanginga, N. (2004). The African Network for Soil Biology and Fertility: New Challenges and Opportunities. Managing Nutrient Cycles to Sustain Soil Fertility in Sub-Saharan Africa, January, 1–23.
- Bationo, & Waswa, B. S. (2011). Innovations as Key to the Green Revolution in Africa. Innovations as Key to the Green Revolution in Africa. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-2543-2
- Benbi, D. K., & Gilkes, R. J. (1987). The Movement into Soil of P from Superphosphate Grains and its Availability to Plants. Fertilizer Research, 12(1), 21–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01049418

- Berg, G., & Smalla, K. (2009). Plant Species and Soil Type Cooperatively Shape the Structure and Function of Microbial Communities in the Rhizosphere. FEMS *Microbiology Ecology*, 68(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2009.00654.x
- Berta, G., Copetta, A., Gamalero, E., Bona, E., Cesaro, P., Scarafoni, A., & D'Agostino, G. (2014). Maize Development and Grain Quality are Differentially Affected by Mycorrhizal Fungi and a Growth-promoting Pseudomonad in the Field. *Mycorrhiza*, 24(3), 161–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-013-0523-x
- Bertin, C., Yang, X., & Weston, L. A. (2003). The Role of Root Exudates and Allelochemicals in the Rhizosphere. *Plant and Soil*, 256(1), 67–83. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026290508166
- Bever, J. D., Dickie, I. A., Facelli, E., Facelli, J. M., Klironomos, J., Moora, M., Rillig, M. C., Stock, W. D., Tibbett, M., & Zobel, M. (2010). Rooting Theories of Plant Community Ecology in Microbial Interactions. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 25(8), 468–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.tree.2010.05.004
- Bhattarai, B. (2015). Variation of Soil Microbial Population in Different Soil Horizons. *Journal of Microbiology & Experimentation*, 2(2), 75–78. https://doi.org/10.15406/jmen.2015.02.00044
- Bhuiyani, M. M. H., Rahman, M. M., Afroze, F., Sutradhar, G. N. C., & Bhuiyan, M. S. I. (2008). Effect of Phosphorus, Molybdenum and Rhizobium Inoculation on Growth and Nodulation of Mungbean. *Journal of Soil Nature*, 2(2), 25–30.
- Bindraban, P. S., Dimkpa, C. O., & Pandey, R. (2020). Exploring Phosphorus Fertilizers and Fertilization Strategies for Improved Human and Environmental Health. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 56(3), 299–317. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-019-01430-2
- Birhane, E., Sterck, F. J., Bongers, F., & Kuyper, T. W. (2014). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Impacts on Competitive Interactions Between Acacia etbaica and Boswellia papyrifera Seedlings under Drought Stress. Journal of Plant Ecology, 7(3), 298–308. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtt031
- Boddington, C. L., & Dodd, J. C. (2000). The Effect of Agricultural Practices on the Development of Indigenous Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi: Studies in Experimental Microcosms. *Plant and Soil*, 218(1–2), 145–157. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1014911318284
- Bona, E., Cantamessa, S., Massa, N., Manassero, P., Marsano, F., Copetta, A., Lingua, G., D'Agostino, G., Gamalero, E., & Berta, G. (2017). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Plant Growth-promoting Pseudomonads Improve Yield, Quality and Nutritional Value of Tomato: A field study. *Mycorrhiza*, 27(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-016-0727-y
- Bona, E., Lingua, G., Manassero, P., Cantamessa, S., Marsano, F., Todeschini, V., Copetta, A., D'Agostino, G., Massa, N., Avidano, L., Gamalero, E., & Berta, G. (2015). AM Fungi and PGP Pseudomonads Increase Flowering, Fruit Production, and Vitamin Content in Strawberry Grown at Low Nitrogen and Phosphorus Levels. *Mycorrhiza*, 25(3), 181–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-014-0599-y
- Bonser, A. M., Lynch, J., & Snapp, S. (1996). Effect of Phosphorus Deficiency on Growth Angle of Basal Roots in *Phaseolus vulgaris*. *New Phytologist*, 132(2), 281–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1996.tb01847.x

- Borkowska, B. (2002). Growth and Photosynthetic Activity of Micropropagated Strawberry Plants Inoculated with Endomycorrhizal Fungi (AMF) and Growing under Drought Stress. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 24(4), 365– 370. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-002-0031-7
- Braunberger, P. G., Abbott, L. K., & Robson, A. D. (1996). Infectivity of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi after Wetting and Drying. *New Phytologist*, 134(4), 673– 684. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1996.tb04933.x
- Bremner, J. M. (1960). Determination of Nitrogen in Soil by the Kjeldahl Method. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 55(1), 11–33. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600021572
- Brown, L. K., George, T. S., Dupuy, L. X., & White, P. J. (2013). A Conceptual Model of Root Hair Ideotypes for Future Agricultural Environments: What Combination of Traits should be Targeted to Cope with Llimited P Availability? *Annals of Botany*, 112(2), 317–330. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/aob/mcs231
- Brundrett, M. C. (2002). Coevolution of Roots and Mycorrhizas of Land Plants. *New Phytologist*, 154(2), 275–304. https://doi.org/10.1046/ j.1469-8137.2002.00397.x
- Brundrett, M. C. (2017). Global Diversity and Importance of Mycorrhizal and Nonmycorrhizal Plants. 533–556. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-56363-3\_21
- Brundrett, M. C., Ashwath, N., & Jasper, D. A. (1996). Mycorrhizas in the Kakadu Region of Tropical Australia: I. Propagules of Mycorrhizal Fungi and Soil Properties in Natural Habitats. *Plant and Soil*, 184(1), 159–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00029285
- Bucher, M. (2007). Functional Biology of Plant Phosphate Uptake at Root and Mycorrhiza Interfaces. *New Phytologist*, 173(1), 11–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01935.x
- Buddhi, C. W. & Yoon, M.-H. (2012). Prospectus of Phosphate Solubilizing Microorganisms and Phosphorus Availability in Agricultural Soils: A Review. African Journal of Microbiology Research, 6(37), 6600–6605. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajmr12.889
- Bünemann, E. K., Oberson, A., & Frossard, E. (2011). Phosphorus in Action. Springer. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-15271-9
- Burke, D. J., Smemo, K. A., & Hewins, C. R. (2014). Ectomycorrhizal Fungi Isolated from Old-growth Northern Hardwood Forest Display Variability in Extracellular Enzyme Activity in the Presence of Plant Litter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 68, 219–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.10.013
- Cabeza, R. A., Myint, K., Steingrobe, B., Stritsis, C., Schulze, J., & Claassen, N. (2017). Phosphorus Fractions Depletion in the Rhizosphere of Young and Adult Maize and Oilseed Rape Plants. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 17(3), 824–838. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-95162017000300020
- Cairney, J. W. G., & Meharg, A. A. (1999). Influences of Anthropogenic Pollution on Mycorrhizal Fungal Communities. *Environmental Pollution*, 106(2), 169– 182. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(99)00081-0
- Calvet, C., Barea, J., & Pera, J. (2013). In Vitro Interactions between the Vesicular-Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungus *Glomus mosseae* and some Saprophytic

Fungi Isolated from Organic Substrates. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 24(8), 775–780.

- Calvet, Estaún, V., Camprubí, A., Hernández-Dorrego, A., Pinochet, J., & Moreno, M. A. (2004). Aptitude for Mycorrhizal Root Colonization in *Prunus* Rootstocks. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 100(1–4), 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scienta.2003.08.001
- Camisón, Á., Ángela Martín, M., Dorado, F. J., Moreno, G., & Solla, A. (2020). Changes in Carbohydrates Induced by Drought and Waterlogging in *Castanea sativa. Trees - Structure and Function*, 34(2), 579–591. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00468-019-01939-x
- Campo, S., & San Segundo, B. (2020). Systemic Induction of Phosphatidylinositolbased Signaling in Leaves of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Rice Plants. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-72985-6
- Canarini, A., Kaiser, C., Merchant, A., Richter, A., & Wanek, W. (2019). Root Exudation of Primary Metabolites: Mechanisms and their Roles in Plant Responses to Environmental Stimuli. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.00157
- Cao, G. H., Li, Z. D., Wang, X. F., Zhang, X., Zhao, R. H., Gu, W., Chen, D., Yu, J., & He, S. (2020). Phosphate Transporters, PnPht1;1 and PnPht1;2 from Panax Notoginseng Enhance Phosphate and Arsenate Acquisition. *BMC Plant Biology*, 20(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-020-2316-7
- Caporaso, J. G., Kuczynski, J., Stombaugh, J., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F. D., Costello, E. K., Fierer, N., Gonzalez, P. A., Goodrich, J. K., Jeffrey Gordon, Gavin A Huttley, S. T. K., & Dan Knights5, Jeremy E Koenig, R. E. (2010).
  QIIME Allows Analysis of High-throughput Community Sequencing Data. *Nat. Methods*, 7(5), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.f.303.QIIME
- Caravaca, F., Hernández, T., García, C., & Roldán, A. (2002). Improvement of Rhizosphere Aggregate Stability of Afforested Semiarid Plant Species Subjected to Mycorrhizal Inoculation and Compost Addition. *Geoderma*, 108(1–2), 133–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7061(02)00130-1
- Cardoso, I. M., Boddington, C., Janssen, B. H., Oenema, O., & Kuyper, T. W. (2003). Distribution of Mycorrhizal Fungal Spores in Soils under Agroforestry and Monocultural Coffee Systems in Brazil. Agroforestry Systems, 58(1), 33–43. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025479017393
- Carrenho, R., Trufem, S. F. B., Bononi, V. L. R., & Silva, E. S. (2007). The Effect of Different Soil Properties on Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Colonization of Peanuts, Sorghum and Maize. Acta Botanica Brasilica, 21(3), 723–730. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-33062007000300018
- Carvalho, P., & Foulkes, M. J. (2019). Roots and Uptake of Water and Nutrients. Crop Science, 107–130. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8621-7\_195
- Ceballos, I., Ruiz, M., Fernández, C., Peña, R., Rodríguez, A., & Sanders, I. R. (2013). The In Vitro Mass-Produced Model Mycorrhizal Fungus, Rhizophagus irregularis, Significantly Increases Yields of the Globally Important Food Security Crop Cassava. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070633
- Chen, W., Wang, J., Meng, Z., Xu, R., Chen, J., Zhang, Y., & Hu, T. (2020). Fertility-related Interplay Between Fungal Guilds Underlies Plant Richness– productivity Relationships in Natural Grasslands. *New Phytologist*, 226(4), 1129–1143. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16390

- Chen, Y. P., Rekha, P. D., Arun, A. B., Shen, F. T., Lai, W. A., & Young, C. C. (2006). Phosphate Solubilizing Bacteria from Subtropical Soil and their Tricalcium Phosphate Solubilizing Abilities. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 34(1), 33– 41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2005.12.002
- Cheng, L., Bucciarelli, B., Shen, J., Allan, D., & Vance, C. P. (2011). Update on White Lupin Cluster Root Acclimation to Phosphorus Deficiency. *Plant Physiology*, 156(3), 1025–1032. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.111.175174
- Cherr, C. M., Scholberg, J. M. S., & McSorley, R. (2006). Green Manure Approaches to Crop Production: A Synthesis. *Agronomy Journal*, 98(2), 302– 319. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2005.0035
- Chesson, P. (2000). Mechanisms of Maintenance of Species Diversity. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 31, 343–366. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.31.1.343
- Chimoita, E. L., Onyango, C. M., Gweyi-onyango, J. P., & Kimenju, J. W. (2019). Socio-economic and Institutional Factors Influencing Uptake of Improved Sorghum Technologies in Embu, Kenya Socio-economic and Institutional Factors In fl uencing Uptake of Improved Sorghum Technologies in Embu, Kenya. *East African Agricultural and Forestry*, 83(2), 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/00128325.2019.1597568
- Collins, C. D., Holt, R. D., & Foster, B. L. (2009). Patch Size Effects on Plant Species Decline in an Experimentally Fragmented Landscape. *Ecology*, 90(9), 2577–2588. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-1405.1
- Conjeaud, C., Scheromm, P., & Mousain, D. (1996). Effects of Phosphorus and Ectomycorrhiza on Maritime Pine Seedlings (*Pinus pinaster*). New Phytologist, 133(2), 345–351. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1469-8137.1996.tb01901.x
- Cordell, D., Drangert, J. O., & White, S. (2009). The Story of Phosphorus: Global Food Security and Food for Thought. *Global Environmental Change*, 19(2), 292–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.10.009
- Corrêa, A., Strasser, R. J., & Martins-Loução, M. A. (2008). Response of Plants to Ectomycorrhizae in N-limited Conditions: Which Factors Determine its Variation? *Mycorrhiza*, 18(8), 413–427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-008-0195-0
- Costa, R., Götz, M., Mrotzek, N., Lottmann, J., Berg, G., & Smalla, K. (2006). Effects of Site and Plant Species on Rhizosphere Community Structure as Revealed by Molecular Analysis of Microbial Guilds. FEMS *Microbiology Ecology*, 56(2), 236–249. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2005.00026.x
- Coughlan, A. P., Dalpé, Y., Lapointe, L., & Piché, Y. (2000). Soil pH-induced Changes in Root Colonization, Diversity, and Reproduction of Symbiotic Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi from Healthy and Declining Maple Forests. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 30(10), 1543–1554. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-30-10-1543
- Courty, P. E., Buée, M., Diedhiou, A. G., Frey-Klett, P., Le Tacon, F., Rineau, F., Turpault, M. P., Uroz, S., & Garbaye, J. (2010). The Role of Ectomycorrhizal Communities in Forest Ecosystem Processes: New Perspectives and Emerging Concepts. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 42(5), 679–698. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.12.006
- Cuenca, G., & Lovera, M. (2010). Seasonal Variation and Distribution at Different Soil Depths of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Spores in a Tropical
Sclerophyllous Shrubland. *Botany*, 88(1), 54–64. https://doi.org/10.1139/B09-100

- Danieli-Silva, A., Uhlmann, A., Vicente-Silva, J., & Stürmer, S. L. (2010). How Mycorrhizal Associations and Plant Density Influence Intra- and Inter-Specific Competition in Two Tropical Tree Species: *Cabralea canjerana* (Vell.) Mart. and *Lafoensia pacari* A.St.-Hil. *Plant and Soil*, 330(1), 185– 193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-0191-y
- Danso, K. ., Afful, N. ., Annor, C., & Amoatey, H. . (2011). In Vitro Regeneration of *Ricinus Communis* L. and *Jatropha curcas* L. for Biofuel Production. *Biotechnology*, 10(5), 400–407. https://doi.org/10.3923/biotech.2011.400.407
- David, D. D. J., & Patricia, D. M. (1999). Biodiversity of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Agroecosystems. *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment*, 74, 77– 93. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780203752470
- Davison, J., Öpik, M., Zobel, M., Vasar, M., Metsis, M., & Moora, M. (2012). Communities of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Detected in Forest Soil are Spatially Heterogeneous but do not Vary Throughout the Growing Season. *PLoS ONE*, 7(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0041938
- DeForest, J. L., & Scott, L. G. (2010). Available Organic Soil Phosphorus Has an Important Influence on Microbial Community Composition. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 74(6), 2059–2066. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2009.0426
- Dehne, H. W. (1982). Interaction Between Vesicular-arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Plant Pathogens. *Phytopathology*, 72(8), 1115–1119.
- Dell'Aquila, G., Zauner, S., Heimerl, T., Kahnt, J., Samel-Gondesen, V., Runge, S., Hempel, F., & Maier, U. G. (2020). Mobilization and Cellular Distribution of Phosphate in the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11(June), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.00579
- Dellag, A., Quillere, I., & Hirel, B. (2020). Beneficial Soil-borne Bacteria and Fungi: A Promising Way to Improve Plant Nitrogen Acquisition. Society for Experimental Biology, 301, 1–27.
- Den Camp, R. O., Streng, A., De Mita, S., Cao, Q., Polone, E., Liu, W., Ammiraju, J. S. S., Kudrna, D., Wing, R., Untergasser, A., Bisseling, T., & Geurts, R. (2011). LysM-type Mycorrhizal Receptor Recruited for Rhizobium Symbiosis in Nonlegume Parasponia. *Science*, 331(6019), 909–912. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198181
- Desnos, T. (2008). Root Branching Responses to Phosphate and Nitrate. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 11(1), 82–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2007.10.003
- Diagne, N., Ngom, M., Djighaly, P. I., Fall, D., Hocher, V., & Svistoonoff, S. (2020). Roles of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi on Plant Growth and Performance: Importance in Biotic and Abiotic Stressed Regulation. *Diversity*, 12(10), 1– 25. https://doi.org/10.3390/d12100370
- Díaz-Chuquizuta, P., Valdés-Rodríguez, O. A., & Cheryl, T.-S. (2017). Germination Responses in Physic Nut (*Jatropha curcas* L.) Seeds to Pregerminative Treatments. *Revista Chapingo Serie Horticultura*, 23(2), 89–96.
- Dixon, M., Simonne, E., Obreza, T., & Liu, G. (2020). Crop Response to Low Phosphorus Bioavailability with a Focus on Tomato. *Agronomy*, 10(5), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10050617

- Donovan, G., & Casey, F. (1998). Improving Soil Fertility Management in Sub-Saharan Africa. Africa Region Findings & Good Practice. World Bank Infobriefs; No. 121, 121. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/9883
- Dosskey, M. G., Linderman, R. G., & Boersma, L. (1990). Carbon–sink Stimulation of Photosynthesis in Douglas fir Seedlings by some Ectomycorrhizas. *New Phytologist*, 115(2), 269–274. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1469-8137.1990.tb00452.x
- Dou, Z., Toth, J. D., Galligan, D. T., Ramberg, C. F., & Ferguson, J. D. (2000). Laboratory Procedures for Characterizing Manure Phosphorus. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 29(2), 508–514. https://doi.org/10.2134/ jeq2000.00472425002900020019x
- Drew, M. C. (1975). Comparison of the Effects of a Localized Supply of Phosphate, Nitrate, Ammonium and Potassium on the Growth of the Seminal Root System, and the Shoot, in Barley Author (s): M. C. Drew Source: New Phytologist, Vol. 75, No. 3 (Nov., 1975), p. In New Phytologist (Vol. 75, Issue 3, pp. 479–490).
- Dumbrell, A. J., Nelson, M., Helgason, T., Dytham, C., & Fitter, A. H. (2010). Relative Roles of Niche and Neutral Processes in Structuring a Soil Microbial Community. *ISME Journal*, 4(3), 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ismej.2009.122
- Edixhoven, J. D., Gupta, J., & Savenije, H. H. G. (2014). Recent Revisions of Phosphate Rock Reserves and Resources: A Critique. *Earth System Dynamics*, 5(2), 491–507. https://doi.org/10.5194/esd-5-491-2014
- Eltrop, L., & Marschner, H. (1996). Growth and Mineral Nutrition of Nonmycorrhizal and Mycorrhizal Norway Spruce (*Picea abies*) Seedlings Grown in Semi-hydroponic Sand Culture: II. Carbon Partitioning in Plants Supplied with Ammonium or Nitrate. *New Phytologist*, 133(3), 479–486. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1996.tb01915.x
- Erel, R., Bérard, A., Capowiez, L., Doussan, C., Arnal, D., Souche, G., Gavaland, A., Fritz, C., Visser, E. J. W., Salvi, S., Le Marié, C., Hund, A., & Hinsinger, P. (2017). Soil Type Determines How Root and Rhizosphere Traits Relate to Phosphorus Acquisition in Field-grown Maize Genotypes. *Plant and Soil*, 412(1–2), 115–132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-016-3127-3
- Erland, S., & Taylor, A. F. S. (2002). 7 Diversity of Ecto-mycorrhizal Fungal Communities in Relation to the Abiotic Environment. Ecological Studies, M.G.A. van der Heijden, 1. Sanders (Eds.) Mycorrhizal Ecology © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg
- Fageria, N., & Stone, L. (2006). Physical, Chemical, and Biological Changes in the Rhizosphere and Nutrient Availability. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 29(7), 1327–1356. https://doi.org/10.1080/01904160600767682
- Feddermann, N., Finlay, R., Boller, T., & Elfstrand, M. (2010). Functional Diversity in Arbuscular Mycorrhiza - the Role of Gene Expression, Phosphorous Nutrition and Symbiotic Efficiency. *Fungal Ecology*, 3(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2009.07.003
- Fellbaum, C. R., Gachomo, E. W., Beesetty, Y., Choudhari, S., Strahan, G. D., Pfeffer, P. E., Kiers, E. T., & Bücking, H. (2012). Carbon Availability Triggers Fungal Nitrogen Uptake and Transport in Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(7), 2666–2671. https://doi.org/

10.1073/pnas.1118650109

- Field, K. J., Daniell, T., Johnson, D., & Helgason, T. (2020). Mycorrhizas for a Changing world: Sustainability, conservation, and society. Plants, People, Planet, 2(2), 98–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/ppp3.10092
- Fierer, N., & Jackson, R. B. (2006). The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(3), 626–631. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0507535103
- Firestone, M. K., Killham, K., & McColl, J. G. (1983). Fungal toxicity of mobilized soil aluminum and manganese. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 46(3), 758–761. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.46.3.758-761.1983
- Fitter, A. H. (1988). Water Relations of Red Clover *Trifolium pratense* L. as Affected by VA Mycorrhizal Infection and Phosphorus Supply Before and During Drought. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 39(202), 595–603.
- Fitter, A. H., Heinemeyer, A., Husband, R., Olsen, E., Ridgway, K. P., & Staddon, P. L. (2004). Global Environmental Change and the Biology of Arbuscular Mycorrhizas: Gaps and Challenges. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 82(8), 1133–1139. https://doi.org/10.1139/B04-045
- Floc, J., Hamel, C., Harker, K. N., & St-arnaud, M. (2020). Fungal Communities of the Canola Rhizosphere: Keystone Species and Substantial Between-Year Variation of the Rhizosphere Microbiome.
- Franco-Zorrilla, J. M., González, E., Bustos, R., Linhares, F., Leyva, A., & Paz-Ares, J. (2004). The Transcriptional Control of Plant Responses to Phosphate Limitation. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 55(396), 285–293. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erh009
- Gao, X., Guo, H., Zhang, Q., Guo, H., Zhang, L., Zhang, C., Gou, Z., Liu, Y., Wei, J., Chen, A., Chu, Z., & Zeng, F. (2020). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi (AMF) Enhanced the Growth, Yield, Fiber Quality and Phosphorus Regulation in Upland Cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). Scientific Reports, 10(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59180-3
- Garbeva, P., van Veen, J. A., & van Elsas, J. D. (2004). Microbial Diversity in Soil: Selection of Microbial Populations by Plant and Soil Type and Implications for Disease Suppressiveness. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 42(29), 243– 270. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.phyto.42.012604.135455
- Gartner, T. B., Treseder, K. K., Malcolm, G. M., & Sinsabaugh, R. L. (2012). Extracellular Enzyme Activity in the Mycorrhizospheres of a Boreal Fire Chronosequence. *Pedobiologia*, 55(2), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.pedobi.2011.12.003
- Gee, G. ., & Or, D. (2002). Particle-Size Analysis. *Methods of Soil Analysis*, 4(598), 255-293. https://doi.org/10.2136/vzj2004.0722
- George, T. S., Richardson, A. E., & Simpson, R. J. (2005). Behaviour of Plant-Derived Extracellular Phytase Upon Addition to Soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 37(5), 977–988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.10.016
- Gianinazzi, S., Gollotte, A., Binet, M. N., van Tuinen, D., Redecker, D., & Wipf, D. (2010). Agroecology: The key Role of Arbuscular Mycorrhizas in Ecosystem Services. *Mycorrhiza*, 20(8), 519–530. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-010-0333-3
- Gilbert, N. (2009). The Disappearing Nutrient. *Nature*, 461(7265), 716–718. https://doi.org/10.1038/461716a

- Gontcharova, V. E. Y., Sun1, Y., Wolcott2, R. D., & Dowd, and S. E. (2010). A Comparison of Bacterial Composition in Diabetic Ulcers and Contralateral Intact Skin. *The Open Microbiology Journal*, 4(1), 8–19. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874285801004010008
- Grey, W. E. (1991). Influence of Temperature on Colonization of Spring Barleys by Vesicular Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi. *Plant and Soil*, 137(2), 181–190. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00011196
- Gryndler, Larsen, J., Hršelová, H., Řezáčová, V., Gryndlerová, H., & Kubát, J. (2006). Organic and Mineral Fertilization, Respectively, Increase and Decrease the Development of External Mycelium of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in a Long-term Field Experiment. *Mycorrhiza*, 16(3), 159–166. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-005-0027-4
- Gryndler, M., Hršelová, H., Cajthaml, T., Havránková, M., Řezáčová, V., Gryndlerová, H., & Larsen, J. (2009). Influence of Soil Organic Matter Decomposition on Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Terms of Asymbiotic Hyphal Growth and Root Colonization. *Mycorrhiza*, 19(4), 255–266. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-008-0217-y
- Gryndler, Vosátka, M., Hršelová, H., Chvátalová, I., & Jansa, J. (2002). Interaction Between Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Cellulose in Growth Substrate. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 19(3), 279–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-1393(02)00004-5
- Gucwa-Przepióra, E., Małkowski, E., Sas-Nowosielska, A., Kucharski, R., Krzyzak, Römkens. P. F. A. M. (2007).J., Kita. A., & Effect of Chemophytostabilization Practices on Arbuscular Mycorrhiza Colonization of Deschampsia cespitosa Ecotype Waryński at Different Soil Depths. Environmental Pollution, 150(3), 338-346. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envpol.2007.01.024
- Guo, Y., Ni, Y., & Huang, J. (2010). Effects of Rhizobium, Arbuscular Mycorrhiza and Lime on Nodulation, Growth and Nutrient Uptake of Lucerne in Acid Purplish Soil in China. *Tropical Grasslands*, 44(2), 109–114.
- Gutiérrez, O. M. (2017). The Story of Phosphorus. In Clinical Aspects of Natural and Added Phosphorus in Foods (Issue 509). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6566-3\_1
- Habte and Osorio, N. . (2001). Arbuscular Mycorrhizas: Producing and Applying Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Inoculum. In *Magnetohydrodynamics* (Vol. 47, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.22364/mhd.47.4.4
- Hammond, J. P., & White, P. J. (2008a). Diagnosing Phosphorus Deficiency in Crop Plants. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8435-5\_10
- Hammond, J. P., & White, P. J. (2008b). Sucrose Transport in the Phloem: Integrating Root Responses to Phosphorus Starvation. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 59(1), 93–109. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erm221
- Hansen, J. C., Cade-Menun, B. J., & Strawn, D. G. (2004). Phosphorus Speciation in Manure-Amended Alkaline Soils. *Journal of Environment Quality*, 33(4), 1521. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2004.1521
- Hart, M. M., Reader, R. J., & Klironomos, J. N. (2003). Plant Coexistence Mediated by Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 18(8), 418–423. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00127-7
- Hartnett, D. C., Hetrick, B. A. D., Wilson, G. W. T., & Gibson, D. J. (1993). Mycorrhizal Influence on Intra- and Interspecific Neighbour Interactions

among Co-Occurring Prairie Grasses. *The Journal of Ecology*, 81(4), 787. https://doi.org/10.2307/2261676

- Hartnett, David C., & Wilson, G. W. T. (1999). Mycorrhizae Influence Plant Community Structure and Diversity in Tallgrass Prairie. *Ecology*, 80(4), 1187–1195. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(1999)080 [1187:MIPCSA]2.0.CO;2
- Havlin, J., & Heiniger, R. (2020). Soil Fertility Management for Better Crop Production. Agronomy, 10(9), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.3390/ agronomy10091349
- Hazard, C., Gosling, P., van Der Gast, C. J., Mitchell, D. T., Doohan, F. M., & Bending, G. D. (2013). The Role of Local Environment and Geographical Distance in Determining Community Composition of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi at the Landscape Scale. *ISME Journal*, 7(3), 498–508. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2012.127
- Heinemeyer, A., & Fitter, A. H. (2004). Impact of Temperature on the Arbuscular Mycorrhizal (AM) Symbiosis: Growth Responses of the Host Plant and its AM Fungal Partner. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 55(396), 525–534. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erh049
- Hellal, F., El-Sayed, S., Zewainy, R., & Amer, A. (2019). Importance of Phosphate Rock Application for Sustaining Agricultural Production in Egypt. *Bulletin of* the National Research Centre, 43(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s42269-019-0050-9
- Hetrick, B. A. D., Hartnett, D. C., Wilson, G. W. T., & Gibson, D. J. (1994). Effects of Mycorrhizae, Phosphorus Availability, and Plant Density on Yield Relationships Among Competing Tallgrass Prairie Grasses. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 72(2), 168–176. https://doi.org/10.1139/b94-023
- Hetrick, B. A. D., Wilson, G. W. T., & Todd, T. C. (1990). Differential Responses of C3 and C4 Grasses to Mycorrhizal Symbiosis, Phosphorus Fertilization, and Soil Microorganisms. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 68(3), 461–467. https://doi.org/10.1139/b90-061
- Hijri, M. (2016). Analysis of a Large Dataset of Mycorrhiza Inoculation Field Trials on Potato Shows Highly Significant Increases in Yield. *Mycorrhiza*, 26(3), 209–214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-015-0661-4
- Hindumathi, A., & Reddy, B. N. (2011). Occurrence and Distribution of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Microbial Flora in the Rhizosphere Soils of Mungbean [vigna radiata (L.) wilczek] and Soybean [Glycine max (L.) Merr.] from Adilabad, Nizamabad and Karimnagar Districts of Andhra Pradesh stat. Advances in Bioscience and Biotechnology, 02(04), 275–286. https://doi.org/10.4236/abb.2011.24040
- Hinsinger, P., Bengough, A. G., Vetterlein, D., & Young, I. M. (2009). Rhizosphere: Biophysics, Biogeochemistry and Ecological Relevance. *Plant and Soil*, 321(1–2), 117–152. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-008-9885-9
- Hinsinger, P., Plassard, C., Tang, C., & Jaillard, B. (2003). Origins of Root-mediated pH Changes in the Rhizosphere and their Responses to Environmental Constraints: A Review. *Plant and Soil*, 248(43–59). https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022371130939
- Hinsinger Philippe. (2001). Bioavailability of Soil Inorganic P in the Rhizosphere as Affected by Root-induced Chemical Changes: A Review. *Plant and Soil*, 5(11), 173–195. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1013351617532

- Hodge, A. (2004). The Plastic Plant: Root Responses to Heterogeneous Supplies of Nutrients. New Phytologist, 162(1), 9–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01015.x
- Hoeksema, J. D., Chaudhary, V. B., Gehring, C. A., Johnson, N. C., Karst, J., Koide, R. T., Pringle, A., Zabinski, C., Bever, J. D., Moore, J. C., Wilson, G. W. T., Klironomos, J. N., & Umbanhowar, J. (2010). A Meta-analysis of Context-dependency in Plant Response to Inoculation with Mycorrhizal Fungi. *Ecology Letters*, 13(3), 394–407. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01430.x
- Hu, J., Yang, A., Zhu, A., Wang, J., Dai, J., Wong, M. H., & Lin, X. (2015). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal Diversity, Root Colonization, and Soil Alkaline Phosphatase Activity in Response to Maize-wheat Rotation and Notillage in North China. July. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12275-015-5108-2
- Huang, L. M., Jia, X. X., Zhang, G. L., & Shao, M. A. (2017). Soil Organic Phosphorus Transformation During Ecosystem Development: A Review. *Plant and Soil*, 417(1–2), 17–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-017-3240-y
- Hubbell, S. P. (2006). Neutral Theory and the Evolution of Ecological Equivalence. *Ecology*, 87(6), 1387–1398.
- Idu, M., Omonhinmin, C. A., & Ogboghodo, A. I. (2003). Effect of Soil Types on the Seed Germination of *Helianthus annuus* L. *Agricultural Science Digest*, 23(2), 101–103.
- Ikhajiagbe, B., Anoliefo, G. O., Olise, O. F., Rackelmann, F., Sommer, M., & Adekunle, I. J. (2020). Major Phosphorus in Soils is Unavailable, yet Critical for Plant Development. *Notulae Scientia Biologicae*, 12(3), 500–535. https://doi.org/10.15835/nsb12310672
- Ismail, Y., & Hijri, M. (2012). Arbuscular Mycorrhisation with Glomus irregulare Induces Expression of Potato PR Homologues Genes in Response to Infection by Fusarium sambucinum. Functional Plant Biology, 39(3), 236– 245. https://doi.org/10.1071/FP11218
- Ismail, Y., Mccormick, S., & Hijri, M. (2013). The Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungus, *Glomus irregulare*, controls the Mycotoxin Production of Fusarium Sambucinum in the Pathogenesis of Potato. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 348(1), 46–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6968.12236
- Jacoby, R., Peukert, M., Succurro, A., Koprivova, A., & Kopriva, S. (2017). The Role of Soil Microorganisms in Plant Mineral Nutrition—Current Knowledge and Future Directions. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8(September), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01617
- Jakobsen, T., & Erik, N. N. (1983). Vesicular-Arbuscular Mycorrhiza in Field-Grown Crops: I. Mycorrhizal Infection in Cereals and Peas at Various Times and Soil Depths. *New Phytologist*, 93(3), 401–413. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1983.tb03440.x
- Jama, B., Palm, C. A., Buresh, R. J., Niang, A., Gachengo, C., Nziguheba, G., & Amadalo, B. (2000). *Tithonia diversifolia* as a Green Manure for Soil Fertility Improvement in Western Kenya: A Review. *Agroforestry Systems*, 49(2), 201–221. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006339025728
- Janos, D. (1980). Vesicular-Arbuscular Mycorrhizae Affect Lowland Tropical Rain *Forest Plant*, 61(1), 151–162.
- Jansa, J., Erb, A., Oberholzer, H. R., Šmilauer, P., & Egli, S. (2014). Soil and Geography are more Important Determinants of Indigenous Arbuscular

Mycorrhizal Communities than Management Practices in Swiss Agricultural Soils. *Molecular Ecology*, 23(8), 2118–2135. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12706

- Janzen, H. H., Fixen, P. E., Franzluebbers, A. J., Hattey, J., Izaurralde, R. C., Ketterings, Q. M., Lobb, D. A., & Schlesinger, W. H. (2011). Global Prospects Rooted in Soil Science. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 75(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2009.0216
- Jie, W., Lin, J., Guo, N., Cai, B., & Yan, X. (2019). Community Composition of Rhizosphere Fungi as Affected by *Funneliformis mosseae* in Soybean Continuous Cropping Soil During Seedling Period. 79(September), 356–365. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-58392019000300356
- John, T. V. St., Coleman, D. C., & Reid, C. P. P. (1983). Association of Vesicular-Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Hyphae with Soil Organic Particles. *Ecology*, 64(4), 957–959.
- Johnson, A. (1962). Methods of Measuring Soil Moisture in the Field. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1619-U, 112(January 2007), 11–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-69873-6
- Johnson, Graham, J. H., & Smith, F. A. (1997). Functioning of Mycorrhizal Associations Along the Mutualism-parasitism Continuum. *New Phytologist*, 135(4), 575–585. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00729.x
- Joner, E. J., & Jakobsen, I. (1995). Growth and Extracellular Phosphatase Activity of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Hyphae as Influenced by Soil Organic Matter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 27(9), 1153–1159. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(95)00047-I
- Juniper, S., & Abbott, L. (1993). Vesicular-arbuscular Mycorrhizas and Soil Salinity. *Mycorrhiza*, 4(2), 45–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00204058
- Kabir, Z., O'Halloran, I. P., & Hamel, C. (1997). Overwinter Survival of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Hyphae is Favored by Attachment to Roots but Diminished by Disturbance. *Mycorrhiza*, 7(4), 197–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s005720050181
- Kaffman, A., Herskowitz, I., Tjian, R., & O'Shea, E. K. (1994). Phosphorylation of the Transcription Factor PHO4 by a Cyclin-CDK Complex, PHO80-PHO85. *Science*, 263(5150), 1153–1156. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8108735
- Kalayu, G. (2019). Phosphate Solubilizing Microorganisms: Promising Approach as Biofertilizers. *International Journal of Agronomy*, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/4917256
- Karandashov, V., & Bucher, M. (2005). Symbiotic Phosphate Transport in Arbuscular Mycorrhizas. *Trends in Plant Science*, 10(1), 22–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2004.12.003
- Kavanová, M., Lattanzi, F. A., Grimoldi, A. A., & Schnyder, H. (2006). Phosphorus Deficiency Decreases Cell Division and Elongation in Grass Leaves. *Plant Physiology*, 141(2), 766–775. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.106.079699
- Kayode, A., O., Uche C., O., Grillo, B. D., & Tolulope O., O. (2007). Toxic Effects of Methanolic Extract of Aspilia africana Leaf on the Estrous Cycle and Uterine Tissues of Wistar Rats. International Journal of Morphology, 25(3), 609–614.
- Kemmitt, S. J., Wright, D., Goulding, K. W. T., & Jones, D. L. (2006). pH Regulation of Carbon and Nitrogen Dynamics in two Agricultural Soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 38(5), 898–911. https://doi.org/10.1016/

j.soilbio.2005.08.006

- Kemmitt, S. J., Wright, D., & Jones, D. L. (2005). Soil Acidification used as a Management Strategy to Reduce Nitrate Losses from Agricultural Land. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 37(5), 867–875. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.soilbio.2004.10.001
- Khade, W., & Rodrigues, B. (2009). Studies on Arbuscular Mycorrhisation of Papaya. *African Crop Science Journal*, 17(3), 155–165. https://doi.org/10.4314/acsj.v17i3.54215
- Khan, A. A., Jilani, G., Akhtar, M. S., Saqlan, S. M., & Rasheed, M. (2009). Phosphorus Solubilizing Bacteria: Occurrence, Mechanisms and their Role in Crop Production. *Journal of Agriculture and Biological Sciences*, 1(1), 48– 58.
- Khan, S. M., Zaidi, A., & Wani, P. A. (2006). Role of Phosphate-solubilizing Microorganisms in Sustainable Agriculture. Agronomy of Sustainable Development, 27, 29–43. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro
- Kimetu, J. M., Mugendi, D. N., Palm, C. A., Mutuo, P. K., Gachengo, C. N., Bationo, A., Nandwa, S., & Kungu, J. B. (2004). Nitrogen Fertilizer Equivalencies of Organics of Differing Quality and Optimum Combination with Inorganic Nitrogen Source in Central Kenya. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 68(2), 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1023/ B:FRES.0000019043.33580.a6
- Kjøller, R., & Clemmensen, K. E. (2009). Belowground Ectomycorrhizal Fungal Communities Respond to Lming in Three Southern Swedish Coniferous Forest Stands. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 257(11), 2217–2225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.02.038
- Klironomos, J. N., Hart, M. M., Gurney, J. E., & Moutoglis, P. (2001). Interspecific Differences in the Tolerance of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi to Freezing and Drying. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 79, 1161–1166. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjb-79-10-1161
- Klironomos, Zobel, M., Tibbett, M., William, D. S., Matthias, C. R., Jeri, L. P., Mari, M., Alexander, M. K., Jose, M. F., Evelina, F., Ian, A. D., & James, D. B. (2011). Forces that Structure Plant Communities: Quantifying the Importance of the Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. *New Phytologist*, 189, 366–370.
- Knief, C. (2014). Analysis of Plant Microbe Interactions in the Era of Next Generation Sequencing Technologies. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 5(MAY), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00216
- Kobae, Y. (2019). Dynamic Phosphate Uptake in Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Roots Under Field Conditions. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 6(JAN), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2018.00159
- Kochian, L. V. (2016). Root Architecture. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, 58(3), 190–192. https://doi.org/10.1111/jipb.12471
- Kohler, F., Hamelin, J., Gillet, F., Gobat, J. M., & Buttler, A. (2005). Soil Microbial Community Changes in Wooded Mountain Pastures due to Simulated Effects of Cattle Grazing. *Plant and Soil*, 278(1–2), 327–340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-005-8809-1
- Koide, R. T., & Mosse, B. (2004). A History of Research on Arbuscular Mycorrhiza. *Mycorrhiza*, 14(3), 145–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-004-0307-4
- Kong, A. Y. Y., Scow, K. M., Córdova-Kreylos, A. L., Holmes, W. E., & Six, J. (2011). Microbial Community Composition and Carbon Cycling Within Soil

Microenvironments of Conventional, Low-input, and Organic Cropping Systems. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 43(1), 20–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.09.005

- Kumar, A., Kumar, A., & Patel, H. (2018). Role of Microbes in Phosphorus Availability and Acquisition by Plants. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 7(05), 1344–1347. https://doi.org/10.20546/ijcmas.2018.705.161
- Lambers, H., Finnegan, P. M., Laliberté, E., Pearse, S. J., Ryan, M. H., Shane, M. W., & Veneklaas, E. J. (2011). Phosphorus Nutrition of Proteaceae in Severely Phosphorus-impoverished Soils: Are there Lessons to be Learned for Future Crops? *Plant Physiology*, 156(3), 1058–1066. https://doi.org/10.1104/ pp.111.174318
- Lambers, H., Raven, J. A., Shaver, G. R., & Smith, S. E. (2008). Plant Nutrientacquisition Strategies Change with Soil Age. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 23(2), 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2007.10.008
- Lambers, H., Shane, M. W., Cramer, M. D., Pearse, S. J., & Veneklaas, E. J. (2006). Root Structure and Functioning for Efficient Acquisition of Phosphorus: Matching Morphological and Physiological Traits. *Annals of Botany*, 98(4), 693–713. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcl114
- Lauber, C. L., Hamady, M., Knight, R., & Fierer, N. (2009). Pyrosequencing-based Assessment of Soil pH as a Predictor of Soil Bacterial Community Structure at the Continental Scale. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75(15), 5111–5120. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00335-09
- Lee, S. B., Milgroom, M. G., & Taylor, J. W. (1988). A Rapid, High Yield Mini-prep Method for Isolation of Total Genomic DNA from Fungi. *Fungal Genetics Reports*, 35(1), 23. https://doi.org/10.4148/1941-4765.1531
- Lehto, T. (1994). Effects of Liming and Boron Fertilization on Mycorrhizas of *Picea abies*. *Plant and Soil*, 163(1), 65–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00033941
- Lejon, D. P. H., Sebastia, J., Lamy, I., Chaussod, R., & Ranjard, L. (2007). Relationships Between Soil Organic Status and Microbial Community Density and Genetic Structure in Two Agricultural Soils Submitted to Various Types of Organic Management. *Microbial Ecology*, 53(4), 650–663. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-006-9145-6
- Li, H., Shen, J., Zhang, F., Clairotte, M., Drevon, J. J., Le Cadre, E., & Hinsinger, P. (2008). Dynamics of Phosphorus Fractions in the Rhizosphere of Common Bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) and Durum Wheat (*Triticum turgidum durum* L.) Grown in Monocropping and Intercropping Systems. *Plant and Soil*, 312(1–2), 139–150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-007-9512-1
- Lindsay, W. L., Frazier, A. W., & Stephenson, H. F. (1962). Identification of Reaction Products from Phosphate Fertilizers in Soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 26(5), 446. https://doi.org/10.2136/ sssaj1962.03615995002600050013x
- Liu, B., Wu, J., Yang, S., Schiefelbein, J., & Gan, Y. (2018). Nitrate Regulation of Lateral Root and Root Hair Development in Plants. *Society for Experimental Biology*, 1–32.
- Liu, R., Pan, Y., Bao, H., Liang, S., Jiang, Y., Tu, H., Nong, J., & Huang, W. (2020). Variations in Soil Physico-chemical Properties Along Slope Position Gradient in Secondary Vegetation of the Hilly Region, Guilin, Southwest

China. Sustainability (Switzerland), 12(4), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12041303

- Lovelock, C. E., Andersen, K., & Morton, J. B. (2003). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Communities in Tropical Forests are Affected by Host Tree Species and Environment. *Oecologia*, 135(2), 268–279. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-002-1166-3
- Lu, X., Mahdi, A. K., Han, X. zeng, Chen, X., Yan, J., Biswas, A., & Zou, W. xiu. (2020). Long-term Application of Fertilizer and Manures Affect P Fractions in Mollisol. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-71448-2
- Lugli, L. F., Andersen, K. M., Aragão, L. E. O. C., Cordeiro, A. L., Cunha, H. F. V., Fuchslueger, L., Meir, P., Mercado, L. M., Oblitas, E., Quesada, C. A., Rosa, J. S., Schaap, K. J., Valverde-Barrantes, O., & Hartley, I. P. (2020). Multiple Phosphorus Acquisition Strategies Adopted by Fine Roots in Low-fertility Soils in Central Amazonia. *Plant and Soil*, 450(1–2), 49–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-019-03963-9
- Lynch, J. (1995). Root Architecture and Plant Productivity. *Plant Physiology*, 109(1), 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.1.7
- Lynch, J. P., & Brown, K. M. (2008). Root Strategies for Phosphorus Acquisition (Issue June 2008). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8435-5\_5
- Maherali, H., & Klironomos, J. N. (2007). Influence of Phylogeny on Fungal Community Assembly and Ecosystem Functioning. *Science*, 316(5832), 1746–1748. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1143082
- Mahmoudi, N., Dias, T., Mahdhi, M., Cruz, C., Mars, M., & Caeiro, M. F. (2020). Does Arbuscular Mycorrhiza Determine Soil Microbial Functionality in Nutrient-limited Mediterranean Arid Ecosystems? *Diversity*, 12(6), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/D12060234
- Mang'erere, M. N., Njeru, E. M., & Mucheru-muna, M. (2018). Soil Management Practices Affect Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Propagules , Root Colonization and Growth of Rainfed Maize. 3(April), 120–134. https://doi.org/10.3934/agrfood.2018.2.120
- Mariotte, P., Meugnier, C., Johnson, D., Thébault, A., Spiegelberger, T., & Buttler, A. (2013). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Reduce the Differences in Competitiveness Between Dominant and Subordinate Plant Species. *Mycorrhiza*, 23(4), 267–277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-012-0465-8
- Marschner, H. (1995). Nutrient Availability in Soils. Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants, 483–507. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-012473542-2/50015-8
- Marschner, H. (1996). Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants. In Field Crops Research (Second). Academic Press, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-4290(96)84669-7
- Marschner, P., Marhan, S., & Kandeler, E. (2012). Microscale Distribution and Function of Soil Microorganisms in the Interface Between Rhizosphere and Detritusphere. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 49, 174–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.01.033
- Martinez, T. N., & Johnson, N. C. (2010). Agricultural Management Influences Propagule Densities and Functioning of Arbuscular Mycorrhizas in Low- and High-input Agroecosystems in Arid Environments. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 46(2), 300–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2010.07.001

- Mayra, E. G., Pål, A. O., Rouhier, H., Medina-Peñafiel, A., Jakobsen, I., Bago, A., & Azcón-Aguilar, C. (2005). Temperature Constraints on the Growth and Functioning of Root Organ Cultures with Arbuscular Mycorrhizal fungi. *New Phytologist*, 168, 179–188.
- McGee, P. A., Torrisi, V., & Pattinson, G. S. (1999). The Relationship Between Density of *Glomus mosseae* Propagules and the Initiation and Spread of Arbuscular Mycorrhizas in Cotton Roots. *Mycorrhiza*, 9(4), 221–225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s005720050270
- McLachlan, J. W., Haling, R. E., Simpson, R. J., Flavel, R. J., & Guppy, C. N. (2020). Root Proliferation in Response to P Stress and Space: Implications for the Study of Root Acclimation to Low P Supply and P Acquisition Efficiency. *Plant and Soil*, 451(1–2), 389–407. https://doi.org/10.1007/s 11104-020-04535-y
- Mclean, E. (1982). Soil pH and Lime Requirement Determination (Vol. 9, Issue 9). Ohio State University and Ohio Agricultural Research and Development Center Columbus, Ohio 12-1. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssabookser3.3ed.c5
- Mejstrik, V. . (1972). Vesicular-Arbiscular Mycorrhiza of the Species of a Molinietum coeruleae L.I Association: The Ecology. New Phytologist, 71, 883–890.
- Mi, G. H., Chen, F. J., Wu, Q. P., Lai, N. W., Yuan, L. X., & Zhang, F. S. (2010). Ideotype Root Architecture for Efficient Nitrogen Acquisition by Maize in Intensive Cropping Systems. *Science China Life Sciences*, 53(12), 1369– 1373. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11427-010-4097-y
- Mike, A., & Larry, S. (2011). Evolution revolution. LDB Interior Textiles, 41(4), 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1205/096030802753479043
- Mildred, S. S. (1942). Colorimetric Determination of Phosphorus in Soils. *Analytical Chemistry*, 23(10), 1496–1497. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac60058a041
- Młodzińska, E., & Zboińska, M. (2016). Phosphate Uptake and Allocation A closer Look at *Arabidopsis thaliana* L. and *Oryza sativa* L. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7(Aug2016), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01198
- Mucheru-Muna, M., Mugendi, D., Pypers, P., Mugwe, J., Kung'u, J., Vanlauwe, B., & Merckx, R. (2014). Enhancing Maize Productivity and Profitability Using Organic Inputs and Mineral Fertilizer in Central Kenya Small-hold Farms. *Experimental Agriculture*, 50(2), 250–269. https://doi.org/10.1017/S00144 79713000525
- Muchoka, J. P., Mugendi, D. ., Njiruh, P. ., Onyari, C. N., Mbugua, P. K., & Njeru, E. M. (2020). Mycorrhiza Co-association with *Aspilia pruliseta* Schweif. and Phosphorus Uptake Effects on Growth Attributes of Gadam Sorghum in Selected Sites in Kenya. *Journal of Dryland Agiculture*, 6(5), 46–53. https://doi.org/10.1101/ 2019.12.19.882100
- Mugendi, D. N., Nair, P. K. R., Mugwe, J. N., O'Neill, M. K., & Woomer, P. L. (1999). Alley Cropping of Maize with Calliandra and Leucaena in the Subhumid Highlands of Kenya: Part 1. Soil-fertility Changes and Maize Yield. Agroforestry Systems, 46(1), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1006288301044
- Mugo, J. N., Karanja, N. N., Gachene, C. K., Dittert, K., Nyawade, S. O., & Schulte-Geldermann, E. (2020). Assessment of Soil Fertility and Potato Crop Nutrient

Status in Central and Eastern Highlands of Kenya. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-64036-x

- Mugwe, J., Mugendi, D., Kungu, J., & Muna, M. M. (2009). Maize Yields Response to Application of Organic and Inorganic Input Under On-station and On-farm Experiments in Central Kenya. *Experimental Agriculture*, 45(1), 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0014479708007084
- Mureithi, J. G., Gachene, C. K. K., & Wamuongo, J. W. (2007). Legume Cover Crops Research in Kenya: Experiences of the Legume Research Network Project. Naval Architect, FEB., 24–25.
- Nacry, P., Canivenc, G., Muller, B., Azmi, A., van Onckelen, H., Rossignol, M., & Doumas, P. (2005). A Role for Auxin Redistribution in the Responses of the Root System Architecture to Phosphate Starvation in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology*, 138(4), 2061–2074. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.105.060061
- Nannipieri, P., Giagnoni, L., Landi, L., & Renella, G. (2011). Phosphorus in Action (Vol. 26, Issue January). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-15271-9
- Nedelciu, C. E., Ragnarsdottir, K. V., Schlyter, P., & Stjernquist, I. (2020). Global Phosphorus Supply Chain Dynamics: Assessing Regional Impact to 2050. *Global Food Security*, 26(July), 100426. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.gfs.2020.100426
- Neset, T. S. S., & Cordell, D. (2012). Global Phosphorus Scarcity: Identifying Synergies for a Sustainable Future. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 92(1), 2–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.4650
- Neumann, G., Massonneau, A. s, Martinoia, E., & RoÈmheld, V. (1999). Physiological Adaptations to Phosphorus Deficiency During Proteoid Root Development in White Lupin. *Planta*, 208(373–382).
- Neumann, G., & RoÈmheld, V. (2012). Rhizosphere Chemistry in Relation to Plant Nutrition. In: Marschner, P (Ed.), Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants. Academic Press, London, pp 347-368
- Neville, J., Tessier, J. L., Morrison, I., Scarratt, J., Canning, B., & Klironomos, J. N. (2002). Soil Depth Distribution of Ecto- and Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Associated with *Populus tremuloides* Within a 3-year-old Boreal Forest Clear-cut. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 19(3), 209–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0929-1393(01)00193-7
- Niu, Y. F., Chai, R. S., Jin, G. L., Wang, H., Tang, C. X., & Zhang, Y. S. (2013). Responses of Root Architecture Development to Low Phosphorus Availability: A Review. Annals of Botany, 112(2), 391–408. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcs285
- Norgrove, L., & Hauser, S. (2015). Estimating the Consequences of Fire Exclusion for Food Crop Production, Soil Fertility, and Fallow Recovery in Shifting Cultivation Landscapes in the Humid Tropics. *Environmental Management*, 55(3), 536–549. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-014-0431-7
- Nussaume, L., Kanno, S., Javot, H., Marin, E., Pochon, N., Ayadi, A., Nakanishi, T. M., & Thibaud, M. C. (2011). Phosphate Import in Plants: Focus on the PHT1 Transporters. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 2(NOV), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2011.00083
- Nygren, C. M. R., & Rosling, A. (2009). Localisation of Phosphomonoesterase Activity in Ectomycorrhizal Fungi Grown on Different Phosphorus Sources. *Mycorrhiza*, 19(3), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-008-0223-0

- Nziguheba, G. (2007). Overcoming Phosphorus Deficiency in Soils of Eastern Africa : Recent. *Soil and Water*, 149–160.
- O'Connor, P. J., Smith, S. E., & Smith, F. A. (2002). Arbuscular Mycorrhizas Influence Plant Diversity and Community Structure in a Semiarid Herbland. *New Phytologist*, 154(1), 209–218. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.2002.00364.x
- Oehl, F., Laczko, E., Bogenrieder, A., Stahr, K., Bösch, R., van der Heijden, M., & Sieverding, E. (2010). Soil Type and Land Use Intensity Determine the Composition of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal Communities. *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry, 42(5), 724–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio. 2010.01.006
- Oehl, F., Laczko, E., Oberholzer, H. R., Jansa, J., & Egli, S. (2017). Diversity and Biogeography of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Agricultural Soils. *Biology* and Fertility of Soils, 53(7), 777–797. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-017-1217-x
- Oehl, F., Sieverding, E., Ineichen, K., M\u00e4der, P., Boller, T., & Wiemken, A. (2003). Impact of Land Use Intensity on the Species Diversity of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Agroecosystems of Central Europe. Applied and *Environmental Microbiology*, 69(5), 2816–2824. https://doi.org/10.1128/ AEM.69.5.2816-2824.2003
- Oehl, F., Sieverding, E., Ineichen, K., Ris, E. A., Boller, T., & Wiemken, A. (2005). Community Structure of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi at Different Soil Depths in Extensively and Intensively Managed Agroecosystems. *New Phytologist*, 165(1), 273–283. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01235.x
- Oelkers, E. H., & Valsami-Jones, E. (2008). Phosphates and Global Sustainability. *Elements*, 4(4051), 113–116.
- Olsen, S. R., Cole, C. V, Watandbe, F., & Dean, L. (1954a). Estimation of Available Phosphorus in Soil by Extraction with sodium Bicarbonate. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, 53(9), 1689–1699.
- Olsen, S. R., Cole, C. V, Watandbe, F., & Dean, L. (1954b). Estimation of Available Phosphorus in Soil by Extraction with sodium Bicarbonate. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, 53(9), 1689–1699. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Olsson, P. A., van Aarle, I. M., Allaway, W. G., Ashford, A. E., & Rouhier, H. (2002). Phosphorus Effects on Metabolic Processes in Monoxenic Arbuscular Mycorrhiza Cultures. *Plant Physiology*, 130(3), 1162–1171. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.009639
- Öpik Maarja, M., & Moora, M. (2012). Missing Nodes and Links in Mycorrhizal Networks. *New Phytologist*, 194(2), 304–306. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04121.x
- Oseko, E., & Dienya, T. (2015). Fertilizer Consumption and Fertilizer Use by Crop ( FUBC) in Kenya Study Conducted for Africa Fertilizer org by Edwin Oseko and Tom Dienya September, 2015 (Vol. 5, Issue 1, pp. 1–23). http://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JBAH/article/view/20621/21555%0 Ahttp://www.ruforum.org/sites/default/files/Okalebo.pdf%0Ahttp://www.hin dawi.com/journals/isrn/2012/678124/%0Ahttp://www.iuss.org/19th WCSS/Symposium/pdf/1225.pdf%0Ahttp://library.wur.

- Osmont, K. S., Sibout, R., & Hardtke, C. S. (2007). Hidden Branches: Developments in Root System Architecture. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 58, 93–113. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.58.032806.104006
- Parke, E. L., Linderman, R. G., & Black, C. H. (1983). the Role of Ectomycorrhizas in Drought Tolerance of Douglas-Fir Seedlings. *New Phytologist*, 95(1), 83– 95. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1983.tb03471.x
- Pattinson, G. S., & McGee, P. A. (1997). High Dties of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Maintained During Long Fallows in Soils Used to Grow Cotton Except when Soil is Wetted Periodically. *New Phytologist*, 136(4), 571–580. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00783.x
- Penn, C. J., & Camberato, J. J. (2019). A Critical Review on Soil Chemical Processes that Control how Soil pH Affects Phosphorus Availability to Plants. Agriculture (Switzerland), 9(6), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ agriculture9060120
- Péret, B., Desnos, T., Jost, R., Kanno, S., Berkowitz, O., & Nussaume, L. (2014). Root Architecture Responses: In Search of Phosphate. *Plant Physiology*, 166(4), 1713–1723. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.114.244541
- Pierre, M. J., Bhople, B. S., Kumar, A., & Havugimana Erneste, Byiringiro Emmanuel, Y. N. S. (2014). Contribution of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi (AM Fungi) and Rhizobium Inoculation on Crop Growth and Chemical Properties of Rhizospheric Soils in High Plants. *IOSR Journal of Agriculture* and Veterinary Science, 7(9), 45–55. https://doi.org/10.9790/2380-07944555
- Pierzynski, G. M. (2000). Methods of Phosphorus Analysis for Soils , Sediments , Residuals , and Waters. Southern Cooperative Series Bulletin No. 396.
- Pierzynski, G. M., McDowell, R. W., & Thomas Sims, J. (2005). Chemistry, Cycling, and Potential Movement of Inorganic Phosphorus in Soils. Phosphorus: Agriculture and the Environment, June, 51–86. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronmonogr46.c3
- Pradesh, H., Yadav, N., Pradesh, U., Kumar, A., South, R. G., Pradesh, U., & Meena, V. S. (2019). Rhizospheric Microbiomes: Biodiversity, Mechanisms of Plant Growth Promotion, and Biotechnological Applications for Sustainable Agriculture. In Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria for Agricultural Sustainability. Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-7553-8
- Pradhan, N., & Sukla, L. B. (2006). Solubilization of Inorganic Phosphates by Fungi Isolated from Agriculture soil. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 5(10), 850– 854. https://doi.org/10.4314/ajb.v5i10.42884
- Prescott, C. E., Grayston, S. J., Helmisaari, H. S., Kaštovská, E., Körner, C., Lambers, H., Meier, I. C., Millard, P., & Ostonen, I. (2020). Surplus Carbon Drives Allocation and Plant–Soil Interactions. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 35(12), 1110–1118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2020.08.007
- Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., Peplies, J., & Glöckner, F. O. (2013). The SILVA Ribosomal RNA Gene Database Project: Improved Data Processing and Web-based Tools. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(D1), 590–596. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219
- Radhika, K. P., & Rodrigues, B. F. (2010). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal Diversity in some Commonly Occurring Medicinal Plants of Western Ghats, Goa Region. *Journal of Forestry Research*, 21(1), 45–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s 11676-010-0007-1

- Rafiullah, Jamal Khan, M., Muhammad, D., Fahad, S., Adnan, M., Wahid, F., Alamri, S., Khan, F., Muhammad Dawar, K., Irshad, I., Danish, S., Arif, M., Amanullah, Saud, S., Khan, B., Ahmad Mian, I., Datta, R., Zarei, T., Ali Shah, A., ... Siddiqui, M. H. (2020). Phosphorus Nutrient Management Through Synchronization of Application Methods and Rates in Wheat and Maize Crops. *Plants*, 9(10), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9101389
- Raghothama, K. (2000). Phosphate Transport and Signaling. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 3(3), 182–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1369-5266(00)80063-1
- Raghothama, K. G., & Karthikeyan, A. S. (2005). Phosphate Acquisition. *Plant and Soil*, 274(1–2), 37–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-004-2005-6
- Rao, I. M., Miles, J. W., Beebe, S. E., & Horst, W. J. (2016). Root Adaptations to Soils with Low Fertility and Aluminium Toxicity. *Annals of Botany*, 118(4), 593–605. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcw073
- Rausch, C., & Bucher, M. (2002). Molecular Mechanisms of Phosphate Transport in Plants. *Planta*, 216(1), 23–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-002-0921-3
- Ravnskov, S., Larsen, J., Olsson, P. A., & Jakobsen, I. (1999). Effects of Various Organic Compounds on Growth and Phosphorus Uptake of an Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungus. *New Phytologist*, 141(3), 517–524. https://doi.org/ 10.1046/j.1469-8137.1999.00353.x
- Ravnskov, S., Jensen, B., Knudsen, I. M. B., Bødker, L., Funck Jensen, D., Karliński, L., & Larsen, J. (2006). Soil Inoculation with the Biocontrol Agent *Clonostachys rosea* and the Mycorrhizal Fungus *Glomus intraradices* Results in Mutual Inhibition, Plant Growth Promotion and Alteration of Soil Microbial Communities. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 38(12), 3453–3462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.06.003
- Rawls, W. (1983). Estimating Soil Bulk Density from Particle Size Analysis and Organic Matter Content. *Soil Science*, 135(2), 123–125.
- Ray, R. W., & Brady, N. C. (1996). The Nature and Properties of Soils (5th ed.). Pearson. https://doi.org/10.2307/3894608
- Redecker, D., Kodner, R., & Graham, L. E. (2000). Glomalean Fungi from the Ordovician. *Science*, 289(5486), 1920–1921. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.289.5486.1920
- Reeder, J., & Knight, R. (2010). Rapid Denoising of Pyrosequencing Amplicon Data: Exploiting the Rank-abundance Distribution. *Nature Methods*, 7(9), 668–669. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth0910-668b.Rapid
- Reid, A., & Greene, S. E. (2013). How Microbes can Help Feed the World. American Academy of Microbiology.
- Richardson, A. E., Barea, J. M., McNeill, A. M., & Prigent-Combaret, C. (2009). Acquisition of Phosphorus and Nitrogen in the Rhizosphere and Plant Growth Promotion by Microorganisms. *Plant and Soil*, 321(1–2), 305–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-9895-2
- Rillig, M. C., & Field, C. B. (2003). Arbuscular Mycorrhizae Respond to Plants Exposed to Elevated Atmospheric CO2 as a Function of Soil Depth. *Plant* and Soil, 254(2), 383–391. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025539100767
- Rineau, F., & Garbaye, J. (2009). Effects of Liming on Ectomycorrhizal Community Structure in Relation to Soil Horizons and Tree Hosts. *Fungal Ecology*, 2(3), 103–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2009.01.006

- Rodríguez-Caballero, G., Caravaca, F., Fernández-González, A. J., Alguacil, M. M., Fernández-López, M., & Roldán, A. (2017). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Inoculation Mediated Changes in Rhizosphere Bacterial Community Structure while Promoting Revegetation in a Semiarid Ecosystem. *Science of the Total Environment*, 584–585, 838–848. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scitotenv.2017.01.128
- Rodriguez, A., & Sanders, I. R. (2015). The Role of Community and Population Ecology in Applying Mycorrhizal Fungi for Improved Food Security. *ISME Journal*, 9(5), 1053–1061. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2014.207
- Rodríguez, H., & Fraga, R. (1999). Phosphate Solubilizing Bacteria and Their Role in Plant Growth Promotion. 17, 319–339.
- Rouached, H., Arpat, A. B., & Poirier, Y. (2010). The Role of Nutrient Availability in Regulating Root Architecture. *Molecular Plant*, 3(2), 288–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-5266(03)00035-9
- Rousk, J., Bååth, E., Brookes, P. C., Lauber, C. L., Lozupone, C., Caporaso, J. G., Knight, R., & Fierer, N. (2010). Soil Bacterial and Fungal communities Across a pH Gradient in an Arable Soil. *ISME Journal*, 4(10), 1340–1351. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2010.58
- Rousk, J., Brookes, P. C., & Bååth, E. (2009). Contrasting Soil pH Effects on Fungal and Bacterial Growth Suggest Functional Redundancy in Carbon Mineralization. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75(6), 1589–1596. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02775-08
- Ryan, J., Ibrikci, H., Delgado, A., Torrent, J., Sommer, R., & Rashid, A. (2012). Significance of Phosphorus for Agriculture and the Environment in the West Asia and North Africa Region. In Advances in Agronomy (1st ed., Vol. 114, Issue December 2017). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-394275-3.00004-3
- Saleem, A., Irshad, M., Hassan, A., Mahmood, Q., & Eneji, A. E. (2017). Extractability and Bioavailability of Phosphorus in Soils Amended with Poultry Manure Co-composted with Crop Wastes. *Journal of Soil Science* and Plant Nutrition, 17(3), 609–623. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-9516201 7000300005
- Samba-Mbaye, R. T., Anoir, C. M., Diouf, D., Kane, A., Diop, I., Assigbete, K., Tendeng, P., & Sylla, S. N. (2020). Diversity of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi (AMF) and Soils Potential Infectivity of Vachellia nilotica (L.) P.J.H. Hurter Mabb. Rhizosphere in Senegalese Salt-affected Soils. African Journal of Biotechnology, 19(7), 487–499. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajb2020.17133
- Sanchez, P. A. (2002). Soil Fertility and Hunger in Africa. Science's Compass, March 2002, 10–15. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download? doi=10.1.1.362.6021&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Sanginga, D. N., & Woomer, D. P. L. (2009). Integrated Soil Fertility Management in Africa: Principles, practices and Developmental Process.
- Satyaprakash, M., Nikitha, T., Reddi, E. U. B., & Vani, S. S. (2017). Phosphorous and Phosphate Solubilising Bacteria and their Role in Plant Nutrition. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 6(4), 2133–2144. https://doi.org/10.20546/ijcmas.2017.604.251
- Savary, R., Dupuis, C., Masclaux, F. G., Mateus, I. D., Rojas, E. C., & Sanders, I. R. (2020). Genetic Variation and Evolutionary History of a Mycorrhizal Fungus

Regulate the Currency of Exchange in Symbiosis with the Food Security Crop Cassava. *ISME Journal*, 14(6), 1333–1344. https://doi.org/10.1038/s 41396-020-0606-6

- Schachtman, D. P., Reid, R. J., & Ayling, S. M. (1998). Phosphorus Uptake by Plants: From Soil to Cell. *Plant Physiology*, 116(2), 447–453. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.116.2.447
- Schnepf, A., Roose, T., & Schweiger, P. (2008). Impact of Growth and Uptake Patterns of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi on Plant Phosphorus Uptake - A Modelling Study. *Plant and Soil*, 312(1–2), 85–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s 11104-008-9749-3
- Schreiner, R. P., Ivors, K. L., & Pinkerton, J. N. (2001). Soil Solarization Reduces Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi as a Consequence of Weed Suppression. *Mycorrhiza*, 11(6), 273–277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s005720100131
- Schubert, A., & Lubraco, G. (2000). Mycorrhizal Inoculation Enhances Growth and Nutrient Uptake of Micropropagated Apple Rootstocks During Weaning in Commercial Substrates of High Nutrient Availability. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 15(2), 113–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-1393(00)00086-X
- Schulte, E. E., & Hoskins, B. (2009). Recommended Soil Organic Matter Tests. Recommended Soil Testing Procedures for the Northeastern United States. Cooperative Bulletin No. 493 (63–74).
- Selim, M. M. (2020). Introduction to the Integrated Nutrient Management Strategies and Their Contribution to Yield and Soil Properties. A Review Article. *Hindawi International Journal of Agronomy* ID 2821678, 14 pages https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/2821678
- Selvi, K., Paul, J., Vijaya, V., & Saraswathi, K. (2017). Analyzing the Efficacy of Phosphate Solubilizing Microorganisms by Enrichment Culture Techniques. *Biochemistry & Molecular Biology Journal*, 03(01). https://doi.org/10.21767/ 2471-8084.100029
- Shen, J., Li, C., Mi, G., Li, L., Yuan, L., Jiang, R., & Zhang, F. (2013a). Maximizing Root/Rhizosphere Efficiency to Improve Crop Productivity and Nutrient Use Efficiency in Intensive Agriculture of China. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 64(5), 1181–1192. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ers342
- Shen, J., Li, C., Mi, G., Li, L., Yuan, L., Jiang, R., & Zhang, F. (2013b). Maximizing Root/Rhizosphere Efficiency to Improve Crop Productivity and Nutrient Use Efficiency in Intensive Agriculture of China. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 64(5), 1181–1192. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ers342
- Shen, J., Yuan, L., Zhang, J., Li, H., Bai, Z., Chen, X., Zhang, W., & Zhang, F. (2011). Phosphorus Dynamics: From Soil to Plant. *Plant Physiology*, 156(3), 997–1005. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.111.175232
- Shi, L., Guttenberger, M., Kottke, I., & Hampp, R. (2002). The Effect of Drought on Mycorrhizas of Beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.): Changes in Community Structure, and the Content of Carbohydrates and Nitrogen Storage Bodies of the Fungi. *Mycorrhiza*, 12(6), 303–311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-002-0197-2
- Shin, H., Shin, H. S., Dewbre, G. R., & Harrison, M. J. (2004). Phosphate Transport in Arabidopsis: Pht1;1 and Pht1;4 Play a Major Role in Phosphate Acquisition from Both Low- and High-phosphate Environments. *Plant Journal*, 39(4), 629–642. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2004.02161.x

- Shukla, A., Vyas, D., & Jha, A. (2013). Soil Depth: An Overriding Factor for Distribution of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 13(1), 23–33. https://doi.org/10.4067/s0718-95162013005000003
- Siddiqui, Z. A., Akhtar, M. S., & Futai, K. (2008). Mycorrhizae: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry. In Mycorrhizae: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry (Issue July). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8770-7
- Silva, L. C. R., & Lambers, H. (2020). Soil-plant-atmosphere Interactions: Structure, Function, and Predictive Scaling for Climate Change Mitigation. Plant and Soil. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-020-04427-1
- Sladonja, B., Krapac, M., Ban, D., Uaila, Z., Dudaš, S., & Dorčić, D. (2014). Effect of Soil Type on Pyrethrum Seed Germination. *Journal of Plant Protection Research*, 54(4), 421–425. https://doi.org/10.2478/jppr-2014-0063
- Smaling, E. M. A., Nandwa, S. M., & Janssen, B. H. (1997). Soil Fertility in Africa Is at Stake. 51, 47–61. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaspecpub51.c2
- Smith, & Read, D. (2008). Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. In Soil Science (Vol. 137, Issue 3). Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier 360 Park Avenue South, New York, NY 10010-1710 84 Theobald's Road, London WC1X 8RR, UK 30 Corporate Drive, Suite 400, Burlington, MA 01803, USA 525 B Street, Suite 1900, San Diego, CA 92101-4495, USA. https://doi.org/10.1097/00010694-198403000-00011
- Smith, S. E., & Smith, F. A. (2011). Roles of Arbuscular Mycorrhizas in Plant Nutrition and Growth: New Paradigms from Cellular to Ecosystem Scales. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042110-103846
- Sohindji, F. S., Sogbohossou, D. E. O., Zohoungbogbo, H. P. F., Houdegbe, C. A., & Achigan-Dako, E. G. (2020). Understanding Molecular Mechanisms of Seed Dormancy for Improved Germination in Traditional Leafy Vegetables: An overview. Agronomy, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10010057
- Song, J., Han, Y., Bai, B., Jin, S., He, Q., & Ren, J. (2019). Diversity of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Rhizosphere Soils of the Chinese Medicinal Herb Sophora flavescens Ait. Soil and Tillage Research, 195(August), 104423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2019.104423
- Song, Z., Bi, Y., Zhang, J., Gong, Y., & Yang, H. (2020). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Promote the Growth of Plants in the Mining Associated Clay. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59447-9
- Stancheva, I., Geneva, M., Zehirov, G., Tsvetkova, G., Hristozkova, M., & Georgiev, G. (2006). Effects of Combined Inoculation of Pea Plants With Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Rhizobium on Nodule Formation and Nitrogen Fixing Activity. Appl. Plant Physiology, Special Issue, May 2014, 61–66.
- Sugiyama, A., Ueda, Y., Zushi, T., Takase, H., & Yazaki, K. (2014). Changes in the Bacterial Community of Soybean Rhizospheres During Growth in the Field. *PLoS ONE*, 9(6), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0100709
- Swaty, R. L., Deckert, R. J., Whitham, T. G., & Gehring, C. A. (2004). Ectomycorrhizal Abundance and Community Composition Shifts with Drought: Predictions From Tree Rings. *Ecology*, 85(4), 1072–1084. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-0224
- Tiamtanong, S., Sinma, K., Mala, T., Rungcharoenthong, P., & Amkha, S. (2015). Effects of Mycorrhizal Fungi with Phosphate Fertilizer Applications on

Phosphate Solubilizing and Soil Properties of Grapes Orchard Saifon. In *Modern Applied Science* (Vol. 9, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.5539/mas.v9n1p149

- Tirado, R., & Allsopp, M. (2012). Phosphorus in Agriculture Problems and Solutions. Greenpeace Research Laboratories Technical Report, 3–30.
- Tommerup, I. C., & Abbott, L. K. (1981). Prolonged Survival and Viability of VA Mycorrhizal Hyphae After Root Death. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 13(5), 431–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(81)90090-0
- Torrecillas, E., Del Mar Alguacil, M., & Roldán, A. (2012). Differences in the AMF Diversity in Soil and Roots Between Two Annual and Perennial Gramineous Plants Co-occurring in a Mediterranean, semiarid degraded Area. *Plant and Soil*, 354(1–2), 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-011-1047-9
- Touhami, D., McDowell, R. W., & Condron, L. M. (2020). Role of Organic Anions and Phosphatase Enzymes in Phosphorus Acquisition in the Rhizospheres of Legumes and Grasses Grown in a Low Phosphorus Pasture Soil. *Plants*, 9(1185).
- Trouvelot, A., Kough, J., & Gianinazzi-Pearson, V. (1986). Evaluation of VA Infection Levels in Root Systems. Research for Estimation Methods Having a Functional Significance. Physiological and Genetical Aspects of Mycorrhizae, 217–221.
- Turner, B. L., Condron, L. M., Richardson, S. J., Peltzer, D. A., & Allison, V. J. (2007). Soil Organic Phosphorus Transformations During Pedogenesis Benjamin. In *Ecosystems* (Vol. 10, Issue 7). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-007-9086-z
- Turner, B. L., & Leytem, A. B. (2004). Phosphorus Compounds in Sequential Extracts of Animal Manures: Chemical Speciation and a Novel Fractionation Procedure. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 38(22), 6101–6108. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0493042
- Urcelay, C., & Díaz, S. (2003). The Mycorrhizal Dependence of Subordinates Determines the Effect of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi on Plant Diversity. *Ecology Letters*, 6(5), 388–391. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2003.00444.x
- Valdés-Rodríguez, O. A., Sánchez-Sánchez, O., & Pérez-Vázquez, A. (2013). Effects of Soil Texture on Germination and Survival of Non-toxic Jatropha curcas Seeds. Biomass and Bioenergy, 48, 167–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biombioe.2012.10.025
- van Der Heijden, M. G. A., Klironomos, J. N., Ursic, M., Moutoglis, P., Streitwolf-Engel, R., Boller, T., Wiemken, A., & Sanders, I. R. (1998). Mycorrhizal Fungal Diversity Determines Plant Biodiversity, Ecosystem Variability and Productivity. *Nature*, 396(6706), 69–72. https://doi.org/10.1038/23932
- van Kauwenbergh, S. J. (2010). World Phosphate Rock Reserves and Resources Technical Bulletin IFDC-T-75. Ifdc-T-75, 48.
- van Vuuren, D. P., Bouwman, A. F., & Beusen, A. H. W. (2010). Phosphorus Demand for the 1970-2100 Period: A Scenario Analysis of Resource Depletion. *Global Environmental Change*, 20(3), 428–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2010.04.004
- Vance, C. P. (2010). Quantitative Trait Loci, Epigenetics, Sugars, and microRNAs: Quaternaries in Phosphate Acquisition and Use. *Plant Physiology*, 154(2), 582–588. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.110.161067

- Vance, C. P., Uhde-Stone, C., & Allan, D. L. (2003). Phosphorus Acquisition and Use: Critical Adaptations by Plants for Securing a Nonrenewable Resource. *New Phytologist*, 157(3), 423–447. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.2003.00695.x
- Varga, S. (2015). Effects of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Maternal Plant Sex on Seed Germination and Early Plant Establishment. *American Journal of Botany*, 102(3), 358–366. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1400361
- Varma, A. (1998). B. L. M. S. Biology Lab Manual. Springer science and business media. ht. Springer science and business media. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-60268-9Science
- Varma, A., Prasad, R., & Tuteja, N. (2017). Mycorrhiza function, Diversity, State of the Art: Fourth Edition. In *Mycorrhiza* - Function, Diversity, State of the Art: Fourth Edition (Issue July 2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-53064-2
- Varma, Bakshi, M., Lou, B., Hartmann, A., & Oelmueller, R. (2012). Piriformospora indica: A Novel Plant Growth-Promoting Mycorrhizal Fungus. Agricultural Research, 1(2), 117–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40003-012-0019-5
- Verbruggen, E., van der Heijden, M. G. A., Rillig, M. C., & Kiers, E. T. (2013). Mycorrhizal Fungal Establishment in Agricultural Soils: Factors Determining Inoculation Success. *New Phytologist*, 197(4), 1104–1109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04348.x
- Vogelsang, K. M., Reynolds, H. L., Bever, J. D., & Vogelsang, K. M. (2006). University of Durham Computing Laboratory. New, 172, 554–562. https://doi.org/10.1038/181312b0
- Wagg, C., Jansa, J., Schmid, B., & van der Heijden, M. G. A. (2011a). Belowground Biodiversity Effects of Plant Symbionts Support Above ground Productivity. *Ecology Letters*, 14(10), 1001–1009. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01666.x
- Wagg, C., Jansa, J., Stadler, M., Schmid, B., & van Der Heijden, M. G. A. (2011b). Mycorrhizal Fungal Identity and Diversity Relaxes Plant-plant Competition. *Ecology*, 92(6), 1303–1313. https://doi.org/10.1890/10-1915.1
- Wali, F., Naveed, M., Bashir, M. A., Asif, M., Ahmad, Z., Alkahtani, J., Alwahibi, M. S., & Elshikh, M. S. (2020). Formulation of Biochar-based Phosphorus Fertilizer and its Impact on Both Soil Properties and Chickpea Growth Performance. *Sustainability* (*Switzerland*), 12(22), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12229528
- Wallander, H., Massicotte, H. B., & Nylund, J.-E. (1997). Seasonal Variation in Protein, Ergosterol and Chiti: N in Five Morphotypes of *Pinus Sylvestris* in a *Mature Swedish*, 29(1), 45–53.
- Wang, B. L., Shen, J. B., Zhang, W. H., Zhang, F. S., & Neumann, G. (2007). Citrate Exudation from White Lupin Induced by Phosphorus Deficiency Differs from that Induced by Aluminum B. *New Phytologist*, 176(3), 581–589. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17725555/
- Wang, B. L., Tang, X. Y., Cheng, L. Y., Zhang, A. Z., Zhang, W. H., Zhang, F. S., Liu, J. Q., Cao, Y., Allan, D. L., Vance, C. P., & Shen, J. B. (2010). Nitric Oxide is Involved in Phosphorus Deficiency-induced Cluster-root Development and Citrate Exudation in White Lupin. *New Phytologist*, 187(4), 1112–1123. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03323.x

- Wang, S., Chen, A., Xie, K., Yang, X., Luo, Z., Chen, J., Zeng, D., Ren, Y., Yang, C., Wang, L., Feng, H., López-Arredondo, D. L., Herrera-Estrella, L. R., & Xu, G. (2020). Functional Analysis of the OsNPF4.5 Nitrate Transporter Reveals a Conserved Mycorrhizal Pathway of Nitrogen Acquisition in Plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 117(28), 16649–16659. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2000926117
- Watson, M. A., Scott, K., Griffith, J., Dieter, S., Jones, C. S., & Nanda, S. (2001). The Developmental Ecology of Mycorrhizal Associations in Mayapple, *Podophyllum peltatum*, Berberidaceae. *Evolutionary Ecology*, 15(4–6), 425– 442. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016097217834
- Weeks, J. J., & Hettiarachchi, G. M. (2019). A Review of the Latest in Phosphorus Fertilizer Technology: Possibilities and Pragmatism. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 48(5), 1300–1313. https://doi.org/10.2134/ jeq2019.02.0067
- White, T. J., Bruns, T., Lee, S., & Taylor, J. (1990). Amplification and Direct Sequencing of Fungal Ribosomal Rna Genes for Phylogenetics. PCR Protocols, January, 315–322. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-372180-8.50042-1
- Wilson, G. W. T., & Hartnett, D. C. (1998). Interspecific Variation in Plant Responses to Mycorrhizal Colonization in Tallgrass Prairie. American Journal of Botany, 85(12), 1732–1738. https://doi.org/10.2307/2446507
- Wissuwa, M., Mazzola, M., & Picard, C. (2009). Novel Approaches in Plant Breeding for Rhizosphere-related Traits. *Plant and Soil*, 321(1–2), 117–152. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-008-9885-9
- Wood, M. (1995). A Mechanism of Aluminium Toxicity to Soil Bacteria and Possible Ecological Implications. *Plant and Soil*, 171(1), 63–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00009566
- Xomphoutheb, T., Jiao, S., Guo, X., Mabagala, F. S., Sui, B., Wang, H., Zhao, L., & Zhao, X. (2020). The Effect of Tillage Systems on Phosphorus Distribution and Forms in Rhizosphere and Non-rhizosphere Soil Under Maize (*Zea mays* L.) in Northeast China. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-63567-7
- Yao, H., Chen, X., Yang, J., Li, J., Hong, J., Hu, Y., & Mao, X. (2020). Effects and mechanisms of phosphate activation in paddy soil by phosphorus activators. Sustainability (Switzerland), 12(9), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12093917
- Yasmeen, T., Hameed, S., Tariq, M., & Iqbal, J. (2012). Vigna Radiata Root Associated Mycorrhizae and their Helping Bacteria for Improving Crop Productivity. Pakistan Journal of Botany, 44(1), 87–94.
- Yousefi, A. A., Khavazi, K., Moezi, A. A., Rejali, F., & Nadian, H. A. (2011). Phosphate Solubilizing Bacteria and Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Impacts on Inorganic Phosphorus Fractions and Wheat Growth. World Applied Sciences Journal, 15(9), 1310–1318.
- Yu, K., & Zhang, T. (2012). Metagenomic and Metatranscriptomic Analysis of Microbial Community Structure and Gene Expression of Activated Sludge. *PLoS ONE*, 7(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0038183
- Zhang, F., Shen, J., Zhang, J., Zuo, Y., Li, L., & Chen, X. (2010). Rhizosphere Processes and Management for Improving Nutrient Use Efficiency and Crop Productivity. Implications for China. In Advances in Agronomy (1st ed., Vol. 107, Issue C). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(10)07001-X

Zimudzi, J., Waals, J. E. van Der, Coutinho, T. A., Cowan, D. A., & Valverde, A. (2018). Temporal Shifts of Fungal Communities in the Rhizosphere and on Tubers in Potato Fields Josephine. *Fungal Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.funbio.2018.05.008

#### **APPENDICES**



### Appendix 1: Plates showing Aspilia pluriseta shrub and the root fungus

Plate 1.1. Aspilia pluriseta Schweif. shrub growing in the wild in Tunyai, Kenya during the wet season (Photo taken by James Muchoka on 10th November, 2017)

Plate 1.2. Roots of a newly uprooted Aspilia pluriseta exposing the white mycelia (Photo taken by James Muchoka on 10th November, 2017)

#### **Appendix 2: Soil Sampling at the sites**





- Plate 3.1.Collection of soil samples at Kanyuambora, 00021'00" S, 37028'30"E (Photo by James Muchoka, 12th September 2017)
- Plate 3.2. Soil samples collection at Tunyai site, 00010'00" S, 37050'00" E (Photo by James Muchoka, 12th September 2017);
- Plate 3.3. Soil samples collection at Gakurungu, 00012'00" S, 37051'00" E (Photo by James Muchoka, 13th September 2017);
- Plate 3.4.Silt loam soil sampling along the rhizosphere of Aspilia pluriseta in<br/>Tunyai site (Photo by James Muchoka, 28th September 2017)

(Persons whose photos appear in this chapter gave express permission to be photographed and used in this document)

Soil type	Soil	Donth	Inoculations		
Son type	cover	Deptii	moculations		
Silty Clay	Asp	0-20	1		
Silty Clay	Asp	0-20	2		
Silty Clay	Asp	21-40	1		
Silty Clay	Asp	21-40	2		
Silty Clay	Asp	41-60	1		
Silty Clay	Asp	41-60	2		
Silty Clay	No Asp	0-20	1		
Silty Clay	No Asp	0-20	2		
Silty Clay	No Asp	21-40	1		
Silty Clay	No Asp	21-40	2		
Silty Clay	No Asp	41-60	1		
Silty Clay	No Asp	41-60	2		
silt Loam	Asp	0-20	1		
silt Loam	Asp	0-20	2		
silt Loam	Asp	21-40	1		
silt Loam	Asp	21-40	2		
silt Loam	Asp	41-60	1		
silt Loam	Asp	41-60	2		
silt Loam	No Asp	0-20	1		
silt Loam	No Asp	0-20	2		
silt Loam	No Asp	21-40	1		
silt Loam	No Asp	21-40	2		
silt Loam	No Asp	41-60	1		
silt Loam	No Asp	41-60	2		
Sandy loam	Asp	0-20	1		
Sandy loam	Asp	0-20	2		
Sandy loam	Asp	21-40	1		
Sandy loam	Asp	21-40	2		
Sandy loam	Asp	41-60	1		
Sandy loam	Asp	41-60	2		
Sandy loam	No Asp	0-20	1		
Sandy loam	No Asp	0-20	2		
Sandy loam	No Asp	21-40	1		
Sandy loam	No Asp	21-40	2		
Sandy loam	No Asp	41-60	1		
Sandy loam	No Asp	41-60	2		

Appendix 3: Layout of treatment factors for experiment one

Factor	<b>G7</b>	H7	NL7	LL7	SC14	H14	NL14	LL14	SC21	H21	NL21	LL21	SC28	H28	NL28
Silty Clay Silt	83.3b	6.2a	1.9b	5.4a	83.3b	19.3a	2.7a	15.8a	83.3b	48.3a	2.9a	37.1a	84.4b	94.7a	3.1a
Loam	96.9a	6.3a	1.9ab	4.5b	96.9a	19.1a	2.8a	12.8b	94.8a	46.9a	3.0a	30.7b	94.8a	93.4a	3.0a
Sandy Loam	90.2ab	5.2b	2.0a	3.8c	90.2ab	16.0b	2.8a	10.9c	90.2ab	39.1b	2.8b	25.5c	90.2ab	72.3b	3.1a
LSD	7.2	0.6	0.2	0.5	7.2	1.8	0.2	1.6	7.6	3.6	0.1	3.7	7.6	6.5	0.1
Block 1	83.3b	6.2ab	1.8b	5.3a	83.3b	19.6a	2.8ab	15.6a	83.3b	48.8a	3.0a	37.5a	84.7b	96.9a	3.1a
Block 2	91.7ab	6.7a	2.0a	4.9ab	91.7ab	19.5a	2.7b	14.9a	91.7ab	48.4ab	2.9a	33.1b	91.7ab	90.8ab	3.0b
Block 3	98.6a	5.7b	2.0a	4.3b	98.6a	17.7a	2.9a	11.7b	95.8a	44.3b	3.0a	28.6b	95.8a	86.0b	3.1a
Block 4	86.9b	5.0c	1.9ab	3.6c	86.9b	15.7b	2.7b	10.5b	86.9b	37.6c	2.8b	25.2c	86.9b	73.4c	3.0b
LSD	8.3	0.7	0.2	0.6	8.3	2	0.2	1.9	8.7	4.2	0.1	4.3	8.8	7.5	0.1
NoAp	83.8b	5.3b	1.9b	4.3b	83.8b	17.1b	2.7a	12.8a	83.8b	43.6a	2.9a	31.0a	84.4b	84.2a	3.0a
Ар	96.5a	6.5a	2.0a	4.8a	96.5a	19.1a	2.8a	13.6a	95.1a	45.9a	2.9a	31.2a	95.1a	89.3a	3.1a
LSD	5.9	0.5	0.1	0.4	5.9	1.4	0.1	1.3	6.2	3	0.1	3	6.2	5.3	0.1
0-20 cm	95.8a	7.1a	2.1a	5.4a	95.8a	20.8a	2.9a	15.6a	95.8a	50.5a	3.0a	35.8a	95.8a	93.7a	3.2a
21-40 cm	90.6ab	5.8b	1.8b	4.1b	90.6ab	18.2b	2.9a	12.0b	90.6a	44.0b	3.0a	27.8b	90.6a	84.2b	3.0b
41-60 cm	84.0b	4.8c	1.8b	4.1b	84.0b	15.4c	2.4b	11.9b	81.9b	39.7c	2.8b	29.7b	82.9b	82.4b	3.0b

Appendix 4: Test factors and variables for greenhouse experiments

117

LSD	7.2	0.6	0.2	0.5	7.2	1.8	0.2	1.6	7.6	3.6	0.1	3.7	7.6	6.5	0.1
SOi	83.8b	5.3b	1.9b	4.3b	83.8b	17.1b	2.7a	12.8a	83.8b	43.6a	2.9a	31.0a	84.4b	84.2a	3.0b
SNi	96.5a	6.5a	2.0a	4.8a	96.5a	19.1a	2.8a	13.6a	95.1a	45.9a	2.9a	31.2a	95.1a	89.3a	3.1a
LSD	5.9	0.5	0.1	0.4	5.9	1.4	0.1	1.3	6.2	3	0.1	3	6.2	5.3	0.1
Mean	90.1	5.9	1.9	4.5	90.1	18.1	2.7	13.2	89.4	44.8	2.9	31.1	89.8	86.8	3

Factor	LL28	SC35	H35	NL35	LL35	SC42	H42	NL42	LL42	SC49	H49	NL49	LL 49
Silty Clay	74.4a	82.3b	113.6a	3.6a	93.7a	79.8b	115.3b	3.8b	93.8b	80.3b	115.3b	3.7b	94.0b
Silt Loam	69.2a	94.8a	119.1a	3.7a	93.7a	94.8a	124.5a	4.0a	102.9a	94.8a	124.5a	4.0a	102.3a
Sandy Loam	48.2b	90.2a	100.5b	3.5a	74.0b	86.1ab	120.9a	3.7b	94.8b	85.5b	127.7a	3.9a	104.9a
LSD	7.6	7.8	5.5	0.2	5.5	8.8	3.8	0.2	4.6	8.8	3.3	0.2	4
Block 1	76.0a	81.9b	114.6a	3.6bc	91.2ab	78.6b	116.8b	3.8bc	91.2b	79.3b	116.8b	3.7b	91.6b
Block 2	69.3a	91.7a	115.0a	3.7ab	96.9a	91.7a	118.4b	3.9ab	101.3a	91.7a	118.3b	3.9ab	101.4a
Block 3	59.9b	95.8a	115.5a	3.8a	87.0b	90.6a	124.6a	4.0a	101.1a	90.6a	127.5a	4.0a	105.0a
Block 4	50.6c	86.9ab	99.1b	3.4c	73.5c	86.8ab	121.1ab	3.6c	94.9b	86.0ab	127.3a	3.8b	104.5a
LSD	8.8	9	6.3	0.2	6.3	10.2	4.4	0.2	5.3	10.2	3.8	0.2	4.6
NoAp	61.8a	83.1b	112.5a	3.6a	88.9a	79.4b	120.6a	3.8a	97.8a	78.6b	121.2a	3.8a	99.3a
Ар	66.1a	95.1a	109.6a	3.6a	85.4a	94.4a	119.9a	3.8a	96.5a	95.1a	123.8a	3.8a	101.9a
LSD	6.2	6.3	4.5	0.1	4.5	7.2	3.1	0.1	3.8	7.2	2.7	0.1	3.3
0-20 cm	70.9a	95.8a	115.9a	3.8a	89.3a	91.5a	123.3a	4.0a	98.2ab	91.5a	125.5a	4.0a	101.5a
21-40 cm	57.8b	90.6a	109.0b	3.5b	84.0a	88.5ab	119.0b	3.9a	94.1b	89.0ab	121.6b	3.9a	98.5a
41-60 cm	63.2b	80.8b	108.3b	3.4b	88.1a	80.7b	118.3b	3.6b	99.1a	80.2b	120.3b	3.7b	101.9a

LSD	7.6	7.8	5.5	0.2	5.5	8.8	3.8	0.2	4.6	8.8	3.3	0.2	4
SOi	61.8a	83.1b	112.5a	3.6a	88.9a	79.4b	120.6a	3.8a	97.8a	78.6b	121.2a	3.8a	99.3a
SNi	66.1a	95.1a	109.6a	3.6a	88.4a	94.4a	119.9a	3.8a	96.5a	95.1a	123.8a	3.8a	101.9a
LSD	6.2	6.3	4.5	0.1	4.5	7.2	3.1	0.1	3.8	7.2	2.7	0.1	3.3
Mean	64	89.1	111.1	3.6	87.1	86.9	120.2	3.8	97.1	86.9	122.5	3.8	100.6

Factor	<b>SC56</b>	H56	NL56	LL56	<b>SC63</b>	H63	NL63	LL63	<b>SC70</b>	H70	NL70	LL70
Silty Clay	80.3b	115.3b	3.8b	94.0b	80.3b	115.3b	4.0b	94.0b	80.3b	115.3b	4.0c	94.1b
Silt Loam	94.8a	124.5a	4.1a	102.9a	93.8a	124.5a	4.4a	102.9a	93.8a	124.5a	4.6a	102.9a
Sandy Loam	85.0b	127.7a	4.0a	104.9a	85.0ab	127.7a	4.1b	104.9a	84.6b	127.7a	4.2b	104.9a
LSD	9	3.3	0.2	4	9	3.3	0.2	4	9.1	3.3	0.2	4
Block 1	79.3b	116.8b	3.8b	91.6b	79.3b	116.8b	4.1bc	91.6b	79.3b	116.8b	4.1b	91.7b
Block 2	91.7a	118.3b	4.0a	101.4a	91.7a	118.3b	4.4a	101.4a	91.7a	118.3b	4.4a	101.4a
Block 3	90.6a	127.5a	4.1a	105.0a	89.2ab	127.5a	4.2ab	105.0a	89.2ab	127.5a	4.4a	105.0a
Block 4	85.3ab	127.3a	3.9ab	104.5a	85.3ab	127.3a	4.0c	104.5a	84.7ab	127.3a	4.1b	105.5a
LSD	10.4	3.8	0.2	4.6	10.4	3.8	0.2	4.6	10.5	3.8	0.2	4.6
NoAp	78.3b	121.2a	3.9a	99.3a	77.6b	121.2a	4.2a	99.3a	77.3b	121.2a	4.3a	99.4a

Ар	95.1a	123.8a	3.9a	101.9a	95.1a	123.8a	4.2a	101.9a	95.1a	123.8a	4.2a	101.9a
LSD	7.3	2.7	0.1	3.3	7.3	2.7	0.2	3.3	7.4	2.7	0.2	3.3
0-20 cm	91.5a	125.5a	4.1a	101.5a	91.5a	125.5a	4.6a	101.5a	91.5a	125.5a	4.6a	101.6a
21-40 cm	88.5ab	121.6b	4.0a	98.5a	88.5a	121.6b	4.3b	98.5a	88.5a	121.6b	4.4b	98.5a
41-60 cm	80.1b	120.3b	3.7b	101.9a	79.1b	120.3b	3.7c	101.9a	78.6b	120.3b	3.9c	101.9a
LSD	9	3.3	0.2	4	9	3.3	0.2	4	9.1	3.3	0.2	4
LSD SOi	9 78.3b	3.3 121.2a	0.2 3.9a	4 99.3a	9 77.6b	3.3 121.2a	0.2 4.2a	4 99.3a	9.1 77.3b	3.3 121.2a	0.2 4.3a	4 99.4a
LSD SOi SNi	9 78.3b 95.1a	3.3 121.2a 123.8a	0.2 3.9a 3.9a	4 99.3a 101.9a	9 77.6b 95.1a	3.3 121.2a 123.8a	0.2 4.2a 4.2a	4 99.3a 101.9a	9.1 77.3b 95.1a	3.3 121.2a 123.8a	0.2 4.3a 4.2a	4 99.4a 101.9a
LSD SOi SNi LSD	9 78.3b 95.1a 7.3	3.3 121.2a 123.8a 2.7	0.2 3.9a 3.9a 0.1	4 99.3a 101.9a 3.3	9 77.6b 95.1a 7.3	3.3 121.2a 123.8a 2.7	0.2 4.2a 4.2a 0.2	4 99.3a 101.9a 3.3	9.1 77.3b 95.1a 7.4	3.3 121.2a 123.8a 2.7	0.2 4.3a 4.2a 0.2	4 99.4a 101.9a 3.3

Factor	<b>SC77</b>	H77	NL77	1	LL77	<b>SC84</b>	H84	NL84	LL84	Y84
Silty Clay	80.3b	116.4c	4.4c		94.1b	80.3b	115.3b	4.3c	94.1b	19.2c
Silt Loam	93.8a	124.5b	5.3a		102.9a	93.8a	124.5a	5.3a	102.9a	28.1a
Sandy Loam	84.6b	127.7a	4.6b		104.9a	84.6b	127.7a	4.6b	104.9a	21.9b
LSD	9.1	3.2		0.2	4	9.1	3.3	0.2	4	1.2
Block 1	79.3b	118.4b	4.6b		91.7b	79.3b	116.8a	4.6b	91.7b	19.9c
Block 2	91.7a	118.3b	5.0a		101.4a	91.7a	118.3b	5.0a	101.4a	25.1a
Block 3	89.2ab	127.5a	4.9a		105.0a	89.2ab	127.5a	5.0a	105.0a	25.7a
Block 4	84.7ab	127.3a	4.4b		104.5a	84.7ab	127.3a	4.4b	104.5a	21.6b
LSD	10.5	3.7		0.2	4.6	10.5	3.8	0.2	4.6	1.4
NoAp	77.3b	122.0a	4.8a		99.4a	77.3b	121.2a	4.8a	99.4a	21.8b
Ар	95.1a	123.8a	4.7a		101.9a	95.1a	123.8a	4.7b	101.9a	24.3a
LSD	7.4	2.6		0.2	3.3	7.4	2.7	0.1	3.3	1

0-20 cm	91.5a	125.5a	5.3a		101.6a	91.5a	125.5a	5.3a	101.6a	24.3a
21-40 cm	88.5a	122.8ab	4.8b		98.5a	88.5a	121.6b	4.8b	98.5a	25.3a
41-60 cm	78.6b	120.3b	4.2c		101.9a	78.6b	120.3b	4.2c	101.9a	19.6b
LSD	9.1	3.2		0.2	4	9.1	3.3	0.2	4	1.2
SOi	77.3b	122.0a	4.8a		99.4a	77.3b	121.2a	4.8a	99.4a	21.8b
SNi	95.1a	123.8a	4.7a		101.9a	95.1a	123.8a	4.7b	101.9a	24.3a
LSD	7.4	2.6		0.2	3.3	7.4	2.7	0.1	3.3	1
Mean	86.2	122.9		4.7	100.7	86.2	122.5	4.7	100.7	23.1

Key:

Records were taken at the intervals of 7 days

G7-Emergence/Germination at day 7

H7-Height at day 7

NL7-Number of leaves at day 7

LL7-Length of the longest leaf at day 7

SC14-Stand count at day 14

Y84-Plant yield at day 84;

SOi-Seed inoculated

SNi-Seed not inoculated

# Appendix 5: Interaction between test factors on growth parameters of gadam sorghum

The SAS System 19:23 Saturday, September 11, 2021 1

The GLM Procedure

**Class Level Information** 

Class	Levels Values
BLOCK	4 1234
SOIL	3 123
SITE	2 12
DEPTH	3 123
INO	2 1 2

#### Number of observations 144 The SAS System 19:23 Saturday, September 11, 2021 2

#### The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: SC35 SC35

		Sum of			
Source	DF	Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	17	17586.80556	1034.51797	3.23	<.0001
Error	126	40312.50000	319.94048		
Corrected Total	14	43 57899.30	556		

R-Square	Coeff Var	Root MSE	SC35 Mean
0.303748	19.88966	17.88688	89.93056

Source	DF T	ype III SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
SOIL*SITE	0	0.000000			
SOIL*DEPTH	4	694.44444	4 173.611	111 0.5	64 0.7047
SOIL*INO	0	0.000000		•	
		122			

SITE*DEPTH	0	0.0000	. 00		•	
SITE*INO	0 0	0.000000				
SOIL*SITE*DEPTH	•	4	1041.666	6667	260.416667	0.81
0.5185						
SOIL*SITE*INO	0	0.000	000			
SITE*DEPTH*INO	0	0.00	00000			
DEPTH*INO	0	0.00000	. 00			
	The SAS	System	19:23 S	aturday,	September 1	1,2021 3

The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: H35 H35

		Sum of			
Source	DF	Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	17	23836.43653	1402.14333	12.84	<.0001
Error	126	13761.93117	109.22168		
Corrected Total	14	43 37598.36	769		

 R-Square
 Coeff Var
 Root MSE
 H35 Mean

 0.633975
 9.410620
 10.45092
 111.0545

Source	DF	Тур	e III SS	Me	an Square	F Va	lue Pr	> F
SOIL*SITE	0	(	0.000000	)				
SOIL*DEPTH		4	4585.222	2413	1146.30	5603	10.50	<.0001
SOIL*INO	0	(	0.000000	)	•			
SITE*DEPTH		0	0.0000	00				
SITE*INO	0	(	).000000	)				
SOIL*SITE*DEPTH	I		4	1846	.740430	461	.685108	4.23
0.0030								
SOIL*SITE*INO		0	0.000	000				
SITE*DEPTH*INO		0	0.00	00000				
DEPTH*INO		0	0.0000	00				
	The	SAS	System	19:2	23 Saturda	y, Sept	ember 1	1,2021 4

The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: NL35 NL35

 $\begin{array}{ccc} Sum \ of \\ Source & DF & Squares & Mean \ Square & F \ Value & Pr > F \end{array}$ 

Model	17	12.38888889	0.72875817	4.13	<.0001
Error	126	22.25000000	0.17658730		

Corrected Total 143 34.63888889

R-Square Coeff Var Root MSE NL35 Mean

 $0.357658 \quad 11.68187 \quad 0.420223 \quad 3.597222$ 

DF Type III SS Mean Square F Value Pr > FSource SOIL\*SITE 0 0.00000000 2.99 0.0214 SOIL\*DEPTH 2.11111111 0.52777778 4 SOIL\*INO 0 0.00000000 SITE\*DEPTH 0 0.00000000 . . 0.00000000 SITE\*INO 0 0.27777778 1.57 0.1855 SOIL\*SITE\*DEPTH 4 1.11111111 SOIL\*SITE\*INO 0 0.00000000 • . SITE\*DEPTH\*INO 0.00000000 0 . . . DEPTH\*INO 0 0.00000000 . . . The SAS System 19:23 Saturday, September 11, 2021 5

The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: LL35 LL35

Source	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	17	23189.04413	1364.06142	10.35	<.0001
Error	126	16610.11940	131.82634		
Corrected Total	14	43 39799.16	353		

 R-Square
 Coeff Var
 Root MSE
 LL35 Mean

 0.582652
 13.17487
 11.48157
 87.14744

Source	DF T	ype III SS	Mean Square	F Value	$\Pr > F$
SOIL*SITE	0	0.000000			
SOIL*DEPTH	4	2577.4679	644.366	5987 4.	89 0.0011
SOIL*INO	0	0.000000			

SITE*DEPTH	0	0.000000	· ·	•
SITE*INO	0 0	.000000		
SOIL*SITE*DEPTH	4	391.13100	97.782752	0.74 0.5653
SOIL*SITE*INO	0	0.000000		
SITE*DEPTH*INO	0	0.000000		
DEPTH*INO	0	0.000000		
	The SAS	System 19:2	23 Saturday, Sept	ember 11, 2021 6

The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: Y84 Y84

	1	Sum of			
Source	DF	Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	17	3717.321181	218.665952	41.14	<.0001
Error	126	669.773750	5.315665		
Corrected Total	14	4387.094	931		

R-Square	Coeff Var	Root MSE	Y84 Mean
0.847331	9.996761	2.305573	23.06319

Source	DF	Туре	e III SS	Mean	Square	F Valu	ie Pr	> F
SOIL*SITE	0	0	.000000	. 00				
SOIL*DEPTH		4	186.355	2778	46.5888	3194	8.76	<.0001
SOIL*INO	0	0	.000000	0.				
SITE*DEPTH		0	0.0000	000				
SITE*INO	0	0.	.000000	0.				
SOIL*SITE*DEPTH	[		4	180.629	91667	45.15	72917	8.50
<.0001								
SOIL*SITE*INO		0	0.000	0000			•	
SITE*DEPTH*INO		0	0.00	000000			•	
DEPTH*INO		0	0.0000	000				
	The	SAS	System	19:23	Saturda	y, Septer	nber 1	1,2021 7

The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: BLOCK BLOCK

	S	um of			
Source	DF	Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	17	176.0000000	10.3529412	326.12	<.0001
		125			

Error 126 4.0	0.0317460
---------------	-----------

Corrected Total 143 180.000000

R-Square Coeff Var Root MSE BLOCK Mean

0.977778 7.126966 0.178174 2.500000

Source DI		Гуре III SS	Mean Square	F Value Pr	: > F
SOIL*SITE	0	0.0000000	. 00		
SOIL*DEPTH	2	4 3.33333	0.833333	333 26.25	<.0001
SOIL*INO	0	0.0000000	0.		
SITE*DEPTH	0	0.00000	. 000		
SITE*INO	0	0.0000000	0.		
SOIL*SITE*DEPTH		4	3.77777778	0.94444444	29.75
<.0001					
SOIL*SITE*INO		0 0.0000	. 0000		
SITE*DEPTH*INO		0 0.000	. 000000	• •	
DEPTH*INO	0	0.000000	. 000		

## Appendix 6: pH, Phosphates and Phosphorus evaluation

The GLM Procedure

Class Level Information							
Class	Levels Values						
Soil	3 123						
Location	2 12						
Depth	3 123						

Number of observations 18 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 2

The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: pH1 pH1

1

Sum of

Source	DF	Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	5	1.26277778	0.25255556	9.67	0.0007
Error	12	0.31333333	0.02611111		
Corrected Total	1	7 1.576111	11		

R-Square	Coeff Var	Root MSE	pH1 Mean	
0.801198	2.618009	0.161589	6.172222	

Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Soil	2	0.44777778	0.22388889	8.57 0.0	049
Location	1	0.46722222	0.46722222	17.89	0.0012
Depth	2	0.34777778	0.17388889	6.66 0	.0113

Tests of Hypotheses Using the Type III MS for Soil as an Error Term

Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	F Value $Pr > F$	
Location Depth	1 2	0.46722222 0.34777778	0.46722222 0.17388889	2.09 0.2854 0.78 0.5628	
		16:45	Wednesday, N	ovember 13, 2019	3

## The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: pH2 pH2

1

		S	um of					
Source	Ι	DF	Square	es	Mean Sq	uare	F Value	Pr > F
Model		5	0.851111	11	0.17022	2222	6.96	0.0029
Error	12	2 (	).2933333	3	0.02444	444		
Corrected	Total	17	1.1444	4444	4			
	R-Square	Co	eff Var	Roo	ot MSE	pH2	Mean	
	0.743689	2.5	581880	0.1:	56347	6.055	556	
Source	Ι	DF	Type III S	SS	Mean S	quare	F Valu	e Pr > F
Soil	2	0.22111111	0.11055556	4.52 0.034	4			
----------	---	------------	------------	------------	------			
Location	1	0.26888889	0.26888889	11.00 0.0	)061			
Depth	2	0.36111111	0.18055556	7.39 0.00	81			

Tests of Hypotheses Using the Type III MS for Soil as an Error Term

Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	F Value $Pr > F$	
Location	1	0.26888889	0.26888889	2.43 0.2592	
Depth	2	0.36111111 16:45	0.18055556 5 Wednesday, N	1.63 0.3798 ovember 13, 2019	4

## The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: Phos1 Phos1

1

1

~	DE	Sum of		<b>F F F F</b>	<b>D D</b>
Source	DF	Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	5	13548.78611	2709.75722	2.79	0.0675
Error	12	11655.40333	971.28361		
Corrected Total	1	25204.189	944		

R-Square	Coeff Var	Root MSE	Phos1 Mean
0.537561	36.83614	31.16542	84.60556

Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Soil	2	1252.817778	626.408889	0.64 0	.5420
Location	1	6479.013889	6479.013889	6.67	0.0240
Depth	2	5816.954444	2908.477222	2.99	0.0881

Tests of Hypotheses Using the Type III MS for Soil as an Error Term							
Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F		
Location	$\frac{1}{2}$	6479.013889	6479.013889	10.34	0.0846		
Deptil	Ζ	16:45	Wednesday, No	ovember 1	3, 2019	5	

The GLM Procedure

# Dependent Variable: Phos2 Phos2

		Sur	n of				
Source	Γ	<b>)</b> F	Squares	Mean So	quare	F Value	Pr > F
Model	:	5 15	284.99111	3056.9	99822	3.08	0.0511
Error	12	119	900.04000	991.6	7000		
Corrected	l Total	17	27185.03	111			
	R-Square	Coef	f Var R	oot MSE	Phos2	2 Mean	
	0.562258	36.84	4091 31	.49079	85.47	778	
Source	Γ	DF T	ype III SS	Mean S	Square	F Value	e Pr > F
Soil Location Depth	2	1155 1 88 2 520	5.367778 862.242222 57.381111	577.683 2 8862.2 2633.6	889 242222 90556	0.58 0 8.94 2.66	0.5735 0.0113 0.1109

Tests of Hypotheses Using the Type III MS for Soil as an Error Term

Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F	
Location Depth	1 2	8862.242222 5267.381111	8862.242222 2633.690556	15.34 4.56	0.0594	C
		10:45	wednesday, No	ovember 1	15, 2019	0

## The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: Phr1 Phr1

1

		Sum of			
Source	DF	Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	5	1029.518889	205.903778	1.30	0.3270
Error	12	1900.952222	158.412685		
Corrected Total	1′	7 2930.4711	.11		

R-Square Coeff Var Root MSE Phr1 Mean

#### 0.351315 39.98443 12.58621 31.47778

Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Soil Location	2 1	308.6144444 1.6200000	154.3072222 1.6200000	0.97 0 0.01 0	).4055 ).9211
Depth	2	719.2844444	359.6422222	2.27	0.1458

Tests of Hypotheses Using the Type III MS for Soil as an Error Term

Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	F Value $Pr > F$	
Location	$\frac{1}{2}$	1.6200000	1.6200000	0.01 0.9277	
Deptil	Z	19.2844444	5 Wednesday, N	ovember 13, 2019	7

#### The GLM Procedure

Dependent Variable: Phr2 Phr2

1

Source	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	5	1045.060556	209.012111	1.30	0.3252
Error	12	1922.168889	160.180741		
Corrected Total	17	7 2967.2294	44		

R-Square	Coeff Var	Root MSE	Phr2 Mean
0.352201	41.50347	12.65625	30.49444

Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Soil	2 3	65.0811111	182.5405556	1.14 0	.3523
Location	1	4.2050000	4.2050000	0.03 0	.8740
Depth	2	675.7744444	337.8872222	2.11	0.1640

Tests of Hypotheses Using the Type III MS for Soil as an Error TermSourceDFType III SSMean SquareF ValuePr > FLocation14.20500004.20500000.020.8933

Depth	2	675.7744444	337.8872222	1.85	0.3508	
		16:45	Wednesday, Nov	vember	13, 2019	8

The GLM Procedure

1

1

t Tests (LSD) for pH1

- NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.
  - Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square0.026111Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference0.166

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Location A 6.33333 9 2 B 6.01111 9 1 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 9

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for pH2

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square0.024444Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference0.1606

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Location

A 6.17778 9 2

#### B 5.93333 9 1 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 10

The GLM Procedure

1

1

t Tests (LSD) for Phos1

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square971.2836Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference32.01

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Location A 103.58 9 1 B 65.63 9 2 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 11

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for Phos2

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square991.67Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference32.344

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Location

А	107.67	9	1

B 63.29 9 2

1

1

16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 12

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for Phr1

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square158.4127Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference12.927

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Location A 31.778 9 2 A A 31.178 9 1 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 13

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for Phr2

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square160.1807Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference12.999

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Location

А	30.978	9	2	
Α				
А	30.011	9	1	
		1	6:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019	14

The GLM Procedure

#### t Tests (LSD) for pH1

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square0.026111Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference0.2033

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Soil A 6.30000 6 3 A A 6.26667 6 1 B 5.95000 6 2 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 15

1

1

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for pH2

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square0.024444Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference0.1967

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Soil Α 6.15000 6 1 А А 6.11667 6 3 5.90000 6 2 В 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 16

The GLM Procedure

1

1

t Tests (LSD) for Phos1

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square971.2836Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference39.204

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Soil 96.18 А 6 1 А 80.78 6 3 А А 76.85 2 А 6 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 17

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for Phos2

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square991.67

Critical Value of t 2.17881 Least Significant Difference 39.613

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping	Mea	an	Ν	Soil	
А	96.75	6	1		
А					
А	80.83	6	3		
А					
А	78.85	6	2		
		1	6:45	Wednesday, November 13, 2019	18

1

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for Phr1

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha	0.05	
Error Degrees of Fre	edom	12
Error Mean Square	15	8.4127
Critical Value of t	2.17	881
Least Significant Dif	fference	15.833

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Soil A 35.267 6 3 A A 33.450 6 2 A A 25.717 6 1 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 19

1

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for Phr2

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha	0.05	
Error Degrees of Fre	eedom	12
Error Mean Square	16	0.1807
Critical Value of t	2.17	881
Least Significant Di	fference	15.921

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping	Mean	n	Ν	Soil	
A	34.483	6	3		
A A	32.800	6	2		
A A	24.200	6	1		
		1	6:45	Wednesday, November 13, 2019	20

1

## The GLM Procedure

# t Tests (LSD) for pH1

- NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.
  - Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square0.026111Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference0.2033

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping	Mean		Ν	Depth	
А	6.36667	6	1		
B B	6.10000	6	3		
B	6.05000	6 1	2 6:45	Wednesday, November 13, 2019	21

1

The GLM Procedure

#### t Tests (LSD) for pH2

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

> 0.05 Alpha Error Degrees of Freedom 12 Error Mean Square 0.024444 Critical Value of t 2.17881 Least Significant Difference 0.1967

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Depth А 6.25000 6 1 В 6.00000 6 3 В В 5.91667 6 2 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 22

1

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for Phos1

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

> 0.05 Alpha Error Degrees of Freedom 12 Error Mean Square 971.2836 Critical Value of t 2.17881 Least Significant Difference 39.204

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Depth А 108.57 6 1 А 79.98 B A 6 3 138

B B 65.27 6 2

1

1

16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 23

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for Phos2

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square991.67Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference39.613

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping Mean N Depth А 108.38 6 1 Α В Α 80.77 6 3 В В 67.28 6 2 16:45 Wednesday, November 13, 2019 24

The GLM Procedure

t Tests (LSD) for Phr1

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square158.4127Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference15.833

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping	Mea	n	Ν	Depth
A	40.267	6	1	
A	28.500	6	2	
A A	25.667	6	3	
		1	6:45	Wednesday, November 13, 2019 25

The GLM Procedure

1

t Tests (LSD) for Phr2

NOTE: This test controls the Type I comparisonwise error rate, not the experimentwise error rate.

Alpha0.05Error Degrees of Freedom12Error Mean Square160.1807Critical Value of t2.17881Least Significant Difference15.921

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.

t Grouping	Mea	n	Ν	Depth	
A	38.967	6	1		
A A	27.833	6	2		
A A	24.683	6	3		